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SIGNIFICANT EVENTS OF THE YEAR
ZNG SN El) =

Provision of property management agency
services to On Tai Estate Ancillary Facilities
Block.

REFVRBEEABREDEEERIE
ARAS o

G

Provision of property management services
to Cheung On Estate, the second largest
public housing estate in Tsing VYi.

RERBE-RRAKER — RLBRHEYE
IR

P

Awarded of an alterations and additions works Awarded a contract of the bus cleaning
contract at Tai Nan Street, Kowloon. services at The Kowloon Motor Bus Co.

B — A EAEEINERRETRAL l(ifafii)nsud. termini, covering over 130

EENAEERL (A=) BRARAUE
ITRBRERIEEH  RMEMNHEERE130(E
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SIGNIFICANT EVENTS OF THE YEAR
AFERZERR

Awarded the landscape works
at commercial shopping center
in Causeway Bay.

AEIRBEBHEBYTOR
XTI -

Awarded the cladding replacement works at a
hotel in Tsim Sha Tsui.

EENERSE-HEENBEEERTRE -

Won the 2021 Repair and Maintenance Contractor Recognition Award
in Occupational Health and Safety as well as 5 Outstanding Personnel
Awards from Link Property Management Services Limited.

KEFRMEEERRARIRERBEAPERTRELSES
BRI ABE

Awarded the interior fitting-out works for a proposed
composite building at Yin Chong Street, Kowloon.

EENBEERE —REEGEAEZERRHTIE -

Awarded the interior
fitting-out works for
the proposed wholesale
conversion of an
industrial building,
Aberdeen.

EBEMREBTHN
TEREELRE
FILEE o

Awarded the fitting-out works for a temple in Wan Chai.
REET — BT EMTRE -

Provision of security
guarding services for
the Hong Kong
Wetland Park.
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SIGNIFICANT EVENTS OF THE YEAR
AEFERZEER

Awarded the enhancement works to an Awarded of a property management services
international school in Shatin. contract of Tivoli Garden in Tsing Yi.
EEDH-RBERSRELTIIE - EEFSREABEERNYEETEREEL

Awarded of a property
management services
contract of Mei Ying
Court in Tai Wai.

EEREXBBNY
EEBERBALH -

Awarded a residential development
project at Peak Road.

AE-RITREREEHRA TR

Provision of property management services to Kwai
Shun Industrial Centre in Kwai Chung.

AR ERNZIETERP ORI EREER -

YL D B e S 1T 17T 56 I 973 25 T I S TR 455 L0

Won the highest honour of gold award in
the New Territories North Region Best
Security Service Awards, among the 175
security, property and training awards from
various regions.
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SIGNIFICANT EVENTS OF THE YEAR
AFERZERR

Awarded a superstructure work for
proposed redevelopment at Bisney Road,

Pofulam.
EE-IEERMNEZ EREEEEN LS
THE -

Won three awards including 2021 Proactive
Safety Contractor Award for the Year 2020,
HKCA Safety Supervisor Award for the
Year 2020, HKCA Safety Person-in-Charge
Award from Hong Kong Construction
Association.

2021 FHRERBBEREM S HEIE2020F
EAENEELEE 20200FEELrBEE S
HM2020F E L2 B EAEE = [F528 -

oM oE B oW oa

Hong K-ll. Construction Assaciation
HKCA Constructio
Presentation Ceremog

Won the 22nd Construction Safety Award — Won Zero Accident Ambassador Award
Outstanding Bamboo Scaffolder in OSH (Merit 2021 for 2 projects.
Award) from Occupational Safety & Health Council. w0001 A O ETE B Ml BB AE S| o

KEAREZ2RFERBZEFNERZERXRLEX
R-BZRESTHT(BRR) -

SUBSEQUENT SIGNIFICANT EVENTS AFTER 2021
2021 FRREEE

ina RESBURes Property Cou Ltd & ISP Holdings Ltd Completlon of disposal gf the.property and

Synergis Project Completion Ceremony facility management business in Hong Kong
0™ January, and ancillary business to China Resources
Property Management Limited.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
ERwE

e

Quillll‘-.ﬂi i ﬂ{‘?

~‘Mr.Kingston Chu :nTu Ho.

Dear Shareholders, BB

On behalf of the Board of Directors (the “Board”) of ISP Holdings A ARKXFAHBIZRAR AT (AIEIFELERE
Limited (formerly known as Synergis Holdings Limited) (the PR2ATF) ((AAFANEES([ESH<])RA
“Company”), | am pleased to present to you the annual performance @ B TFE2WRAATIRENB AT (£E A
of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively, the ‘Group”) forthe &£ @ |)E E2021FE 12831 B I EE([H%E
year ended 31 December 2021 (the “Reporting Year”). FE|HFERRA -

During the Reporting Year, the Company entered into an agreement RIBEEE - ARAREUHBHETEWER
for disposal of the property and facility management business in R EEBEBE (BB ERBESEER L
Hong Kong (“PFM HK Business’) and ancillary business (“Ancillary  $BI 274 ((EHBI 2% ) (B AT HEEH])
Business”) (collectively, the “Disposal Group”) to China Resources FTEEWMEESE AR A7) KB AB K
Property Management Limited at a consideration of HK$539.0 539,000,000 7T  HE&EEIFEE N 202241 A
million. The disposal was subsequently completed on 10 January 10 B =A% - MANE B 2022 B EEHEDR
2022 and a disposal gain of approximately HK$438.4 million is to be & Y #5476 # 438,400,000 7C ° HEFBEE
recognised by the Group in the 2022 financial year. The disposal was BR#% @ Al ZAEEEH L EEBANEEE
a valuable opportunity for the Group to realise the intrinsic value of I HE Z FrE R IBER T E R 8GR E K
the Disposal Group and a special dividend of HKO.59 per share, 0.597C @ & F£ 48 297,900,000 7T T & E o
totaling approximately HK$297.9 million, had been paid to TEREEEIER  AEEBEFEEZNELH
shareholders out of the proceeds from the disposal. Following the MK EBEBEK((ZERNEMNIEKRER %2
disposal, the Group will concentrate on developing the interiors and %)

special projects business (‘ISP Business”).

[SPAHOLDINGS LIMITED ®m 2021 ANNUAL REPORT




The Hong Kong economic environment has been battered by the
uncertainties arising from the novel coronavirus (“COVID-19")
outbreak since early 2020. Business activities regained momentum
during the second half of the year when the COVID-19 gradually
came under control and the Group recorded consolidated revenue of
approximately HK$430.7 million for the Reporting Year from its
continuing operations, representing a 11.7% increase from the
figures of last year on a restated basis which set aside contributions
from the Disposal Group. During the Reporting Year, the Group
recorded a downward adjustment of the revenue for work done on a
completed project, which amounted to approximately HK$17.7
million, and which has been billed but not settled. Despite the fact
that the Group is preparing for legal action to recoup the unpaid sum
in relation to the aforesaid project, the downward adjustment on
revenue of approximately HK$17.7 million was made, according to
prudent applications of relevant accounting standards. Despite this
one-off adjustment, the Group still recorded a gross profit for the
Reporting Year, as compared to a gross loss (on a restated basis) for
the previous year which was caused by an impairment loss of over
HK$90.0 million, due to certain ISP Business projects. Other than the
aforesaid revenue adjustment, the Group has largely overcome
further negative impacts from unfavourable projects and has focused
on strengthening its ISP Business during the Reporting Year.

Disposal of the PFM HK Business and Ancillary Business has not only
provided the opportunity to realise its intrinsic value and return to
the Company’s shareholders, it has also strengthened the Group’s
financial position and cash reserves to better prepare for the
uncertainties brought on by a prolonged COVID-19 period, and
particularly during the current environment where consumer and
business confidence has been greatly affected by the COVID-19
Omicron variant outbreak.

CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
TRE®E

B 20205 %) iR EARES ((FEMmAL]) &
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
ESESES

In the short to medium term, we plan to focus on exploring
opportunities in a diversified portfolio, including projects in sectors
including education, luxury residential, banks, offices, and religious
groups, which are relatively more resilient to economic downturns. A
notable major future prospect, the Northern Metropolis Development
Strategy as promulgated in the Chief Executive Policy Address,
should give rise to an increase in demand for building construction
and fitting out works, and the Group will strive to capture the
opportunities for continuous business growth. Leveraging its solid
foundation and committed management team, the Group has full
confidence in overcoming future challenges and tapping the vast
growth potentials ahead.

Aligning our values of customer-focus, integrity, teamwork,
innovation and the pursuit of excellence, together with responsible
business and sustainability, is our core long term strategy. We are
committed to proactively making improvements under the
implementation of Total Quality Management, through the
comprehensive and innovative solutions in our provisions of quality
of services, with the aim to enhance customer satisfaction. The
Group is cautiously optimistic about the outlook of our core business
amidst continuing challenge and uncertainties in 2022.

On behalf of the Board, | would like to express my most sincere
gratitude to our Directors and dedicated staff members for their
unwavering commitment and passion towards our business during
these difficult times, driving the Group towards sustainable
development. | would also like to sincerely thank all our valued
service providers, business partners as well as our shareholders for
their continuous support. Going forward, we will continue to
overcome industry challenges and create value for stakeholders by
leveraging our professional management team, and providing
comprehensive one stop solutions for our customers.

Kingston Chu Chun Ho
Chairman

Hong Kong, 29 March 2022
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GROUP STRUCTURE
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

F BIE B R0 R DA -
FINANCIAL OVERVIEW BEHE

2020

HKS$’ million (Restated)
(&E7)

Continuing Operations FEREER

Revenue Wz 430.7 385.6 45.1 T11.7%
Gross profit/(loss) £, (E18) 17.5 (34.5) 52.0 1150.7%
Gross profit/(loss) margin -~ EF|,/(F18) X 4.1% -8.9% - T13.0%
Operating expenses LR (TEIEFE)

(excluding interest) (30.7) (46.6) 15.9 134.1%
Interest expenses BB (2.9) (10.3) 7.4 171.8%
Other income and E MU AT 5

gain or loss 8.3 8.8 (0.5) 15.7%
Settlement of an ERREBAR

insurance claim - (10.2) 10.2 1100.0%
Direct cost in relation BREANEMNEERAKN

to the disposal (6.3) - (6.3) -
Taxation FiE (1.3) (6.5) 5.2 180.0%
Loss after taxation BB EE (15.4) (99.3) 83.9 184.5%
LBITDA BREMD TER

BiHATEE (4.8) (76.5) 71.7 193.7%
Basic losses per share TR EAEE (B AL)

(HK cents) (3.6) (23.4) 19.8 184.6%
Discontinued Operations B &1 ¥
Profit after taxation i 1& 5 A 35.0 113.5 (78.5) 169.2%
EBITDA BRED  TER

BHAT &R 48.9 130.7 (81.8) 162.6%

Continuing Operations & FHEEEEER

Discontinued Operations B &1k 7§
Profit attributable to 1% B8 A Vi )

shareholders 19.6 14.2 5.4 138.0%
Basic earnings per share FRRERET] GBEAL)

(HK cents) 4.6 3.3 1.3 139.4%




MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Continuing Operations

The continuing operations of the Group comprised the interior and
special projects business (“ISP Business”) and the property
management and facility management business in China (“PFM China
Business”) which together reported revenue of approximately
HK$430.7 million for the year ended 31 December 2021 (the
“Reporting Year”), representing an increase of 11.7% over that of last
year (2020: HK$385.6 million). The gross profit was approximately
HK$17.5 million for the Reporting Year, which is a turnaround from
the substantial gross loss of approximately HK$34.5 million reported
last year caused by provisions for losses recognised last year on
certain ISP Business projects.

The Group recorded a loss after tax from the continuing operations
of approximately HK$15.4 million for the Reporting Year as
compared to a loss after tax of approximately HK$99.3 million for
last year. Aside from the turnaround in gross profit, the improvement
in results from continuing operations is attributable to (i) costs of
approximately HK$10.2 million relating to employees’ compensation
insurance claim recorded last year had not recurred in the Reporting
Year; (i) certain corporate overheads were absorbed in the results
from the discontinued operations in the Reporting Year; (iii) decrease
in finance cost by approximately HK$7.4 million in the Reporting
Year as the operating activities generated substantial net cash to
lessen the Group’s reliance on external financing; (iv) partly offset by
professional fees of approximately HK$6.3 million incurred in relation
to disposal of the property management and facility management
business in Hong Kong (“PFM HK Business”) and ancillary business
(“Ancillary Business”) (collectively, the “Disposal Group”) in the
Reporting Year. Loss per share for the continuing operations of the
Group was 3.6 HK cents (2020: loss per share was 23.4 HK cents).

BEEN WA

FEREEL

AEENBECEEBBIEENEMRFRE
BEB(EREMAERERES]) RFEY
ERXEEEF(PRMERBEEEZE
%) AHREE2021F12A831BIEEE
([#REFE D) 82135 W & 4978 # 430,700,000
TG B & F (20204 ¢ 7 # 385,600,000 7T )
BI11T7% RBREFE EMH BB
17,5000007C - BAFHEHEBAR  XFHEE
ANEIB LB 34,500,0007C  ThE R EFE 7
ENEMNERIER ¥555 THE R E R
=

RBEFE  ARESRBSREFESEELD
I %5114 B 18 4 78 15 15,400,000 7T + M 2 4F 8l
BRSBRT 12 B 1B 40 B # 99,300,000 ° Br T
HMEER  FELEEFNEERLSTIHR)
HEFEIEFRINEREFIEBRKEE(E S
REF 15 B AL R 4975 5 10,200,000 7T ¢ (i) A 2R
EHEE  BETTRERCRORIEBNES
A ()RS FE RIS ARR D LB
74000007t BAEREXEBELE 2 ERRR
CFEREAEBE DR ENMKE (V)
PEREFEHETEMERRMBERER
([BBMERIMEIRER]) REBERS ([8
BER]D (48 [ HEeEEE ) ELENEEER
H)P5% 6,300,000 7T M4 K 88 © NEE R EL
BEBHTREEBABE3I(2020F : &
A% E518 A 23.411) -
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BIEEN WA DM

Discontinued Operations

Discontinued operations of the Group comprised the PEM HK
Business and the Ancillary Business, which were disposed to a third
party on 10 January 2022. The PFM HK Business and the Ancillary
Business remained relatively stable in the Reporting Year. The profit
after tax dropped to approximately HK$35.0 million for the Reporting
Year as compared to approximately HK$113.5 million for 2020,
which included government anti-epidemic subsidies of approximately
HK$81.3 million, while only small amount of government subsidies
was taken up in the Reporting Year.

Continuing Operations and Discontinued Operations

Including both the continuing operations and discontinued
operations, profit attributable to shareholders for the Company was
approximately HK$19.6 million (2020: profit attributable to
shareholders was HK$14.2 million). Earnings per share of the Group
for the Reporting Year were 4.6 HK cents (2020: earnings per share
were 3.3 HK cents).

[SPAHOLDINGS LIMITED ®m 2021 ANNUAL REPORT
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BB RS

BUSINESS REVIEW AND PROSPECTS (¥KOERAIS
Business Overview EBWE

RMEFE - AEBMOER A E AR R
HE ¥ RPEYERREEREFBRIFE
KR JURON2022F1A10BHE T
Fo BB ERREEIRER RBER
WS FENMERED B AR IEERA
4ARK ©

During the Reporting Year, the Group’s business comprised the ISP
Business and the PFM China Business, which together constituted
the continuing operations, and the PFM HK Business and the
Ancillary Business, which were disposed to a third party on 10
January 2022 and is therefore classified as discontinued operations
in the financial statements for the Reporting Year.

AEBNFEEEER

HERIEEFET A AR HE R A E BT A

Continuing Operations of the Group

Continuing Operations of the Group Before Intercompany Elimination
with Discontinued Operations

ISP Business PFM China Business
EREMRISHRIEBEEK FENERREEEER
Change Change
HK$' million 2020 28 2021 2020 28
(Restated) Amount (Restated) Amount
(/&%) il (F=E5l) ol

Revenue e 418.9 374.8 441 111.8% 117 10.8 0.9 18.3%
Gross profit/(loss) EH/(£8) 8.9 (44.3) 532 11201% 8.6 98 12 112.2%
Operating expenses BEEY (12.8) (29.5) 167 156.6% (8.7) (9.0 03 133%
Interest expenses FERY (2.7) 9.8) 7.1 172.4% - - - -
Operating (loss)/profit T (FR) w7 (6.6) (83.6) 770 1921% (0.1) 0.8 0.9) |112.5%
Settlement of an BRRBRER

insurance claim - (10.2) 102 |100.0% - - - -
Operating (loss)/profit MR REERAN

after settlement of T (FR) %7

an insurance claim (6.6) (93.8) 87.2 193.0% (0.1) 0.8 (09) J112.5%
Government subsidies (Note) — BUfF#E8E (FifzE) - 47 @7)  1100.0% = = S =
Others Hity 31 0.7) 38 1542.9% (0.2) 0.3) 0.1 $,33.3%
Taxation BiE (13) (6.5) 52 |80.0% - - - -
Net (loss)/profit (418) /47 (4.8) (96.3) 915  195.0% (0.3) 0.5 (0.8) 1160.0%

Note: Government subsidies — Employment Support Scheme launched by the

Government of HKSAR last year.

MR B — RFEEERITRERTHE L MRIE
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BIEEN WA DM

ISP Business

Before the sudden outbreak of Omicron variant of the novel
coronavirus (“COVID-19") near the end of Reporting Year, the
business activities started to regain its momentum in the second half
of the Reporting Year with effective measures against the COVID-19.
Our ISP Business took the opportunity to complete the existing
projects and tendered for new projects to replenish our workload.
With the past good performance in the industry, ISP Business was
awarded two significant contracts in the second half of the Reporting
Year.

The ISP Business, which has been in operation since 2006, had
completed over 244 projects with a total contract sum of over
HK$9.0 billion up to 31 December 2021 covering a large variety of
services, including interior design, fitting-out, renovation and
conservation, addition and alteration works (“A&A works”),
construction, maintenance, and buildability and feasibility studies for
building related projects, to its local customers.

2021 was a challenging year for ISP Business as market showed only
slight recovery from weakened economy caused COVID-19 outbreak
since 2020 and competition in the industry remained stiff. The Group
focused working on projects workload carried down from previous
year and completed several significant projects in the Reporting Year.
The total revenue of ISP Business recorded an increase of 11.8%
which was approximately HK$418.9 million (2020: HK$374.8 million)
in the Reporting Year despite of taking into account a downward
adjustment of HK$17.7 million in revenue for work done on a
completed project which has been billed but not been paid. Albeit
the Group is preparing for legal action to recoup the unpaid sum in
relation to the aforesaid project, a downward revenue adjustment
was made for the Reporting Year according to prudent application of
relevant accounting standards. Also, several projects were deferred
due to late handover of the sites and the revenue was recognised
less than forecasted in the Reporting Year.

[SPAHOLDINGS LIMITED ®m 2021 ANNUAL REPORT

ERRMKRIGHIEE XK

BEFEERAREFLE MBS ([FE M
# 1) Omicron BT&F - K155 B A FE 37 b K
BRERRBEFE T FREERD ) - E
MESH M ASRIA R XBICER S THIRAIRA
NGB IAR U T8 - HEZBENRY
TERE - ERRMHIFHRAREBENREF
ETH+FREMNDERGH -

ENE AT NRAFIRIE B #7 B 2006 F BEE R
HE2021F 12 A1 BE #2244 HER
BAMDEBBBEIET  ARMEPIE
HEZERG  BEEART - #E - B LE
EMERMEIR(MERMETR]) &
£ EEREFREEE NRETITHERRE -

2021 F 2 ENEM RFFIRIA B £ CFER #
HW—F  MISEK2020FRIEEFTEMAE
AR A E M P R A TR R -
REEEFREAEABEFEMNIEE IES
ERBEFETKEZEERIEER - RIBEF
B BRERIHAMNC K IE(CHEHRE
BE RS ER) B s T #8738 ¥ 17,700,000 7T
EREMRIERIA R EBEG AW N
11.8% & #9 78 # 418,900,000 7T (2020 4F :
# 374,800,0007T) » AN&E B IEEEHEET
By AR FiliTE B MRS RIR - ke AT
RIEZIEEAMRESFERIED - o BH
&8 B A 8 S e M Hf - A FERIE R
wEFERTEE -



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

ISP Business saw a gross profit of approximately HK$8.9 million,
which is a turnaround from gross loss of approximately HK$44.3
million for 2020. The turnaround is mainly due to the impairment loss
of over HK$90.0 million recognised on certain ISP Business projects
last year. Other than the aforesaid revenue adjustment, the Group
has largely overcome further negative impacts from unfavourable
projects and has focused on strengthening its ISP Business during the
Reporting Year. The significant contribution from projects completed
in the Reporting Year mainly came from 4 key projects including
annex works and enhancement works for two international schools in
Homantin and Shatin respectively, a temple remodeling in Kowloon
Tong and the A&A works for a commercial center in Causeway Bay.

The operating loss before settlement of an insurance claim against
QBE Hongkong and Shanghai Insurance Limited of ISP Business for
the Reporting Year was approximately HK$6.6 million, which was
92.1% decrease from the substantial operating loss of approximately
HK$83.6 million in 2020.

With the hard works of our management team amid the uncertainty
of external economic environment, we have been awarded several
new major contracts with a total contract sum of approximately
HK$378.0 million during the Reporting Year, which was 3 times over
last year (2020: HK$120 million), to replenish the workload for the
coming two years. New major contracts awarded included fitting-out
works at Wong Chuk Hang Road, Yin Chong Street and a temple in
Wanchai, main contract works for redevelopment in Peak Road and
superstructure in Bisney Road. Including these contracts, the total
outstanding workload for contracts on hand as of 31 December
2021 was approximately HK$329.0 million, a majority of which is
expected to be recognised in 2022. As at the report date, ISP
Business had tendered for 9 projects and pended for the result,
including new build, rehabilitation, A&A works and fitting-out works,
with the total contract sum over HK$1.2 billion. These new projects
would bring in substantial income to the Group in the next few years
if awarded.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BIEEN WA DM

In early 2022, the outbreak of Omicron dealt a severe punch to Hong
Kong economy. The tightening of social distancing measures, travel
restriction and isolation measures further reduced economic activities
and even lead to halt the local operation, in particular retail and
restaurant. Business operators and property owners took a more
prudent business approach and deferred or even abandoned fitting-
out, A&A works or new construction project. During this tough
period, we shall focus more on the emerging opportunity from clients
of education sector, luxury residential sector, bank and offices,
religious groups which are relatively less susceptible to economic
downturn.

The Group expects that government policies and social trends would
provide our ISP Business with potential business opportunities in two
prospectives.

The demand for fitting-out works would be driven by the following
factors:

. continuous supply of residential units supported by restriction
policies such as the Land Sharing Pilot Scheme;

. improving living standards of Hong Kong residents with higher
willingness to pay for premium services and high quality living
environment;

. the increasing demand for relocation of offices to other new
emerging commercial districts like Kowloon East, Quarry Bay,
Tai Koo and Kwun Tong;

. increasing number of ageing buildings in Hong Kong, which
require external wall renovation works;

. the sale and development of commercial or residential buildings
under the 2022/23 Land Sale Program; and

. outbreak of COVID-19 leading to a number of upgrade and
enhancement projects from hotels.

[SPAHOLDINGS LIMITED ®m 2021 ANNUAL REPORT

R 2022F %] * Omicron B E R EITB BB K
B o AL BB REE AE - ARIDEMR ) K P B A HE U R
E—PROLETE  EESAMERFE -
MEEERRBBALE - EHEEBEME
BAEARDEFENEEFEMNTEEE ZHE
£iE WERMNETIIZNIERLRIEE - FEILER
ERS RS EINIETAR D TR ER
BREYEZNAREBERN =S - BITERPER
E - RHYBERBEF KBS -

AEBBEHBARR L EBBRHERMAZER
S NS IRIE B RIS IA T /0 EEE RIS
;E o

KETRENFTRBPATEERS

o HE[IMHAFEREHI | FRHIBER
T EEBAHERE

s FBEERRMEEKFRET EMEEX

NEERSESEEERR

. HATMEBIEMHBHZIEATER
TEEM - MAER - BEE - ABR
B

- BATRIMEREIRENERHETH
B

. 2022-2023 FEEMEEI TR ESEE
BEYMEERER &

o HTTEMRIRIEEHZ EE S 6T R CE
HAE e



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The demand for repair, maintenance, alteration and addition works
would be driven by the following factors:

. rising awareness of the needs for regular inspection and
maintenance of public facilities, in particular after the damage
of public facilities during the social unrest in 2019;

. promotion of building safety, health and environmental
standards for private buildings;

. improvement of the quality of building developments according
to the 2022/23 Hong Kong Budget, and

. increase in new town development projects coupled with the
corresponding increase in number of public facilities in these
new development regions, including playgrounds, hospitals,
sports centres, schools, and other recreational facilities.

Given the overall construction industry in Hong Kong is anticipated
to grow over the next few years, the Directors are confident that
there will be considerable business opportunities and growth impetus
in the market to justify the Group’s expansion plan on ISP Business
to gain further market share and position.

PFM China Business

The performance of PFM China Business remained stable with 5 new
contracts awarded with the sum of approximately HK$5.6 million in
Shanghai, Ningbo and Qingdao. However, this segment suffered an
operating loss of HK$0.1 million for the Reporting Year compared to
a profit of HK$0.8 million last year, mainly due to the provision of
compensation for termination employment contracts arisen from the
disposal.

Stepping into 2022, in view of keen competition in PFM China
Business and the disposal of the PFM HK Business, the Group will
adopt prudent approach to maintain the existing structure while
simultaneously explore new or alternative business development
opportunities to enhance income streams of PFM China Business.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

I [E 5 3H % T S

Discontinued Operations of the Group REBHNS KR IEEFR
PFM HK Business Ancillary Business
BEANERZEEREL [ EVES S
Change Change

HK$’ million 2020 28 2020 25

(Restated) Amount (Restated) Amount

(i) i) (F=E7) x

Revenue W25 614.9 626.2 (11.3) 11.8% 160.5 120.2 40.3 133.5%
Gross profit E7 67.1 67.0 01 170.1% 27.7 22.3 54 124.2%
Operating expenses BERN (44.7) (38.5) 62 1161% (9.9) (12.1) 22 1182%
Operating profit R R 224 28.5 6.1) |21.4% 178 10.2 7.6 174.5%
Government subsidies (Note) — BufF ik (HizE) 17 713 69.6)  197.6% - 100 (100)  1100.0%
Others Hit (1.1) 0.7 (1.8) 1257.1% - 0.3) 0.3 ]100.0%
Taxation HIE (3.3) 4.9) 1.6 $32.7% (2.4) (2.0) 04)  120.0%
Net profit iR 19.7 95.6 (759) 179.4% 154 17.9 (25)  |14.0%

Note: Government subsidies — Employment Support Scheme launched by the MizE © BTHRL — EERBERIITHE BTHE N Rat %

Government of HKSAR last year. The discontinued operations recorded A o BRIFEBRBEERNRS LB 1,700,000
approximately HK$1.7 million for the Reporting Year (2020: HK$81.3 million). 70 (2020 4 : $## 81,300,000 7T) ©
PFM HK Business EBYMERRBERER

During the Reporting Year, PFM HK Business remained steady in  $REF[E - EEYE R LS IR LWL
both revenue and gross profits, and continued to maintain its solid — FEF|4isFIE - WE B RISEBE N TISHAL
market position. The Group managed 363 projects with over 93000 HKREB N EE T IEI63MMIBE R H LB B
units of residential, commercial and industrial facilities in Hong Kong 93 000{E{X 28T - A% R T 2L - Wk
and maintained a diverse portfolio for a wide spectrum of clients ZEMEBIEEMNZ T/LES @ BIEBRLT - %
including government, corporate clients, public institutions and %/ .« AHEELIAZE - REGERES
private clients. The scope of service included but not limited to  $F{ETREABATIEFT « ABE AL -« &L
government departments, large-scale public facilities, transportation — Z# « #IBEEuL - A ME - B - TEY
systems, airport cargo terminals, education institutions, hospitals, % .71 - AHER AEEREHIBE
commercial and industrial properties, shopping malls, public housing

estates, private housing and car parks, etc.




MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Leveraging our rich management experience, exceptional talents and
leading-edge innovative technology, we are capable of providing the
most appropriate “one-stop-shop” solutions to our clients and earning
their trust. During the Reporting Year, we were awarded 13 new key
contracts ranging from 1-year to 3-year project period with a total
contract sum of over HK$45.0 million which include:

. a 1-year contract for the provision of property management
services for a public residential estate with over 7,000 units in
Tsing Yi;

. a 3-year contract for the provision of property management
services for a private residential estate with over 1,000 units in
Tsing Yi;

. a 3-year contract for the provision of security guarding services
for a leisure and cultural facility in Tin Shui Wai (in addition to
this new contract, we have been providing services to its
ticketing office since 2009); and

. a 3-year contract of provision of property management services
for a residential estate in Tai Wai.

In spite of the economic uncertainty caused by the COVID-19
outbreak, our PFM HK Business service team managed to secure
new business opportunities and achieved the satisfactory results on
business development as shown above. Besides, the segment was
still able to achieve an outstanding contract renewal rate of
approximately 90%. Several significant contracts were successfully
renewed with satisfactory growth rate, which enables PFM HK
Business to generate steady revenue for the Group in the Reporting
Year, especially in (i) facility management of the education sectors; (ii)
provision of service for customer service center and backend
accountancy for a public transport company; and (iii) taxi services
management at Hong Kong International Airport.

With the relax of the dining out restriction in the commercial and
shopping districts and the social distancing measures in the second
half of the Reporting Year, the performance of the carpark business
has been greatly improved from loss of HK$1.7 million last year to
loss of HK$0.2 million for the Reporting Year.

All these elements helped increasing the gross profit of PFM HK
Business slightly by 0.1% to approximately HK$67.1 million despite
that revenue has decreased by 1.8% to approximately HK$614.9
million for the Reporting Year as compared with last year.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BIEEN WA DM

Ancillary Business

The Ancillary Business comprising integrated procurement, laundry,
cleaning, security, maintenance and technical support services had
long been in a supportive role to the PFM HK Business and offered
comprehensive value-added services to our clients. The Group’s
Ancillary Business saw significant improvement in revenue and gross
profit by 33.5% and 24.2% to approximately HK$160.5 million and
HK$27.7 million respectively as compared with last year.

The outstanding performance of Ancillary Business was mainly
contributed by our cleaning business, which has 13 significant
cleaning contracts with the contract sum over HK$130 million on
hand, including a 30-month contract for the provision of cleaning
services to a surface transport operator covering 130 locations and a
3-year cleaning contract with a postal and logistic service operator.

Having taken in account of significant contracts awarded these two
years and continuously effective cost control measures, our Ancillary
Business delivered great results in the Reporting Year.

Disposal of PFM HK Business and Ancillary Business

During the Reporting Year, the Company entered into an agreement
for disposal of the PFM HK Business and the Ancillary Business to
China Resources Property Management Limited at a consideration of
HK$539.0 million (“Consideration”). The disposal was completed on
10 January 2022 and a disposal gain of approximately HK$438.4
million has been recognised by the Group in the 2022 financial year.
For the disposal, the management had taken the below factors into
consideration:

(@) The fairness and reasonableness of the Consideration

Given that (i) the Group recorded a loss after tax for the year
ended 31 December 2020 (excluding the subsidies received
under the government’s anti-epidemic fund of approximately
HK$81.3 million); and (ii) the Consideration represents a
premium over the net assets value of the Disposal Group as at
30 June 2021, the Directors considered that the disposal
represents a valuable opportunity for the Group to realise the
intrinsic value of the Disposal Group.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The benefit of the disposal and future development of the ISP
Business

Despite that the ISP Business incurred operating losses for year
ended 31 December 2018 and 31 December 2020, such
financial results were attributable to a number of one-off or
isolated events and the Directors expect the ISP Business to
pick up momentum as COVID-19 gradually recedes. Further to
the disruption caused by the one-off social unrest and epidemic
incidents in 2019 and 2020, respectively, the operation of the
ISP Business has significantly improved after recovery of
economy and implementation of cost control measures in
2021. When compared to the corresponding period in 2020,
the ISP Business recorded increase in revenue and operating
result of approximately 24.2% and approximately 98.6% for six
months ended 30 June 2021, respectively.

Furthermore, according to the 2021 Hong Kong policy address,
a number of development projects planned or under planning
in the Northern Metropolis are estimated to provide about
350,000 residential units. An additional land parcel of
approximately 600 hectares could be developed within the
Northern Metropolis for residential and industry purposes, with
an estimated provision of about 165,000 to 186,000 residential
units. Upon the full development of the entire Northern
Metropolis, a total of 205,000 to 926,000 residential units,
including the existing 390,000 residential units in Yuen Long
District and North District, will be available to accommodate a
population of about 2.5 million. The Directors expect that the
above plan could also create substantial potential engagement
opportunities for the ISP Business in the long run.

In addition, part of the proceeds from the disposal is proposed
to be deployed towards further strengthening competitive
advantage of the continuing operations of the Group with extra
cash for the purchase of surety bonds and payment of upfront
cost, which will enable the continuing operations to tender for
larger and/or more projects which in turn can contribute to
increase in tender success rate and facilitate the expansion of
the ISP Business. It is expected that the continuing operations
of the Group will be able to capture more business
opportunities in the market when they arise, thereby benefiting
their profitability .
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BIEEN WA DM

(c)  The significant gain resultant from the disposal

As disclosed in the circular of the Company dated 1 December
2021 and the announcement of the Company dated 20
January 2022, a significant portion of the net proceeds arising
from the disposal of the PFM HK Business and the Ancillary
Business has been paid to the shareholders of the Company as
special dividend on 22 February 2022. The Directors
considered that the payment of the special dividend presented
an opportunity for the shareholders to recoup their investment
costs in the Company, and partially realise the value of their
shareholding and provide liquidity to the shareholders, whilst
continuing to retain their investment in the Company to enjoy
return from the further development of the continuing
operations of the Group. After taking into consideration of the
existing cash flow of the continuing operations of the Group, it
was considered that given the sufficient cash resources to pay
the special dividend upon completion of the disposal, such
payment of special dividend would not have any material
adverse effect on the financial position of the continuing
operations of the Group.

Following completion of the disposal, the Group will concentrate on
developing and expanding the ISP Business.

Outlook of the Group

Looking forward, despite of the outbreak of Omicron in early 2022,
we are still optimistic about Hong Kong economy which is expected
to see positive growth for 2022 as a whole following the disease
control implemented by the government, but the degree and speed
of recovery are subject to a host of uncertainties such as the
development of COVID-19. In the midst of economic uncertainties,
we would target the opportunity of the relatively steady local
residential property sector as well as education sector, luxury
residential sector, bank and offices, religious group and strive to
maintain a continuous business growth.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

On a Group-wide overview, we consider that the overall financial
performance of the Group remains stable with growth. Same as the
past, alongside improving financial performance, we must continue a
transparent, responsible and embracing approach to business so that
we can continue our journey to sustainable development. Aligning
our values of customer focus, integrity, teamwork, innovation and
pursuit of excellence, sustainability is our core business strategy. We
are committed to enhancing customer satisfaction through better
communication with clients and continual improvement to our
services. Besides, with the rapid change of business environment, we
will take appropriate measures to manage various operational and
financial risks. Leveraging its solid foundation and committed
management team, the Group has full confidence in overcoming all
the difficulties ahead of us.

Changes of Company Name and Company Logo

At the special general meeting held on 23 December 2021,
shareholders of the Company approved the change of English name
of the Company from “Synergis Holdings Limited” to “ISP Holdings
Limited” and the adoption of new secondary name of the Company,
being ‘BT B R AR]” to replace the previous Chinese Name “&
FBIERR AR A R]’, which was used for identification only . The stock
code of the Company on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the “Stock Exchange”) remains unchanged as “02340”. The Company
logo has been changed to reflect the change of company name with
effect from 10 January 2022. The changes of company name and
logo are part of the re-branding exercise in light of the disposal of
PFM HK Business and Ancillary Business. Details of the change of
the name were disclosed in the announcements of the Company
dated 29 November 2021, 23 December 2021 and 10 January 2022
and the circular of the Company dated 1 December 2021.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BIEEN WA DM

Financial Position and Financial Risk Management

As at 31 December 2021, there was no outstanding bank loan for
the Group as all bank loans were repaid in the Reporting Year, details
of which are disclosed in Note 23 to the financial statements in this
annual report. During the Reporting Year, the Group's sources of
fund were generated primarily from operating and financing activities
(including bank facilities).

Interest costs on bank borrowings were primarily charged based on a
spread over HIBOR. With regard to the current portfolio of
businesses, management expects that financial requirements for the
foreseeable future will be met from a combination of shareholders’
equity and banking facilities. The Group would continue to
proactively monitor the financial position and maintain sufficient
working capital and liquidity in the way that can enable us to capture
any good business opportunities and meet the challenges ahead.

The Company placed the 7% convertible bonds in an aggregate
principal amount of HK$42.0 million (the “Convertible Bonds”) on 18
November 2019 pursuant to the placing agreement dated 24
October 2019 by the placing agents to six placees, being individual
and corporate investors who are independent third parties and are
not connected with the Company as well as its connected persons,
whereby the Convertible Bonds may be convertible into a maximum
of 84.0 million conversion shares based on the initial conversion price
of HK$0.50 per conversion share upon exercise in full of the
conversion rights attaching to the Convertible Bonds. As at 31
December 2021 and up to the date of this annual report, the
Convertible Bonds were redeemed in full. Following the redemption,
there was no principal amount outstanding under the Convertible
Bonds and no Convertible Bonds have been or will be converted into
ordinary shares of the Company.
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Financial position (HK$’000)

Total assets

Receivables and other assets

Cash and cash equivalents and pledged
bank deposits/time deposits with
original maturities over three months

Assets classified as held for sale

Current assets

Payables and other liabilities

Bank loans

Convertible bonds

Liabilities classified as held for sale
Current liabilities

Non-current liabilities

Net assets

Net assets per share (HK cents)

Current ratio
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246,978

Re kReHENRSEMIRT
T/ REEEBB=EA

ZTEHER
DERTEHEZEE
RBEE

e R R B B E
RITER

AARR{E SR
DERREHEZAE
RBAEE

FRBEE

BEERE
BREEFEGEEW)

B R

82,661
188,017
517,656

268,413

87,457
355,870

1,116

164,977

327

1.5

628,198

385,974

215,837
601,811
373,527
64,000
38,912
476,439
6,277
145,482

28.8

1.3

The Group adopts a conservative approach in the management of its
financial risks and resources, under the supervision of the Directors.

The Group's business is conducted primarily in Hong Kong, and its

majority assets and liabilities are denomi

nated in Hong Kong Dollars.

Therefore, the Group has minimal foreign currency exposure. The
growth of the Group’s business in China has been funded via
permanent capital injection, which is for the long-term and as such,

foreign currency hedging is considered u

nnecessary.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BIEEN WA DM

There were no capital commitments or contingent liabilities as at 31
December 2021 and up to the date of this report, other than the
disposal of PFM HK Business and Ancillary Business as disclosed
above and a writ of summons received by ISP Construction
(Engineering) Limited, an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company, from the employer of the factory development at Yuen
Long, details of which are disclosed in the announcement of the
Company dated 18 January 2021.

Cash Management

The Group operates a centralised cash management system. Cash
balances surplus to meet immediate requirements are mainly placed
as short-term bank deposits with licensed banks in Hong Kong.

Human Resources

As at 31 December 2021, the Group employed a total of 4,810 staff
(2020: 4,879) in Hong Kong and China, of which 4,492 were
employed by the PFM HK Business and the Ancillary Business (2020:
4.561) and 318 staff by the ISP Business and the PFM China
Business (2020: 318).

The economy, business and the job market in Hong Kong staged a
slight recovery in the second half of 2021. Human resources are
continuously playing a major role in supporting the Group under new
normal environment. To advance workplace wellness programs to
achieve employees’ wellbeing and work-life balance, we have been
instrumental in maintaining business continuity and preparing the
Group for sustainable growth. Being more flexible, remote-friendly
and digital working norms, the changes in processes, workspaces,
collaboration systems, and employee wellness are more critical. In
order to sustain our quality services, it is always our long-term goal to
retain top talent for the Group. We put a lot of efforts in ensuring
our staff members are enjoying competitive remuneration and
benefits through market research for regular benchmarking review.
Our Human Resources team always strives their best to keep track of
changes in the latest market conditions for attracting more high
caliber candidates to join our winning team. In addition, aiming for
the mutual growth of the staff and the Group, we do our utmost to
invest and share resources with our staff. We do believe our staff will
reward the Company and customers through providing quality
services and thus gain more appreciation and recognition from the
customers.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING
YEAR

Disposal Transaction

Subsequent to the end of the Reporting Year, the disposal transaction
detailed in Note 13 to the financial statements in this annual report
was completed on 10 January 2022. The outstanding cash
consideration of HK$539.0 million and the amount due from the
Disposal Group of HK$333,000 were settled in January 2022 in
accordance with the sale and purchase agreement. In addition to the
information given in the section headed “Disposal of PFM HK
Business and Ancillary Business” on pages 20 and 22 of this annual
report, details of the disposal were disclosed in the announcements
of the Company dated 26 November 2021, 23 December 2021 and
10 January 2022 and the circular of the Company dated 1 December
2021.

Writ of Summons

Reference was made to the announcement of the Company dated 1
March 2022. The Company, as the 1st defendant, and ISP
Construction (Engineering) Limited (the “ISPCE”), as the 2nd
defendant (collectively, the “Defendants”), received a writ of
summons on 25 February 2022 under action number HCA 245 of
2022 (the “Writ of Summons”) issued in the Court of First Instance of
the High Court of Hong Kong by the solicitors acting for Falcon
Insurance Company (Hong Kong) Limited as a plaintiff (the “Plaintiff”),
against the Defendants for the deposit of a sum of HK$58.9 million
to the Plaintiff until such time as the Plaintiff’s liability under the
surety bond is released and/or other relief and costs on indemnity
basis regarding the surety bond executed by the Falcon Insurance
Company (Hong Kong) Limited and ISPCE to guarantee due
performance and observance by ISPCE for construction of main
contract works for the factory development at Yuen Long.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BIEEN WA DM

The Writ of Summons was in relation to another writ of summons,
which reference is made to the announcement of the Company
dated 18 January 2021, under High Court action number HCCT 6 of
2021, in which the plaintiff (under HCCT 6 of 2021) brought claims
against Falcon Insurance Company (Hong Kong) Limited (as the first
defendant under HCCT 6 of 2021) and ISPCE (as the second
defendant under HCCT 6 of 2021) for, among other things, alleged
breach of the surety bond.

The Company considers that as the Writ of Summons is related to
HCCT 6 of 2021, it would not incur any liabilities in addition to those
under HCCT 6 of 2021. In any event, the Company and the ISPCE
are seeking legal advice in respect of the above proceeding in HCA
245 of 2022 and would defend its position.

The Company will make further announcement(s) to update the
shareholders of the Company and the potential investors on any
significant development regarding the above claim as and when
appropriate.

Establishment of Investment Committee and Acquisition of
Listed Securities

On 15 March 2022, an investment committee (the “Committee”) has
been established for the purpose of, among others, handling affairs
relating to the investment aspects of the Company. Mr. Kingston Chu
Chun Ho, the Chairman of the Board and Executive Director, has
been appointed as the chairman of the Committee, and Mr. Lam
Chun Kit, the Non-executive Director, and Mr. Lau Man Tak, the
Independent Non-executive Director, have been appointed as the
members of the Committee, all with effect from 15 March 2022.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

On the same date of the establishment of the Committee, the
Company acquired certain listed securities (the “Listed Securities”) on
the open market at an aggregate consideration of approximately
HK$29,700,000 (exclusive of transaction costs) (the “Acquisitions”).
As the Acquisitions were conducted in the open market, the
Company is not aware of the identities of the sellers of the Listed
Securities. To the best of the knowledge, information and belief of
the Directors, having made all reasonable enquiries, each of the
sellers of the Listed Securities and their ultimate beneficial owners
are third parties independent of the Company and its connected
persons (as defined in the Listing Rules).

For the purposes of treasury and liquidity management pending for
capital deployment in various phases of expansion and development of
the Group’s business, the Board considered the Acquisitions presented
good opportunities for the Group to acquire potential investments to
contribute a steady investment return. The management expects these
investments in listed companies with excellent reputation which are
typically well-established and financially sound companies (e.g. blue-
chips stocks) and holds positive views towards their financial
performance and future prospects. The Board also considered that the
above transactions represented attractive market opportunities given
the prevailing market prices of the Listed Securities. As the Acquisitions
were made at market price, the Directors are of the view that the
Acquisitions were fair and reasonable on normal commercial terms and
in the interest of the Company and the Shareholders as a whole. Details
of the Acquisitions were disclosed in the announcement of the Company
dated 18 March 2022.
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PROFILES OF DIRECTORS
SRZEN

MR. KINGSTON CHU
CHUN HO

(aged 36)

Mr. Kingston Chu Chun Ho
(“Mr. Chu”) was appointed as
an Executive Director and the
Chairman of the Company with
effect from 9 March 2017. He
is also a member of each of the
Executive Committee, the
Nomination Committee and the

Remuneration Committee.

Mr. Chu is a licensed person under Securities and Futures Ordinance
for Type 1 (dealing in securities) and Type 6 (advising on corporate
finance) regulated activities for Kingston Securities Limited and
Kingston Corporate Finance Limited, respectively. Mr. Chu is a
member of Guangxi Committee of The Chinese People’s Political
Consultative Conference, a member of General Committee of The
Chamber of Hong Kong Listed Companies, vice president of Hong
Kong CPPCC Youth Association, vice director of Youth Committee of
HKCPPCC (Provincial) Members Association, vice president of
Federation of Hong Kong Guangxi Community Organisations, vice
chairman of Hong Kong Guangdong Youth Association, honorary
chairman of Hong Kong Guangxi Youth Organisations and founder
chairman of Youth Committee of Hong Kong Federation of
Dongguan Associations. Mr. Chu holds a Bachelor Degree of Science
in Business Administration from the University of Southern California
in the U.S.A.

Mr. Chu has been an executive director of Kingston Financial Group
Limited (stock code: 1031) since 21 August 2015 and an executive
director of Sincere Watch (Hong Kong) Limited (stock code: 444)
since 29 May 2012, both of which are listed on the main board (the
“Main Board”) of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”).

He is the son of Mrs. Chu Yuet Wah, the ultimate beneficial owner of
Champ Key Holdings Limited, which is the controlling shareholder of
the Company.
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MR. LAM CHUN KIT
(aged 48)

Mr. Lam Chun Kit (“Mr. Lam”)
was appointed as a Non-
executive Director of the
Company with effect from 16
February 2022. He is the
financial controller of VMS
Investment Group Limited,
which is an asset management
company specializing in
private equity, structured
financing and M&A
transactions.

Before that, Mr. Lam worked in a private group engaging in
investment properties and oil and gas industry as head of finance
control, and in international audit firms over 10 years. Mr. Lam has
developed extensive experience in finance and accounting, treasury,
tax and corporate governance. Mr. Lam graduated from The Hong
Kong Polytechnic University with a bachelor’s degree of Arts in
Accountancy. He is also a member of The Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants.
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PROFILES OF DIRECTORS
BEEZEN

MR. LAU MAN TAK
(aged 52)

Mr. Lau Man Tak (“Mr. Lau”)
has been appointed as an
Independent Non-executive
Director since 28 September
2017. He is also the chairman of
the Audit Committee, and a
member of the Remuneration
Committee and the Nomination
Committee.

Mr. Lau graduated from the Hong Kong Polytechnic University with a
bachelor’s degree of arts in accountancy in November 1991. Mr. Lau
has more than 20 years of experience in finance and accounting. He
is an associate member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and a fellow member of each of the Association of
Chartered Certified Accountants in United Kingdom, The Hong Kong
Institute of Directors and the Hong Kong Securities and Investment
Institute.

Mr. Lau is currently the chairman and a non-executive director of
REF Holdings Limited (stock code: 1631), a company listed on the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange. He is also an independent non-
executive director of Kingston Financial Group Limited (stock code:
1031), a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange.
Mr. Lau was an executive director and chairman of TEM Holdings
Limited (“TEM") since 2015 and was re-designated as a director in
January 2021 upon the withdrawal of the listing of TEM by way of
privatisation. He was also an independent non-executive director of
Chinese Food and Beverage Group Limited since February 2019 until
his resignation upon its cancellation of listing on GEM of the Stock
Exchange on 13 July 2021.
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MR. ERIC LEE HON
MAN

(aged 55)

Mr. Eric Lee Hon Man (“Mr.
Lee”) has been appointed as
an Independent Non-
executive Director since 28
September 2017. He is the
chairman of the Nomination
Committee, and a member of
the Audit Committee and the
Remuneration Committee.

Mr. Lee is currently an independent non-executive director of REF
Holdings Limited (stock code: 1631), a company listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange. He is also employed by Alliance Capital
Partners Limited, a company engaging in advising on corporate
finance and dealing in securities, as managing director. Mr. Lee
graduated from the University of Birmingham, the United Kingdom
with a bachelor’s degree of engineering in electronic and electrical
engineering in July 1988, and obtained a master’s degree in business
administration from the Chinese University of Hong Kong in
December 1993.

Mr. Lee has over 20 years of experience in the corporate finance
industry. He was an independent non-executive director of TEM
since April 2016 until his resignation in January 2021 upon the
withdrawal of the listing of TEM by way of privatization. From March
2017 to June 2020, Mr. Lee worked at Orient Capital (Hong Kong)
Limited, a company engaging in advising on corporate finance, as
managing director of investment banking department. From August
2015 to February 2017, Mr. Lee worked at LY Capital Limited, a
company engaging in advising on corporate finance, as a director.
From April 2002 to November 2014, Mr. Lee worked at First
Shanghai Capital Limited, a company engaging in advising on
corporate finance, and his last position was managing director. From
July 1997 to March 2002, Mr. Lee worked at DBS Asia Capital
Limited, a company engaging in advising on corporate finance, and
his last position was vice president.
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PROFILES OF DIRECTORS
BEEZEN

MR. TO CHUN WAI
(aged 65)

Mr. To Chun Wai (“Mr. To”") has
been appointed as an Independent
Non-executive Director since 1
March 2021. He is the chairman
of the Remuneration Committee,
and a member of the Audit
Committee and the Nomination

Committee.

Mr. To is at present the chief executive officer of a Hong Kong
registered consultancy company, and an independent non-executive
director of Auto Italia Holdings Limited (stock code: 720) and
Greenheart Group Limited (stock code: 94), both of which are listed
on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. Mr. To spent most of his
career with the Hong Kong Police, beginning in 1974 and rising up
the ranks to Assistant Commissioner (Crime), being responsible for
the overall charge of policy designs and operations of, among others,
the Commercial Crime Bureau, Organized Crime & Triad Bureau,
Criminal Intelligence Bureau, Financial Investigation Bureau (anti
money-laundering), and Technology Crime Bureau, until his
retirement in 2011.

Mr. To was awarded the Police Meritorious Service Medal by the
Chief Executive of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region, in
recognition of his long and staunch service and contribution to the
Hong Kong society. From 2011 to 2012, he served as a part-time
tutor at the University of Hong Kong. Between April 2013 and
August 2018, he served as the chief strategic officer, chief operating
officer, and a non-executive director of Integrated Waste Solutions
Group Holdings Limited (“IWS”), the shares of which are listed on
the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 923), and sat on
both the remuneration and nomination committees of IWS during his
tenure of services.

Mr. To has wide administrative and management experiences in both
the public and private sectors, and holds a master degree of public
administration from the University of Hong Kong.

[SPAHOLDINGS LIMITED ®m 2021 ANNUAL REPORT

HiRESLE

(658%)

MIRERE(HLEE]) B2021F3 18
EZIERNRRZBIIFNITES - HAH
ZECXFE  UAEZLZESRIREZES

HEER A —MEEEMER AR ZITHE
# + I A Auto Italia Holdings Limited ( & = |
ZERAERAE) (BRMHRIE : 720) RELEE
BREAT(RGORSE : 94) 2 BT IERTES -
ZERNRRBZMERLET - HEEBH 1974
FRABOBEESEOREBFEERS - B
2011 RINZ A BEAZDEERFIE) -
ZHEEBE(HPB8E) mEFRAER - 54K
RRE=-AEHER - AIFBFRE  P=ERAE
BEGTEEER) R EEAER 2 BUR &S
K118y ©

AL CEEBEITRETRRES BIRER
LEREPRGERPIERERE T LS
BWEE - N2011FEF 20124 » HEEFBEX
E R B EAD - B BN 20135F 4 A £20184 8
AEFHRERREBERAA(HFEERR])

(Bt 5% : 923)  RERARES - 2 EREI NI
WITES AR ZBROREER AT ER L -

ERERAEISRERRZFMEERZES

HEEERLERFNABEETTHRLEERL
B URBEBEABARTHELEAM -

T {EHES



PROFILES OF THE GROUP'S KEY PERSONNEL

MR. GARY TSE CHI
CHIU

MEng (Civil & Architectural),
CEng, MIStructE, MCIOB,
MHKIE, MHKICM, ICE,
RPE(Structural), Chartered
Construction Manager
(aged 44)

Mr. Gary Tse Chi Chiu (“Mr.

Tse”) was appointed as an
Acting Managing Director for
the interiors and special projects business (the “ISP Business”) and a
member of the Executive Committee with effect from 7 May 2020.
He is also a director of certain subsidiaries of the Company and is
responsible for strategic planning, business development and overall

operation of ISP Business and in charge of Planning, Engineering and
Plant Department of the Group.

Mr. Tse joined interiors and special projects division in 2011. He has
strong background in structural design and consultation knowledge
and processes 19 years of experience in the design, construction,
supervision and project management. He has also been involved in
various building, civil and renovation projects in Hong Kong, Macau,
United Kingdom and Middle East.

Mr. Tse is a qualified contractor specialising in construction
management in a wide range of construction projects including high
rise class residential and commercial development, social facilities,
shopping complex, hotel, hospital building; fitting-out works together
with alteration and addition works, major demolition and repair
works. He also qualified as a combined Chartered Civil and Structural
Engineer as well as a Registered Professional Engineer.

EBEZEEZEN

MEng (Civil & Architectural), CEng, MIStructE,
MCIOB, MHKIE, MHKICM, ICE,
RPE(Structural), Chartered Construction
Manager (44 5%)

HEBEE(HELE]) B2020F587H
EZERERRMHRFREAR EH ([ ERRH
MERERBRKNBREFELENAITE
BEZKE - BWAAARRBAETHBARZE
T RAAEARMHMFEREBXRBHBER
B XBERMERLEANATAKERE
TREIKE -

WAL 2011 F IO E R R R 7K I8 B &6
FI - RN EBRG RABATEER RENER
WEBI9FHR  EE EERBEER
EAEER - (RING2EEE - BFY  HEARS
REESEELE - TANBIFIER -

AMEERABRNEER  FFINEEEEE
HEMELEREEREEEABERRA
B HERE - BYPLO - BE - BEREAE -
= A TAZ AN BN M N3 T AR A S KL 3 )
FEETIE - RIS AR A EMH L ANERE
TH2ERIA M ER TIZA R EAS -

EMERERAR 8 —ZE=-—FFH 035



PROFILES OF THE GROUP'S KEY PERSONNEL
EEZEB 2N

MR.LEUNG CHIMING ZREBR%TE
EMBA RICS CIH CPM (aged 48)  EMBA, RICS, CIH, CPM (48 3%)

Mr. Leung Chi Ming (‘Mr.  ZREBRZE(REED) AEHESR(FE) K
Leung”) is the Regional ZARAFBZETHBRARIZES Z2H4EEFLE
Director (China) and a director  /SmfitmBRENESESR TREEELT
of certain subsidiaries of the B - KT ABREEMEEIEIR M TMESE
Company. Mr. Leung holds an BE&LBUARARFHFEELEEET A S
Executive Master's Degree of REBEFREFFIEMBENEE -
Business Administration in
Real Estate from Shanghai

Advanced Institute of Finance.

He is also currently a Registered Professional Housing Manager of

Institute of Real Estate Management and a member of each of the

Chartered Institute of Housing Asia Pacific Branch and Royal

Institution of Chartered Surveyor.

Mr. Leung joined the Group in 1999 and has over 20 years of ZR&EER1999FEMARER - WHREFHE LT
extensive experience in real estate consultancy and service in Hong Bz EHERM MIREIEABB20FLEFT K
Kong and China. He is responsible for the overall strategic planning, & KEBEAEERTPBEEMERESE 2 BER
business development and management operations of the real estate £ - R RN EIREIE o

business of the Group in China.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

The Company recognises the interests of and its responsibility to one
of its most important stakeholders — the shareholders. It is
committed to upholding high standards of corporate governance as a
means of protecting and enhancing shareholder value and ensuring
the integrity of operations of the Group. Its corporate governance
standards are built on the principles of independence, accountability,
transparency and fairness with an appropriate system of checks and
balances.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE

The Company has applied the principles, code provisions and certain
recommended best practices set out in the Corporate Governance
Code (the “CG Code”) as contained in Appendix 14 of the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities (the “Listing Rules”) on the Stock
Exchange.

Throughout the Reporting Year, the Company complied with all code
provisions of the CG Code and, where appropriate, the applicable
recommended best practices of the CG Code in force during the
Reporting Year.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS
BY DIRECTORS

The Board has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as set out in
Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules (as amended from time to time by
the Stock Exchange) as its own code of conduct for regulating
securities transactions by Directors. Having made specific enquiry by
the Company, all Directors confirmed they have complied with the
required standard set out in the Model Code throughout the
Reporting Year.

The Board has further adopted the Model Code as the written
guidelines for regulating securities transactions by the senior
management (whose names are set out in Profiles of the Group's Key
Personnel on pages 35 to 36 of this annual report) and certain
employees (collectively, the “Relevant Employees”) of the Group. The
Board believes that the Relevant Employees may, by virtue of their
positions, likely be in possession of unpublished inside information of
the Group.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Composition

During the Reporting Year and up to the date of this annual report,
the Board comprised five Directors, including one Executive Director,
one Non-executive Director and three Independent Non-executive
Directors.

The names of the Directors are set out below:

Executive Directors

Mr. Kingston Chu Chun Ho (Chairman)

Ms. Mandy Hui Suk Man
(Deputy Chairman and Managing Director for property and facility
management business) (resigned on 9 January 2022)

Non-executive Director

Mr. Lam Chun Kit (appointed with effect from 16 February 2022)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Lau Man Tak
Mr. Eric Lee Hon Man
Mr. To Chun Wai (appointed with effect from 1 March 2021)

An updated list of Directors identifying their roles and functions is
available on the websites of the Stock Exchange (www.hkexnews.hk)
and the Company (www.isp-hk.com.hk).

Coming from diverse businesses and professional backgrounds, the
Board members possess a balance of skills, expertise and diversity of
perspectives appropriate for the requirements of the business of the
Group and they are collectively responsible for promoting the
success of the Company by directing and supervising the Company’s
affairs. Save as disclosed in the Profiles of Directors set out on pages
30 to 34 of this annual report, there is no relationship among the
Board members.
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Following the resignation of Dr. Wong Yun Kuen as an Independent
Non-executive Director, the chairman of the Remuneration
Committee and a member of each of the Audit Committee and the
Nomination Committee with effect from 23 December 2020, the
Company failed to comply with the Rules 3.10(1), 3.21 and 3.25 of
the Listing Rules. Pursuant to Rule 3.11, 3.23 and 3.27, the Company
should appoint sufficient number of independent non-executive
directors and make appropriate appointment to the Audit Committee
and the Remuneration Committee within three months after failing to
meet the requirements under Rules 3.10(1), 3.21 and 3.25 of the
Listing Rules.

The Company has appointed Mr. To Chun Wai as an Independent
Non-executive Director, the chairman of the Remuneration
Committee and a member of each of the Audit Committee and the
Nomination Committee with effect from 1 March 2021. Following
the appointment of Mr. To Chun Wai, the Company is in compliance
with the relevant requirements under Rules 3.10(1), 3.21 and 3.25 of
the Listing Rules.

The Company currently has three Independent Non-executive
Directors representing more than one-third of the total number of
Board members and is in compliance with the requirement under
Rule 3.10 of the Listing Rules. The views of the Independent Non-
executive Directors carry weight in the Board’s decisions, and their
participation helps the Board exercise judgement, make decisions and
act objectively in the interests of the Company and its shareholders
as a whole.

Each of the Independent Non-executive Directors has given to the
Company an annual confirmation of independence in compliance
with Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company considers that all
the Independent Non-executive Directors are and have remained
independent. Mr. Lau Man Tak, chairman of the Audit Committee,
has the appropriate accounting and financial management expertise
required under Rule 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules.

The Board members, including all the Independent Non-executive
Directors, are expressly identified in all corporate communications
which disclose the names of the Directors of the Company.
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Functions

The Board has an ultimate oversight of the Group’s activities. Its
primary functions are to set and direct the Company’s strategy and
to monitor and measure the management’s performance. The Board
is accountable for the overall strategic development of the Group
with the objective to enhance shareholder value. Material matters are
reserved for the Board’s considerations or decisions which include,
among other things, overall strategy of the Group, business plans,
annual budgets, significant capital expenditure, interim and annual
results and reports, dividend policy and payments, material
acquisitions, disposals or investment proposals, directors’
appointments, re-appointments or removal, and other material
transactions.

The Board has delegated certain of its responsibilities to the Audit
Committee, Remuneration Committee, Nomination Committee and
Executive Committee. It has also delegated the day-to-day operations
of the Group’s business to the senior management. Delegation of
duties to the Board committees and daily business operations to the
management are discussed on pages 45 to 53 of this report.

Board Chairman and Managing Director

Code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code provides that the roles of
chairman and chief executive should be separate and should not be
performed by the same individual. The division of responsibilities
between the chairman and chief executive should be clearly
established and set out in writing.

Mr. Kingston Chu Chun Ho is the Chairman of the Board. During the
Reporting Year, the role of chief executive of the Company was
played by Ms. Mandy Hui Suk Man as the Managing Director for the
property and facility management and Mr. Gary Tse Chi Chiu as the
Acting Managing Director for the ISP Business respectively.

At all times, the Chairman of the Board and the Managing Directors
are not related to each other and there are clear divisions among
their responsibilities with a view to achieving a balance of power and
authority. The Chairman of the Board provides leadership to the
Board in terms of formulating policies and strategies, and discharges
those duties set out in code provision A.2 of the CG Code. The
Managing Directors have the overall responsibility of implementing
the decisions, policies and strategies approved by the Board, and
overseeing the Group’s business and operations. The duties of the
Chairman and the Managing Directors are set out in their respective
service agreements entered into with the Company.
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With the support from the Executive Director and the Company
Secretary, the Chairman of the Board ensures that all Directors are
properly briefed on all issues arising from Board meetings and receive
adequate, complete and reliable information in a timely manner.

Appointment, Re-election and Removal of Directors

The Board has assumed the responsibility to consider the
appointment, re-election and removal of the Directors. The Board set
up a Nomination Committee in 2011 to recommend the appointment,
re-election and removal of the Directors.

All the Independent Non-executive Directors have entered into
letters of appointment with the Company for a term of three years
subject to the requirements of the Listing Rules and the bye-laws of
the Company (“Bye-laws”), including the requirement of retirement
by rotation and re-election or standing for re-election at annual
general meetings (“AGM(s)”) of the Company at least once every
three years. The term is renewable upon expiry.

Any new Director to be appointed by the Company shall be provided
with information on duties and obligations of director, relevant
regulatory requirements and the Group’s business affairs. All
Directors appointed to fill a casual vacancy on the Board or as an
addition to the existing Board shall hold office only until the next
following general meeting or next following AGM respectively and
shall then be eligible for re-election at the meeting according to the
Bye-laws.

Board Meetings

Regular Board meetings are held at least four times a year at
approximately quarterly intervals. Tentative dates of regular Board
meetings for next year are scheduled approaching the end of each
calendar year in order to facilitate the Directors to plan for
attendance of the meetings. Additional Board meetings will be
convened, as and when required, to deal with ad hoc issues. Any
Director who is not able to present physically may participate at any
Board meeting through electronic means of communication, such as
conference telephone or other similar communication equipment, in
accordance with the Bye-laws.
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Board Proceedings

Notice convening each regular Board meeting is sent at least 14 days
in advance, and reasonable notice is given for other Board meetings.
The Company Secretary assists the Chairman of the Board to prepare
the meeting notice and agenda. Each Director may include any item
in the agenda. The agenda, accompanied by meeting papers with
sufficient and reliable information, are sent to each Director normally
not less than three days before the date of a Board meeting to
enable the Directors to make informed decisions on the matters to
be discussed, except where a Board meeting is convened on a very
urgent basis to consider any urgent ad hoc matter.

The Company Secretary is responsible for taking minutes of the
Board meetings, drafts and final versions of which will be circulated
to Directors for comment and records, respectively, and in both
cases, within a reasonable time after each meeting. Minutes shall
record in sufficient detail the matters considered by the Board at the
meeting and decisions reached, including any concerns raised by the
Directors or dissenting view (if any) expressed. Minutes of Board
meetings are open for inspection to any Director on request.

All Directors have access to the Company Secretary who is
responsible for ensuring that Board procedures are complied with
and all applicable rules and regulations relating to Board process are
followed. Directors have full and timely access to all relevant
information, including reports from the Board committees and
reports from the management. They are also provided with updates
on the latest developments of the Listing Rules and other relevant
legal and regulatory changes and matters of relevance to the
Directors in discharging their duties as and when appropriate.

To assist the Directors to discharge their duties, the Board has
adopted written procedures for any Director who wishes to seek
independent professional advice at the Company’s expenses.

Board approval is also given by circulation of resolution in writing
pursuant to the Bye-laws on urgent matters which require decisions
in a tight timeframe and hence convening a Board meeting is difficult
or not practicable. In the case where a resolution in writing is
circulated, sufficient information and explanatory materials will also
be provided to the Directors at the same time.
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If a substantial shareholder or a Director has a conflict of interest in a
matter (including material transactions with connected persons)
which the Board determines to be material, the Board will hold a
meeting to consider the relevant matter.

Appropriate insurance cover on Directors’ and officers’ liabilities has
been arranged to protect the Directors and officers of the Group.

Attendances of Meetings

Eleven Board meetings, two Audit Committee meetings, three
Remuneration Committee meetings, two Nomination Committee
meetings and two general meetings were held during the Reporting
Year. Attendances of these meetings by Directors are set out below:
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Meetings attended/Eligible to attend

hE/ RERERESE
Audit Remuneration ~ Nomination General
Committee Committee Committee Meetings
Name of Directors ERZEe FMZER REXZE® BRRAE
Executive Directors HITES
Kingston Chu Chun Ho KR 11/11 n/a 3/3 2/2 2/2
Mandy Hui Suk Man STRE 11/11 n/a n/a n/a 2/2
Independent BUKHTES
Non-executive Directors
Lau Man Tak %l]j(% 11/11 2/2 3/3 2/2 2/2
Eric Lee Hon Man FHY 11/11 2/2 3/3 2/2 2/2
To Chun Wai (appointed with HiRE
effect from 1 March 2021) (2021 E3A 1 BRRER(T) 10/10 2/2 2/2 11 2/2
n/a:  not applicable n/a:  TEA

During the Reporting Year, the Chairman of the Board also held one
meeting with the Independent Non-executive Directors without the
other Director present.

Code provision A.6.7 of the CG Code provides that independent
non-executive directors and other non-executive directors should
attend general meetings and gain and develop a balanced
understanding of the views of shareholders generally. All
Independent Non-executive Directors attended the AGM held on 21
May 2021 and the Special General Meeting on 23 December 2021
by electronic means.
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Directors’ Training and Professional Development

Every Director keeps abreast of responsibilities as a Director of the
Company and of the conduct, business activities and development of
the Company.

Directors are aware of the requirement under the code provision
A.6.5 of CG Code regarding continuous professional development.
During the Reporting Year, the Company provided reading materials
to the Directors for self-study. In addition, the Directors have
attended external courses or conferences organised by various
organisations for their own continuous training.

Directors also reviewed the business and financial updates and other
reading materials provided to them concerning latest developments
in corporate governance practices, and relevant legal and regulatory
developments. A record of the Directors’ participation in various
continuous professional development programme is kept by the
company secretarial department. A summary of training received by
the Directors for the Reporting Year according to the records
provided by the Directors is as follows:
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B MERFEE -

EENEHNREREHRZEB LU BOERE
BAREMERARE TR RAMER A
RBESHERNBEEN - INEF2ET
REEXERIABNE  ARRAWEDR
- BEFRBERTFEMEZFINME
(RIBEEMEHMCEARE AT

Reading
newspapers,
journals and

updates relating

Giving talks to the economy,

or attending general business,

seminars/ accounting, laws,

conferences/ rules and

forums regulations, etc

RIERAR

g5t EZE -

BITHBER RAIRERE

HEHSE FHZHBE -

Name of Directors 28 WwiE HARSEFEN

Kingston Chu Chun Ho KEE 3 3

Mandy Hui Suk Man AR 3 3

Lau Man Tak e 3 3

Eric Lee Hon Man FHX 3 3
To Chun Wai (appointed with effect HHRE

from 1 March 2021) (B2021 %31 HEEEZE) 3 3
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BOARD COMMITTEES

During the Reporting Year, each of the Board committees, namely,
the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee, the Nomination
Committee and the Executive Committee, assisted in the execution
of the Board's responsibilities and to oversee particular aspect of the
Group's affairs. Each Board committee is provided with sufficient
resources to discharge its duties properly, and holds meetings in
accordance with the Bye-laws, its specific written terms of reference
and, where applicable, the proceedings of Board meeting.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee currently comprises three Independent Non-
executive Directors. The members of the Audit Committee during
the Reporting Year and up to date of this report were:

Mr. Lau Man Tak (Chairman)
Mr. Eric Lee Hon Man
Mr. To Chun Wai (appointed with effect from 1 March 2021)

None of the Audit Committee members is or has been a former
partner of the Company’s existing external auditor for the past two
years.

The Audit Committee is primarily responsible for conducting an
independent and objective review of the financial reporting process,
internal controls and audit function with emphasis on:

(i)  appraise the quality of the audit effort of the Company’s
internal and external auditors;

(i)  serve as an independent and objective party to review the
financial information presented by management to
shareholders, regulators and the general public;

(i) ascertain the adequacy of the Company’s systems of risk
management and internal control which management and the
Board have established; and

(iv)  serve as useful channel of communication between the Board
and the external and internal auditors on matters relating to
and arising out of the external and internal audit.
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The authority and duties of the Audit Committee are set out in its
specific written terms of reference. Full text of the terms of reference
of the Audit Committee is available on the websites of the Company
and the Stock Exchange.

The principal duties of the Audit Committee include, among other
things, recommending to the Board on the appointment, re-
appointment or removal of the Company’s external auditor and on its
remuneration; reviewing the Company’s interim and annual financial
statements and other financial reports; and reviewing the Company’s
financial reporting system, internal control procedures (including
monitoring the effectiveness of the internal audit function) and risk
management system. The Audit Committee has explicit authority to
investigate any activity within its duties and responsibilities and the
authority to obtain external legal or other independent professional
advice if it considers necessary.

The Audit Committee shall meet at least twice a year. During the
Reporting Year, two Audit Committee meetings were held.
Attendances of the meetings have been disclosed on page 43 of this
report.

During the Reporting Year, the Audit Committee members with the
participation of the internal and external auditors and the
management, (i) reviewed the risk management and internal control
systems of the Group; (ii) reviewed the annual results for the year
ended 31 December 2020 and the interim results for the period
ended 30 June 2021 and the related financial statements of the
Company with a view to ensuring that these financial statements
were prepared in accordance with the accounting principles and
standards generally accepted in Hong Kong; (iii) considered the
reports from the external auditor on the scope and findings of its
independent review of the interim financial statements and audit of
the annual financial statements; (iv) reviewed the adequacy of
resources, qualifications and experience of staff of the Group's
accounting, internal audit and financial reporting functions and their
training programmes and budget; (v) reviewed and approved the
external auditor’s fees for audit and non-audit services; (vi) reviewed
the independence of external auditor; and (vii) recommended the
Board to nominate the re-appointment of the external auditor at
AGM.

There is no disagreement between the Board and the Audit
Committee’s view on re-appointment of external auditor, and they
both have agreed to recommend the re-appointment of BDO Limited
as the Company’s external auditor for the ensuing year at the 2022
AGM.
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Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee currently comprises four Directors, a
majority of whom are Independent Non-executive Directors. The
members of the Remuneration Committee during the Reporting Year
and up to date of this report were:

Mr. To Chun Wai (Chairman)
(appointed with effect from 1 March 2021)
Mr. Kingston Chu Chun Ho
Mr. Lau Man Tak
Mr. Eric Lee Hon Man

The authority and duties of the Remuneration Committee are set out
in its specific written terms of reference. Full text of the terms of
reference of the Remuneration Committee is available on the
websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

The Remuneration Committee is primarily responsible for reviewing
the remuneration policy of the Group and the remuneration packages
of the Directors and senior management of the Company. Its duties
are summarised below:

(i)

(ii)

(iif)

make recommendations to the Board on the Company’s policy
and structure for all Directors and senior management
remuneration and on the establishment of a formal and
transparent procedure for developing remuneration policy;

review and approve the management’s remuneration proposals
with reference to the Board’s corporate goals and objectives;

make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration
packages of individual Executive Directors and senior
management;

make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration of
Non-executive Directors;

consider salaries paid by comparable companies, time
commitment and responsibilities, and employment conditions
elsewhere in the Group;

review and approve compensation payable to Executive
Directors and senior management for any loss or termination of
office or appointment to ensure that it is consistent with
contractual terms and is otherwise fair and not excessive;
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(vii) review and approve compensation arrangements, relating to
dismissal or removal of Directors for misconduct to ensure that
they are consistent with contractual terms and are otherwise
reasonable and appropriate; and

(viii) ensure that no Director or any of his associates is involved in

deciding his own remuneration.

The Remuneration Committee shall meet at least once a year. During
the Reporting Year, three Remuneration Committee meetings were
held. Attendance of the meetings has been disclosed on page 43 of
this report.

During the Reporting Year, the Remuneration Committee members
reviewed (i) the bonus distribution proposal of the senior
management for property and facility management business for the
year ended 31 December 2020; (ii) the salary revision proposal for
general staff of property and facility management business and ISP
Business for the year ended 31 December 2021; (iii) the monthly
fixed salaries of Executive Directors and senior management; (iv) the
remuneration packages of the newly appointed Independent Non-
executive Director; (v) the performance bonus formular for
management for the year ended 31 December 2021; (vi) the
directors’ fees for the year ending 31 December 2021; and (vii)
recommended the aforesaid matters to the Board for approval.

Pursuant to code provision B.1.5 of the CG Code, the remuneration
of the senior management by band for the Reporting Year is set out
below:
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Remuneration Policy of the Group

The Group sets out its remuneration policy by making reference to
the prevailing market conditions and benchmark of the industry and
formulating an appropriate performance-based reward system, so as
to ensure that the Group is able to attract, retain and motivate
executives of the highest calibre, which is essential to the successful
leadership and effective management of the Group. The performance
measures are balanced between financial and industrial comparatives.
The components of remuneration package may consist of basic
salary, allowances, benefits-in-kind, fringe benefits including medical
insurance and contributions to pension funds, as well as incentives
like discretionary bonus, participation in a share option scheme or
long-term rewards.

The remuneration packages of the Executive Directors and senior
management of the Company are determined by the Remuneration
Committee and approved by the Board by reference to their
respective duties and responsibilities in the Group, individual
performance, achievement of the Group’s targets and the prevailing
market terms in the industry.

The remunerations of the Independent Non-executive Directors are
approved by the Board with the recommendation of the
Remuneration Committee by reference to their duties and
responsibilities in the Group, time involvement and the prevailing
market situation.

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee currently comprises four Directors, a
majority of whom are Independent Non-executive Directors. The
members of the Nomination Committee during the Reporting Year
and up to date of this report were:

Mr. Eric Lee Hon Man (Chairman)

Mr. Kingston Chu Chun Ho

Mr. Lau Man Tak

Mr. To Chun Wai (appointed with effect from 1 March 2021)

The authority and duties of the Nomination Committee are set out in
its specific written terms of reference. Full text of the terms of
reference of the Nomination Committee is available on the websites
of the Company and the Stock Exchange.
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The Nomination Committee is primarily responsible for formulating
nomination policy and leading the process of identifying and

REZEETZRAFERBERLTEYE
KiztiEea mE }\E’Jiﬂﬁoﬁi\ﬂifﬁﬁ LA

nominating suitable candidates. Its duties are summarised below:

(i)  review the structure, size and diversity (including without () ZEALEERTESTEHERE  FEERSZ
limitation, gender, age, cultural and educational background, oAb (BIEERERERMER « FEt  UER
ethnicity, skills, knowledge, professional experience and length HEES IR e A ZEK
of service) of the Board at least annually and make B EIRIEFE A m) Wt EMAEELRS
recommendations on any proposed changes to the Board to BERnESeiREEZ NS ITEAE
complement the Group's corporate strategy; BERR

(ii)

(iif)

(Vi)

identify individuals suitably qualified to become Board members
and select or make recommendations to the Board on the
selection of individuals nominated for directorships based on
the objective criteria with due regard for the benefits of
diversity on the Board;

taking into account the Group’s corporate strategy and mix of
skills, knowledge, experience and diversity needed in the future,
to make recommendations to the Board on the appointment or
re-appointment of Directors and succession planning for
Directors, in particular, the Chairman and the Chief Executive;

assess the independence of Independent Non-executive
Directors and review the Independent Non-executive Directors’
annual confirmations on their independence; and make
disclosure of its review results in the Corporate Governance
Report;

regularly review the time required from a Director to perform
his/her responsibilities and report to the Board of their findings;
and

review the policies on both the Board Diversity Policy and the
Nomination Policy, as appropriate; and review the measurable
objectives that the Board had set for implementing the Board
Diversity Policy, and the progress on achieving the objectives;
and make disclosure of its review results in the Corporate
Governance Report annually.

The Nomination Committee shall meet at least once a year. During
the Reporting Year, two Nomination Committee meetings were held.
Attendance of the meetings has been disclosed on page 43 of this
report.
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The Board has adopted a Board Diversity Policy. Pursuant to the
Board Diversity Policy, the Board shall consider the benefits of
diversity when they review the Board composition. In designing the
Board composition, Board diversity has been considered from a
number of aspects, including but not limited to skills, background,
experience, knowledge, expertise, culture, independence, race,
gender, and other qualities of Directors. All Board appointments will
be considered against objective criteria, having due regard for the
benefits of diversity on the Board.

The Nomination Committee will monitor the implementation of the
Board Diversity Policy and review the Board composition under
diversified perspectives annually to ensure the Board has a balance
of skills, knowledge, experience and diversity of perspectives
appropriate to the achievement of the strategic objectives and
sustainable development of the Company.

The Board has also adopted the Nomination Policy which sets out
the selection criteria and nomination procedures to identify, select
and recommend candidates for directorships.

Selection Criteria

When assessing the suitability of the proposed candidate to the
Board regarding the appointment or re-appointment of any existing
director(s) of the Board, the Nomination Committee should consider
the following factors:

1.  The candidate should be of good character, integrity and
competent to act as director of the Company;

2. The candidate should possess the skills, knowledge, and
experience in the commercial and professional fields which are
relevant to the principal business of the Group;

3. The candidate should be able to devote sufficient time and
attention to the Board; and

4. The candidates should be considered on merit, against objective
criteria and with due regard to the diversity perspectives set
out in the Board Diversity Policy of the Company.
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Nomination Procedures

1. The Secretary of the Nomination Committee shall convene a 1. EREZEeWEYEHeEREEES
meeting, and invite nominations of candidates from Board SKERZZANE(INE)AHIEZREZS
members (if any), for consideration by the Nomination S@EE IREZEZESINA[IERZ AR
Committee. The Nomination Committee may also nominate EE
candidates for its consideration;

2. The Nomination Committee shall undertake adequate due 2. BEZEECYREEEMIRBEE SHIT
diligence in respect of appointment of any proposed candidate THNERES  HBSELES U
to the Board, prior to making recommendations for the Board’s HEFSZRRIE
consideration and approval;

3. The Nomination Committee shall make recommendations to 3. ERRZEESENREFNEZTESSEMIR
the Board for its consideration and recommendation in respect EEENEELEHEEER  UHE
of re-appointment of any existing Director(s) of the Board, for ERENERBEBREAERRERAS LS
the proposed candidates to stand for re-election at a general IRIEB(T
meeting;

4. The procedures for shareholders’ nomination of any proposed 4. RREEZTAEEAEREENETE
candidate for election as a director should follow the BRIEEZZEATEERARATNEEY
“orocedures for shareholders to propose a person for election Bl ZBZFEEHRNAQAAMLA
as a director of the Company” which are available on the &

Company's website; and
5. The Board shall have the final decision on all matters relatingto 5. ZE@¥WRNAEEHE A BREREAS

its recommendation of candidates to stand for election at a
general meeting.

During the Reporting Year, the Nomination Committee members (i)
reviewed and considered the structure, size, diversity and
composition of the Board; (ii) assessed the independence of
Independent Non-executive Directors; (iii) considered the re-election
of directors at the AGM; (iv) the appointment of a new Independent
Non-executive Director; and (v) recommended the aforesaid matters
to the Board for approval.
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Executive Committee

The Executive Committee currently comprises an Executive Director
and a senior management member of the Group. The members of
the Executive Committee during the Reporting Year were:

Mr. Kingston Chu Chun Ho (Chairman of the Board)

Ms. Mandy Hui Suk Man (Deputy Chairman of the Board and
Managing Director for property and facility management business)
(resigned as Deputy Chairman of the Board, Managing Director for
property and facility management business and a member of
Executive Committee with effect from 9 January 2022)

Mr. Gary Tse Chi Chiu (Acting Managing Director for ISP Business)

The authority and duties of the Executive Committee are set out in
its specific written terms of reference. Full text of the terms of
reference of the Executive Committee is available on the website of
the Company. The principal duties of the Executive Committee are,
pursuant to the Authorisation Matrix/Limits of Authority of each
subsidiary, to approve tender submission and/or payment requisition
when the amount of tender or payment exceeds certain limits, to
approve banking matters, the issue of guarantees to third party
customers, the issue of shares under share option scheme and
promotion or appointment of senior management at operational
level, and other duties delegated by the Board from time to time.

The Executive Committee shall meet as and when required
depending on business and operation needs. Members’ attendances
would depend on the importance of the matters to be transacted.
During the Reporting Year, the Executive Committee held 12
meetings to discharge their duties.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

The Board is responsible for determining the policy for the corporate
governance of the Company and performing the corporate
governance duties as below:

(i) develop and review the Company’s policies and practices on
corporate governance;

(i) review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management;

(iii)  review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices on
compliance with all legal and regulatory requirements;

(iv) develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and
Directors; and

(v) review the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and
disclosure requirements in the Corporate Governance Report.

The Board has in place the procedures for Directors to seek an
independent professional advice if necessary.

DELEGATION TO MANAGEMENT

The monitoring of the day-to-day business operations of the Group
and the implementation of the business plans and strategies adopted
by the Board are performed by the senior management led primarily
by the Managing Director(s) of the Company.

The Group has also organised a management meeting for senior
management and other relevant staff on a monthly basis to review
business operations with significant issue, review the financial and
business performance against the budget approved by the Board, and
review the implementation of the strategies and policies adopted by
the Board.
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Risk Management Committee

With a view to further enhancing risk management at all levels, a Risk
Management Committee, as approved by the Audit Committee and
the Board, has been established to assume the responsibility for
identifying, evaluating, assessing and managing risk areas from
company-wide perspective. The Risk Management Committee
comprises senior management and corporate managers of the Group.
Its findings and recommendations are reported to the Audit
Committee and the Board.

Risk Management

The Board has the overall responsibility for establishing, maintaining
and evaluating the adequacy and effectiveness of the risk
management and internal control systems of the Group on an
ongoing basis. Such systems are designed to manage rather than
eliminate risk of failure to achieve business objective, and can only
provide reasonable but not absolute assurance against material
misstatement or loss. To ensure systematic coverage of all auditable
areas and effective deployment of resources, an every 3-year internal
audit (“IA”) plan with reference to the risk assessment results has
been formulated and approved by the Audit Committee. During the
Reporting Year, the IA plan focused on the examination of the
financial and treasury management, management of litigation and
claims, procurement control and compliance with applicable rules and
regulations. Subsequent meetings were conducted to update the IA
plan in order to reflect the major changes in the organisational
structure and business objectives, review the |A reports and highlight
the more significant issues identified from the IA reviews and follow-
up actions taken. Meetings between the head of IA function and
senior management are conducted monthly to stay current with
market developments and changes in the business strategy.

Management is responsible for setting the appropriate tone from the
top, performing risk assessments, and owning the design,
implementation and maintenance of internal controls. The associated
policies and procedures for risk management and internal controls,
which are properly documented and communicated to staff, are
designed to help ensure that the Group’s assets are safeguarded
against unauthorised use or disposition; relevant rules and regulations
are adhered to and complied with; complete, accurate and reliable
financial and accounting records are maintained; and key risk factors
including business strategic, operational, financial, corporate
reputation and regulatory compliance risks which may impact the
Group's performance are appropriately identified and managed.
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To ensure the risk management process is consistent with the best
practice, the Directors of the Company review the existing practice,
and their suggestions will be incorporated into the Group’s risk
management framework in due course.

The Group's risk management framework comprises the following
key features:

(i) A distinct organisational structure for different responsible
parties with defined authority, responsibilities and risk
management roles;

(i) The Board sets forth the proper risk management culture and
risk appetite for the Group, evaluates and determines the level
of risk that the Group should take and monitor regularly;

(i)  The Risk Management Committee facilitates the risk
assessment process and timely communication to the Audit
Committee and the Board. Also, it ensures key business and
operational risks being properly identified and managed; and

(iv) A Risk Management Policy has been established to provide a
framework for the identification, analysis, evaluation, treatment,
monitoring and reporting of key risks at all levels across the
Group to support the achievement of the organisation’s overall
strategic objectives.

Identified potential risks are evaluated using appropriate qualitative
and quantitative techniques and risk responses (i.e. accept, reduce,
transfer and avoid) are formulated, which are consistent with the
Group's risk appetite. Risks are assessed based on a risk assessment
matrix that helps to rank the risks into four risk levels (i.e. Extremely
High, High, Medium and Low) and to prioritise risk management
effort to determine the appropriate risk mitigation plans.

Internal Control

The Group has an IA function, which plays a major role in monitoring
the internal governance of the Group, to conduct independent
reviews of the adequacy and effectiveness of its risk management
and internal control system and report the review results regularly to
the Board through the Audit Committee.
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To ensure systematic coverage of all auditable areas and effective
deployment of resources, an every 3-year IA plan with reference to
the risk assessment results has been formulated and approved by the
Audit Committee. During the Reporting Year, the |A plan focused on
the examination of the fraud control, business strategy, financial and
treasury management, compliance with applicable rules and
regulations, management of litigation and claims, payment controls
and conflict of interest. Subsequent meetings were conducted to
update the IA plan in order to reflect the major changes in the
organisational structure and business objectives, review the IA
reports and highlight the more significant issues identified from the
IA reviews and follow-up actions taken. Meetings between the head
of IA function and senior management are conducted monthly to stay
current with market developments and changes in the business
strategy.

The Group is fully aware of its obligation of handling and
dissemination of inside information under the Listing Rules and the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong
Kong) (the “SFQ”). The Group has a set of procedures and controls in
place to preserve the confidentiality of inside information relating to
the Group. All Board members and senior management, who are
likely to possess the Group’s inside information because of their
offices or employments in the Group, are bound by Model Code. In
addition, every employee is required to follow the guidelines of the
code of conduct and the staff handbook to keep unpublished inside
information strictly confidential.

Review of Risk Management and Internal Control Systems

During the Reporting Year, the Board has conducted a review on the
effectiveness of risk management and internal control systems of the
Group through discussion with the Audit Committee, which covers
the major control procedures in areas of business/strategy,
operational, financial, compliance, corporate reputation and
regulatory risk, and was satisfied with the effectiveness of the
Group's risk management and internal control systems.

The changes in the nature and extent of significant risks faced by the
Group and response plans to changes in its business and the external
environment have been evaluated. The scope and quality of ongoing
monitoring of risks and the internal control systems have been
assessed.
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The crisis over the novel coronavirus ("COVID-19) outbreak emerged
since December 2019. Hong Kong is also affected by the outbreak
and has seen its economic sectors especially the travel agents and
the catering industries badly hit over the past three months. Similarly,
our Group experienced certain business disruption as some
construction works have been forced to delay for completion due to
the outbreak which impacted on the supply of workforce and the
ordinary operations of our customers and suppliers. Some of our
tender interviews and commencement of new projects were also
seriously delayed given a concern over personal healthcare. The
evolving situation caused us additional costs to procure extra
manpower and personal protective materials and equipment to
protect our operation teams. While the duration and severity of the
impact of the coronavirus outbreak remain uncertain, manpower and
resource allocation was arranged and various hygiene instructions
were issued in the headquarters to support the site operation. The
ISP team re-scheduled the working sequence and prepared to claim
EOT to mitigate the financial loss. At the same time, we have been
devoted to helping all subcontractors to buy Rapid Antigen Test kits
to reinforce daily testing of COVID-19. Everyone, including our
subcontractors, has to perform the antigen test daily, to ensure that
all workers in our sites remain negative testing for COVID-19. For
property and facility management business, some corporate client
projects required all attendance with vaccination or regular
COVID-19 test. The regular COVID-19 tests may increase the
operating costs given the associated expenses to be incurred for our
front line staff undertaking such tests. The operation team will
further communicate with the front line staff and encourage their
voluntary vaccination, which are less expensive for the Group and
more safety for the front line staff.

In 2021, no significant areas of concern that may affect the Group to
achieve strategic goals have been identified. The Board considered
that the risk management and internal control systems are
functioning effectively and adequately.

In addition, confirmation from management on the effectiveness of
the risk management and internal control systems of the Group was
received during the Reporting Year.

The Board has reviewed and is satisfied with the adequacy of
resources, staff qualifications and experiences, training requirements
and budgets of the Group’s accounting, financial reporting and 1A
functions.
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Integrity Monitoring Committee

Each of our staff is given clear guidelines and codes of standard in
the staff handbook with integrity being put as the first and foremost
code of conduct. A whistle-blowing-type channel which is
implemented by the Integrity Monitoring Committee is to provide
staff and contractors a channel to report issues which might cause a
significant financial loss to, or an adverse impact on the image of the
Company. The Integrity Monitoring Committee comprises the Senior
Quality Assurance Manager as chairman of the Committee, the
Senior Finance Manager and the Senior Human Resources Manager
as members.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR FINANCIAL
REPORTING

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the
consolidated financial statements which give a true and fair view of
the state of affairs of the Company and the Group on a going
concern basis. With the support of the accounting and finance
functions led by the Finance Director of the Group, the Directors
have ensured that the consolidated financial statements for the
Reporting Year have been prepared in accordance with appropriate
accounting policies applied, if any, consistently save for those new
and amended accounting standards as disclosed in the notes to the
consolidated financial statements.

In preparing the interim and annual financial statements,
announcements and other financial disclosures required under the
Listing Rules, the Directors aim at presenting a balanced, clear and
understandable assessment of the Group’s position and prospects.
Financial information put before the Board for approval by
management is accompanied by sufficient explanation to enable the
Directors to make an informed assessment.

The independent auditor’s report, which contains the statement of
the external auditor about its reporting responsibilities on the
Company’s financial statements, is set out in pages 91 to 93 of this
annual report.
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AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

The fees paid/payable to BDO Limited, the Company’s external
auditor, for services rendered for the Reporting Year are set out as
follows:

FriZ AR

Services rendered

EZIRH
IRBIZ IR

Audit services
Non-audit services

SR BT <&

BEREFE  RARRINSRBEEBLE
EEEHMEFMARDARERBMD
8,/ R BARIIOT :

Fees paid/payable
B ELEA

HK$'000
BT T

2,350
148

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company Secretary is responsible for facilitating the Board
process, as well as communications among Board members. The
Company Secretary complied with all the qualifications under the
Listing Rules. The Company Secretary is Mr. Eric Chan Kwong Leung,
who is engaged and appointed by the Company from an external
secretarial services provider. The primary corporate contact person
at the Company during the Reporting Year was Ms. Mandy Hui Suk
Man, an Executive Director.

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS, INVESTOR RELATIONS
AND COMMUNICATIONS WITH SHAREHOLDERS

In addition to publishing interim and annual reports, announcements,
circulars, quarterly business updates and press releases, updates on
the Group’s developments are also provided on the Company’s
website which is updated in a timely manner.
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Procedures for directing Shareholders' enquiries to the
Board

Enquiries from Shareholders are welcome through the following
channels to the Company:

(i) by post to the Company’s Hong Kong principal place of
business at 3/F, Hay Nien Building, No.1 Tai Yip Street, Kwun
Tong, Kowloon, Hong Kong

(i) by telephone at (852) 2635 8290
(iii) by facsimile transmission to (852) 2811 8401
(iv) by email at investor@isp-hk.com.hk

(v) on the Company’s website at www.isp-hk.com.hk under “IR
Contact” of “Investor Relations”

An AGM is deemed as a forum for Shareholders to communicate
directly with the Board members. Notice of 20 clear business days
together with detailed agenda is given to Shareholders for the AGM
and 10 clear business days for all special general meetings of the
Company. Separate resolution is proposed at the AGM on each
substantially separate issue, including the election of each individual
director.

Procedures for Convening a Special General Meeting by
Shareholders

In accordance with the Bye-laws, any Shareholder holding not less
than one-tenth of the paid-up capital of the Company carrying the
right of voting at a general meeting shall have the right, by written
requisition served to the Board or the Company Secretary, to require
a special general meeting to be convened by the Board for
transaction of any business specified in such requisition. Any vote of
Shareholders at a general meeting must be taken by poll. The
chairman of meeting will explain the poll voting procedures at the
relevant general meeting.
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Procedures for Shareholders to Put Forward Proposals at
General Meetings

The following Shareholders are entitled to put forward a proposal
(which may properly be put to the meeting) for consideration at a
general meeting of the Company:

(i) any number of members representing not less than one-
twentieth of the total voting rights of the Company on the date
of the requisition; or

(i) not less than 100 members holding shares in the Company.

The requisition specifying the proposal, duly signed by the
Shareholders concerned, together with a statement of not more than
1,000 words with respect to the matter referred to in the proposal
must be deposited at the Company’s principal place of business in
Hong Kong at 3/F, Hay Nien Building, No.1 Tai Yip Street, Kwun
Tong, Kowloon, Hong Kong. The Company would take appropriate
actions and make necessary arrangements, and the Shareholders
concerned would be responsible for the expenses incurred in giving
effect thereto in accordance with the requirements under Sections
79 and 80 of the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda once valid
documents are received.

CONTINUOUS CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
ENHANCEMENT

The Board is committed to continuous corporate governance
enhancement including giving closer attention to any regulatory
changes with a view to maintaining a corporate culture built on ethics
and integrity and increasing Shareholder value as a whole.
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INVESTOR RELATIONS

The English name of the Company has been changed from Synergis
Holdings Limited” to “ISP Holdings Limited” and the Chinese name
HEERR B R 2 A" has been adopted as the secondary name of the
Company (the “Change of Company Name”).

UE

The Change of Company Name was approved by the shareholders of
the Company at the special general meeting of the Company held on
23 December 2021. The Certificate of Change of Name and the
Certificate of Secondary Name were issued by the Registrar of
Companies in Bermuda on 23 December 2021. The Certificate of
Registration of Alteration of Name of Registered Non-Hong Kong
Company was issued by the Registrar of Companies in Hong Kong on
5 January 2022 confirming the registration of the new name of the
Company in Hong Kong under Part 16 of the Companies Ordinance
(Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong).

Save as disclosed above, there is no significant change in the
Company’s constitutional documents during the Reporting Year.
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HIGHLIGHTS OF 2021 ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND

GOVERNANCE REPORT
2021 FiRis

As a responsible corporate citizen, we believe in doing well while
doing good. We understand that stable and responsible corporate
development can only be achieved when sustainability becomes the
cornerstone of the business. Furthermore, various environmental and
social issues may constitute risks that threaten the Group’s
sustainable development, but the act of venturing to solve such
issues may lead to new business opportunities. Hence, to foster
company longevity and growth, the Group commits to integrating

HEMELREHE
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sustainability principles into every facet of the business.

The Company’s standalone 2021 Environmental, Social and $”‘ﬂ§’ﬁ_‘2§’]2021$£§1ﬁ e EEs (IR
Governance (“ESG’) report has been prepared to communicate our HEHER D HREEEEENFETREM
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sustainability-related visions, commitments, policies and
performances. It adheres to the “Mandatory Disclosure
Requirements” and “Comply or Explain” provisions of the ESG
Reporting Guide under Appendix 27 of the Listing Rules on the Stock
Exchange.
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Below are some key highlights of the Company’s 2021 ESG
performance:

Our Sustainable Development .

RANTHEARE

Committed to performing different stakeholder engagement exercises and
materiality assessment regularly to ensure our existing priorities, strategies
and policies align with stakeholders’ expectations, sustainability-related
risks and opportunities.

o  EHTHETTRBNHELZ2HEZHMNEEZ MG  UBREREMRENE
EHEF KABERFEFNENREUREAFEZEREFNRR
s -

Business .

RiEE

Incorporated ESG-related issues and risks, such as climate change,
customer satisfaction, supply chain management and talent retention into
our Enterprise Risk Management in order to reduce the possibility of risks
occurrence and their potential impact. This also strengthens our decision-
making process and allows us to focus on long-term value creation.

o BIRE - g RERAEENEERERAARMOEERREIERIESR -
BRERRAKEE BEREE HESBEBENMATREZHE  AEFEEHE
A B ) AT e 1 Ko HL & o JEININGR T B AFIEVRFKEIR - IR A
REEIREIERREE -

?/Eu

Customers .

DE-F RS

Established mechanism for handling and managing complaints and requests,
ensuring that all customers’ complaints and requests are dealt with in a
timely and professional manner.

e RATENEREMBIEIEFOMS  RESEEHE
FRANFARE o
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HIGHLIGHTS OF 2021 ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND
GOVERNANCE REPORT

2021 FIRIR - LELRERRERE

People . Developed effective employee communication channels to maintain

N workplace harmony, encourage innovation, increase inter-departmental
cooperation and help manage a diverse workplace.

s RBUAMWEIBBERE UESIIESAOME - Er ASBIAIRT -
EINEPIEE S EX BN EIRZ T TS o

Community . Continued to use “Sharing Love” as our theme to participate different

=2 ER community investment activities in order to express our sincere care and
concern to all walks of life.

o HEN[HEER]ABRMNEE DETENMLERERE  RSRKE
BMEHWBEEMEE -

Partners D Included “Environmental Protection” section in the contract with our
BHESHE suppliers to encourage them to take environmental measures in their
operations.

- HGEEHARAMNARTES T(REFRE) BN  @CMEEEEFET

RIFE -

Environment . Coordinated the Water Supplies Department and promoted the installation
RIEEE of flow controllers on taps to improve water-saving efficiency.

o BKKBEANE  MEEKERLLZEHIKS  NESHKEE -

Please visit the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange to

IR TEARRZ 2021 F8BE - £ & REA
download the full version of the Company’s 2021 ESG report. 2
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The Directors present their report and the consolidated financial
statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2021 (the
“Reporting Year”).

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The
principal activities of the Company’s subsidiaries are the provision of
property and facility management business and ISP Business in Hong
Kong and China. Particulars of the principal subsidiaries of the
Company are set out in Note 36 to the financial statements.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

Details of segment information are set out in Note 7 to the financial
statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

Details of the business review information are set out in the section
headed “Management Discussion and Analysis” on pages 10 to 29 of
this annual report.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

The Directors consider that environmental protection is essential to
the long-term development of the Group and will constantly improve
management practices so as to minimise waste, maximise efficiencies
and reduce the Group's negative environmental impact on the
environment.

For details, please refer to the Company's standalone “2021
Environmental, Social and Governance Report”.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

The Group recognises the importance of compliance with regulatory
requirements and the risk of non-compliance with such requirements.
The Group has been allocating system and staff resources to ensure
ongoing compliance with relevant rules and regulations.

The Group’s operations are mainly carried out by the Company’s
subsidiaries in Hong Kong, China and Macau while the Company
itself was incorporated in Bermuda and listed on The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) in Hong Kong. Our
establishment and operations accordingly shall comply with relevant
laws and regulations in Hong Kong, Bermuda, China and Macau.
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To ensure compliance with the Competition Ordinance, the Group
has conducted trainings for staff. The Group also steps up measures
to increase safety awareness amongst the management and staff to
prevent accidents in contravention with safety regulations.

RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

Various risks that the Company may face have been disclosed in the
Corporate Governance Report and the Notes to the Financial
Statements on pages 55 to 58 and pages 135 to 142 of this annual
report respectively.

RELATIONSHIPS WITH EMPLOYEES, CUSTOMERS
AND SUPPLIERS

The Group ensures all staff are reasonably remunerated and the
Company regularly reviews and improves its policies on remuneration
and benefits, training, occupational health and safety.

The Group maintains a good relationship with its customers. A
customer complaint handling mechanism is in place to receive,
analyse and study complaints and make recommendations on
remedies with the aim of improving service quality.

The Group is in good relationship with its suppliers and conducts a
fair and strict appraisal of its suppliers.

For details, please refer to the Company's standalone “2021
Environmental, Social and Governance Report”.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the Reporting Year are set out in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income on pages 94 to 95; and the state of affairs of the Group and
of the Company as at 31 December 2021 are set out in the
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position on pages 96 to 97; and
Statement of Financial Position and Change in Equity of the Company
are set out on Note 34 to the financial statements.

The Board did not recommend the payment of interim dividend for
the period ended 30 June 2021 (2020: nil). To preserve funds for the
operation and business development of the Company, the Board did
not recommend the payment of final dividend for the Reporting Year
(2020: nil).
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DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has adopted a dividend policy (the “Dividend Policy”),
pursuant to which the Company may declare and distribute dividends
to the Shareholders to allow shareholders to share the Company’s
profits and for the Company to retain adequate reserves for future
growth. In proposing any dividend payout, the Board shall also take
into account, among others, the Group’s actual and expected financial
performance, operating results, cash flow, financial condition and
capital requirements, Shareholders’ interests, contractual covenants,
general business conditions and strategies, possible effects on the
Group’s creditworthiness, state of economy and other factors that
the Board deems appropriate.

Such declaration and recommendation of dividends shall be
determined at the sole discretion of the Board and are subject to the
restrictions under the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda, the Bye-
laws and any other applicable laws, rules and regulations.

The Company will review the Dividend Policy from time to time and
reserves the right in its sole and absolute discretion to update, amend
and/or modify the Dividend Policy. The Dividend Policy shall not
constitute a legally binding commitment by the Company and there is
no assurance that dividends will be paid in any particular amount in
any given period.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group and of the
Company during the Reporting Year are set out in the Consolidated
Statement of Changes in Equity on page 98 and in Note 34 to the
Financial Statements respectively.

FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the operating results and of the assets and liabilities of
the Group for the last four financial years and for the Reporting Year
is set out on page 197. This summary does not form a part of the
financial statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT, AND
INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment, and
investment properties of the Group during the Reporting Year are set
out in Note 17 and Note 18 to the financial statements respectively.
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SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the share capital of the Company during the
Reporting Year are set out in Note 29 to the financial statements.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

Distributable reserves of the Company at 31 December 2021,
calculated under the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda, amounted to
HK$nil (31 December 2020: HK$15,506,000).

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Bye-laws
although there is no restriction against such rights under the laws of
Bermuda.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the Reporting Year and up to the date of this
report were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Kingston Chu Chun Ho (Chairman)

Ms. Mandy Hui Suk Man*
(Deputy Chairman and Managing Director for the property and facility
management business)
(resigned with effect from 9 January 2022)

Non-executive Director

Mr. Lam Chun Kit (appointed with effect from 16 February 2022)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Lau Man Tak
Mr. Eric Lee Hon Man
Mr. To Chun Wai (appointed with effect from 1 March 2021)

4 Ms. Mandy Hui Suk Man resigned as an Executive Director, the Deputy Chairman
of the Board and Managing Director for the property and facility management
business with effect from 9 January 2022 due to her other career development.
She had confirmed that she had no disagreement with the Board and there was
nothing relating to her resignation that needs to be brought to the attention of
the shareholders of the Company or the Stock Exchange.
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The profiles of Directors who are in office as at the date of this
report are set out on pages 30 to 34 of this annual report.

The Company has received from each of its Independent Non-
executive Directors an annual confirmation of independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules, and considers that all the
Independent Non-executive Directors are independent in accordance
with the terms of the independence guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of
the Listing Rules.

RE-ELECTION OF RETIRING DIRECTORS

In accordance with Bye-laws 86(2), Mr. Lam Chun Kit shall hold office
only until the next following general meeting of the Company. He,
being eligible, has offered himself for re-election at the 2022 AGM.

In accordance with Bye-laws 87(1) and 87(2), Mr. Lau Man Tak and
Mr. Eric Lee Hon Man shall retire by rotation at the 2022 AGM, and
being eligible, have offered themselves for re-election at the 2022
AGM. Save for the aforesaid, the other remaining Directors would
continue in office.

The proposed re-election of Mr. Lau Man Tak and Mr. Eric Lee Hon
Man as Independent Non-executive Directors and Mr. Lam Chun Kit
as Non-executive Director was made in accordance with the
Nomination Policy of the Company and took into account a wide
range of diversity perspectives, including but not limited to (where
applicable) gender, age, cultural and educational background,
ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge, length of
services and independency, with due regard of the diversity
perspectives as set out under the Board Diversity Policy of the
Company.

The Board had assessed and reviewed the written confirmation of
independence of Mr. Lau Man Tak and Mr. Eric Lee Hon Man based
on the independence guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing
Rules and is satisfied that as at the date of this report, Mr. Lau Man
Tak and Mr. Eric Lee Hon Man remained independent in accordance
with Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.
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The Board is also of the view that Mr. Lau Man Tak, Mr. Eric Lee Hon
Man and Mr. Lam Chun Kit would bring to the Board their respective
perspectives, skills and experience, and can contribute to the
Company. The Board believes that their re-election to the Board of
the Company would be in the best interests of the Company and its
shareholders as a whole.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the Directors offering themselves for re-election at AGM
have entered into a service contract with the Company or any of its
subsidiaries which is not determinable within one year without
payment of compensation (other than statutory compensation).

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

Save for the agreements disclosed in the section headed “Continuing
Connected Transactions” below, there were no transactions,
arrangements and contracts of significance in relation to the Group's
business to which the Company’s subsidiaries, its holding companies
or its fellow subsidiaries was a party and in which any Director and
the Director’s connected party had a material interest, whether
directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of or at any time during the
Reporting Year.

DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS

Details of Directors’ emoluments are set out in Note 12 to the
financial statements.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save for disclosed in the sections headed “Share Option Scheme”,
“Convertible Securities, Options, Warrants or Similar Rights” and
“‘Substantial Shareholders’ Interests and Short Positions in the Shares
and Underlying Shares of the Company — Convertible Preference
Shares” of this report, the Company has not entered into any equity-
linked agreements during the Reporting Year.
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISIONS

Pursuant to the Bye-law 168, every Director or other officers of the
Company shall be entitled to be indemnified out of the assets of the
Company against all losses or liabilities which he/she may sustain or
incur in or about the execution of the duties of his/her office or
otherwise in relation thereto, and no Director or other officers shall
be liable for any loss, damages or misfortune which may happen to or
be incurred by the Company in the execution of the duties of his/her
office or in relation thereto, provided that this Bye-law shall only
have effect in so far as its provisions are not avoided by the
Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda. The Company has maintained
Directors and officers liability insurance during the Reporting Year.

BANK LOANS AND OTHER BORROWINGS

Analysis of bank loans and other borrowings of the Group as at 31
December 2021 is set out in Note 23 and Note 27 to the financial
statements.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES OF THE
COMPANY AND ITS ASSOCIATED
CORPORATIONS

As at 31 December 2021, none of the Directors or chief executive of
the Company had any interests or short positions in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO),
which were required: (a) to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO
(including interests and short positions which they are taken or
deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO): or (b) pursuant to
section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to
therein; or (c) to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the Model Code as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing
Rules.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

At the 2013 AGM, the shareholders approved the adoption of a new
share option scheme (the “Share Option Scheme”). Details of the
Share Option Scheme as required to be disclosed under Chapter 17
of the Listing Rules are set out below:
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Summary of the Share Option Scheme

(a)

(b)

Purpose of the Share Option Scheme

The Share Option Scheme is set up for the purpose of
recognising and motivating the contribution of the Eligible
Persons (as defined below) to the Company and/or any of its
subsidiaries and/or any Invested Entity (as defined below).

Participants of the Share Option Scheme

Eligible persons entitled to participate in the Share Option
Scheme (the “Eligible Persons”) include:

(i)

(iif)

(iv)

any employee (whether full time or part time) of the
Company, any of its subsidiaries, or any entity in which
the Company or any of its subsidiaries holds an equity
interest (the “Invested Entity”); including any executive
director of the Company, any of its subsidiaries or any
Invested Entity and any employee employed or to be
employed by the Company, any of its subsidiaries or any
Invested Entity, whether in Hong Kong or in The People’s
Republic of China;

any non-executive director (including any independent
non-executive director) of the Company, any of its
subsidiaries or any Invested Entity;

any shareholder of the Company, any of its subsidiaries
or any Invested Entity or any holder of any securities
issued by the Company, any of its subsidiaries or any
Invested Entity who has, in the opinion of the Board,
made contribution to the business growth of the
Company, any of its subsidiaries or any Invested Entity;

any person or entity that provides research, development
or other technological support to the Company, any of its
subsidiaries or any Invested Entity;

any supplier of goods and/or services to the Company,
any of its subsidiaries or any Invested Entity;

any business collaborator, business consultant, joint
venture or business partner, or technical, financial, legal
and other professional advisers engaged by the Company,
any of its subsidiaries or any Invested Entity;
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(vii) any associate (as defined under the Listing Rules) of the
directors or the substantial shareholders of the Company,
any of its subsidiaries or any Invested Entity who has, in
the opinion of the Board, made contribution to the
business growth of the Company, any of its subsidiaries
or any Invested Entity; or

(viii) the trustee of any trust pre-approved by the Board, the

beneficiary (or in case of discretionary trust, the

discretionary objects) of which includes any of the above-
mentioned persons,

and, for the purposes of the Share Option Scheme, the options
may be granted to any company wholly owned by one or more
of the above Eligible Persons.

Maximum Number of shares available for issue under the
Share Option Scheme

At 2013 AGM, the scheme mandate limit for the Share Option
Scheme to allow the Company to issue a maximum of
33,200,000 options under the Share Option Scheme,
representing approximately 7.81% of the total number of
issued shares of the Company (i.e. 424,850,000 ordinary
shares) as at 29 March 2022.

As at 31 December 2021, there were no outstanding share
options and there were not any share options granted,
exercised, cancelled and lapsed under the Share Option
Scheme. As at the date of this report, the maximum number of
shares available for issue under the Share Option Scheme is
29,600,000, representing approximately 6.97% of the total
number of issued shares of the Company (i.e. 424,850,000
ordinary shares) as at 29 March 2022.
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(d)

Maximum entitlement of each Eligible Person under the Share
Option Scheme

No option may be granted to any one Eligible Person in any
12-month period which, if exercised in full, would result in the
total number of shares already issued to such Eligible Person
under all the options previously granted to him/her which have
been exercised and, issuable to him/her under all the options
previously granted to him/her which are for the time being
subsisting and unexercised, exceeding 1% of the share capital
of the Company in issue on the last date of such 12-month
period unless being approved by the shareholders of the
Company in a general meeting.

Where any proposed grant of option to a substantial
shareholder or an independent non-executive director of the
Company, or any of their respective associates (as defined in
the Listing Rules), would result in the shares issued and to be
issued upon exercise of all options already granted (including
options exercised, cancelled and outstanding) and to be granted
to such person in the 12-month period up to and including the
date of the proposed grant:

(i) representing in aggregate over 0.1% of the total number
of shares in issue for the time being; and

(i)  the aggregate value of which, based on the closing price
of the shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily
quotation sheet on the date of the proposed grant, is in
excess of HK$5.0 million, such proposed grant of option
shall be subject to the prior approval of the shareholders
of the Company at a general meeting in which all
connected persons for the time being of the Company (if
any) (except where any connected person intends to vote
against the proposed grant of option and his/her
intention to do so has been stated in the circular) shall
abstain from voting at such general meeting and at which
any vote taken shall be taken on a poll.

(d)

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
FEGRE

BRESEEATEULSERALTTER
Bz LR

R PAMES 128 B BRI A R ER — L& &
RALTRE 2 BREBEZHTER - &
BYZAERALTREEEERETRE
ZPTBREREmMERITORD - Bk
ERDARERITE A BERENZEA
THEIT 2D - AFTAZIBRBRNZ 128
ARERR-BZARRERITRAZ
1% > AT A AZAERALTREEHEE
Pt HERARFRRNBERAS L4t
HERIERSN

HAARBZ EBBRRIBULIFAITE
EFRREFSAZEMBEA(ERR LT
MR R L ERE - MKEEBNE
= (RER)ZHKH AL 12 @A #ifE
AZALTERE (BRERETE - FHERR
1T 2 BB RURE) SR 2 PR R AR i 1
TEMERIT R TREIT 2D

() AHERERSHTROERZ

=
0.1% : &

(i) MREAEZSEHEASBIAELZ
BARERMERD 2 W EE
& @{EE G 5000,0007T
AR ERASES
ARIREARE AT EHE - A
NRERAEREAL(INE)T
BREZBEAS EREERIEE
REZERLEREREZTEEE
EK AR R B H = A M (T BEE A LBk
IN) c REZBRE RS EARERR
HREITRR

AMRERABRIAF =

A

Tt R




DIRECTORS’ REPORT

i

=

(e)

(f)

(g)

(h)

PoaRSEESERID |- N-G:S:=L | MIETED . =

WS

Period for and payment on acceptance of an option

An offer for grant of an option must be accepted by an Eligible
Person (and by no other person) in respect of all the shares for
which the offer is made. Acceptance shall be made by such
Eligible Person by signing and returning the duplicate of the
offer letter together with the payment of a consideration of
HK$1.00 for such grant to the Company within the time period
specified in the offer letter.

The basis of determining the subscription price

The subscription price in respect of any option granted under
the Share Option Scheme shall be a price determined by the
Board and notified to each grantee and shall not be less than
the highest of (i) the nominal value of a share; (i) the average of
the closing prices of the shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotation sheets for the five business days
immediately preceding the date on which an offer for grant of
an option (the “New Offer Date”) is made to an Eligible Person;
and (i) the closing price of the shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotation sheet on the New Offer Date which
must be a business day, provided that the subscription price
shall be rounded upwards to the nearest whole cent.

Minimum period for holding an option before exercise

There is no minimum holding period for which an option must
be held before exercise pursuant to the Share Option Scheme.
The commencement date of the period during which an option
may be exercised shall be specified by the Board in the relevant
offer letter.

Remaining life

The Share Option Scheme shall be valid and effective for a
period of ten years commencing on 17 June 2013, the date of
adoption of the Share Option Scheme, unless otherwise
terminated in accordance with the rules of the Share Option
Scheme.
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DIRECTORS’ RIGHT TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

During the Reporting Year, the Company has the Share Option
Scheme pursuant to which options may be granted, inter alia, to the
Directors.

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Share Option Scheme”
above, at no time during the Reporting Year was the Company, its
holding company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any
arrangements to enable the Directors or their spouses or children
under the age of 18 to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition
of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other body
corporate.

DIRECTOR’S INTEREST IN COMPETING BUSINESS

None of the Directors (excluding Independent Non-executive
Directors) nor their respective associates had any interest in business
which competes or is likely to compete, either directly or indirectly,
with the business of the Group for the Reporting Year.

CONVERTIBLE SECURITIES, OPTIONS, WARRANTS
OR SIMILAR RIGHTS

Convertible Preference Shares

The Company issued and allotted 80,000,000 convertible preference
shares (“CPSs”), as part of the consideration for the acquisition of ISP
Business in late 2012. The CPSs may be convertible into the ordinary
shares at HK$0.75 per share subject to satisfaction of the minimum
public float requirements under the Listing Rules. As at 31 December
2021 and up to the date of this report, none of the CPSs was
converted nor redeemed.

Convertible Bonds

The Company placed the convertible bonds in an aggregate principal
amount of HK$42,000,000 (the “Convertible Bonds”) on 18
November 2019 pursuant to the placing agreement dated 24
October 2019 (the “Placing”) by the placing agents to six placees,
being individual and corporate investors who are independent third
parties and are not connected with the Company as well as its
connected persons, whereby the Convertible Bonds may be
convertible into a maximum of 84,000,000 conversion shares based
on the initial conversion price of HK$0.50 per conversion share upon
exercise in full of the conversion rights attaching to the Convertible
Bonds.
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The gross and net proceeds from the placing amounted to
approximately HK$42,000,000 and HK$41,000,000 respectively.
The net issue price for the Placing is approximately HK$0.49 per
conversion share. The net proceeds from the Placing were fully used
as the general working capital of the Group according to the purpose
of the Placing. The details of the Placing are set out in the
announcements of the Company dated 24 October 2019 and 18
November 2019 as well as Note 27 to the financial statements.

On 29 April 2021, the Convertible Bonds were redeemed in full.
Following the redemption, there was no principal amount outstanding
under the Convertible Bonds and no Convertible Bonds have been or
will be converted into ordinary shares of the Company.

Save as above and other than the share option scheme described in
the section headed “Share Option Scheme” above, the Company had
no outstanding convertible securities, options, warrants or similar
rights as at 31 December 2021. There was no issue or exercise of
any convertible securities, options, warrants or similar rights during
the Reporting Year.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contract concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company was
entered into or existed during the Reporting Year.

RETIREMENT SCHEMES

The Group participated in mandatory provident fund schemes in
Hong Kong and in the municipal government contribution scheme in
China. Particulars of the retirement schemes are set out in Note 4(g)(iii)
to the financial statements.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTSAND FEBRFERRALQTKRHO R EBRKR G P
SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES AND BZREZRAR
UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE COMPANY

As at 31 December 2021, the following person/entity (other than & E2021%F 128318 @ BEB A RBPEK
Directors or chief executive of the Company) had or were deemed or  ffl5E 336 &R AR BT HFEZ T BRFEEZ R
taken to have interests or short positions in the shares and underlying A E &M ([ = EREERM ) FEsE - 751
shares of the Company as recorded in the register of interests and A=+ E5 (AARES S ITHERBRIN) AA
short positions of substantial shareholders (the “Register of R FIRM RIBFERMD PGS EE A ER
Substantial Shareholders”) required to be kept by the Company %A :

pursuant to section 336 of the SFO:

Long Positions in the Shares and Underlying Shares of the REQXF RGO REBERD ZHR
Company

(@) Ordinary Shares (@) EHBERKMH

Approximate
percentage of

Number of interests in the
ordinary total number of
Name of Shareholders Capacity shares held issued shares
HERT
FEZEER R EE
BREEH 54 BB E BAEER DL
(Note (ii)
(GEID)
Chu Yuet Wah (“Mrs. Chu”) Interests of controlled corporation 225,518,633 53.08%
TRE(ZLL)) LR R (Note (i)
(B &E ()
Champ Key Holdings Limited Beneficial owner 225,518,633 53.08%
(“Champ Key") EmEAA
Notes: Bt E
(i) Champ Key being a company wholly-owned by Mrs. Chu is deemed to be (i) BIEEE GG - Champ Key (FL+2
a controlled corporation of Mrs. Chu under the SFO. BRMAZARWEATZ L2 ZIEE -
(ii) There were 424,850,000 ordinary shares of the Company in issue as at (ii) RATEE2021%12 31 B Z 2 31TL5
31 December 2021. R %15 % 424,850,000 % °

SHBEBRERAR » —E- —FER 079
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(b) Convertible Preference Shares

(b)

ERELR

Approximate

Number of percentage of
convertible interests in the
preference total number of
Name of Shareholders Capacity shares held issued shares
B E&IT
BFEZAER R EHZ
R ETE 54 BERKRGEE BB
(Note (ii))
(B & (i)
Mrs. Chu Interests of controlled corporation 80,000,000 100%
Tt REEE R (Note (1))
(H=EG)
Champ Key Beneficial owner 80,000,000 100%
EmEAA
Notes: B E
(i) The Company issued and allotted 80,000,000 CPSs to Smart Lane (i) KA B][ASmart Lane Holdings Limited([ Smart
Holdings Limited (“Smart Lane’), as part of the consideration for the Lane ]) 817 & it # 80,000,000 i% °] #3218 %
acquisition of ISP business in late 2012. As disclosed in the joint &A% - ERR 2012 FF R EANER K
announcement of Champ Key and the Company dated 30 November BETRIE B ¥ 75 2 DR E o 40 Champ Key
2016, Champ Key (a company wholly-owned by Mrs. Chu) as the offeror EARGIBHA20165F 11 A0B 2HARA
entered into the sale and purchase agreement with Smart Lane as the EREE - AT L2 E#AE 2 A8 Champ
vendor of the sale and purchase of 169,116,777 ordinary shares and the Key(fEAZ# A ) B Smart Lane ({EA B &
80,000,000 CPSs. Champ Key being a company wholly-owned by Mrs. 169,116,777 B& & 38 % 5% 80,000,000 A% 7] &
Chu is deemed to be a controlled corporation of Mrs. Chu under the SFO. BEEBR BRIV EE R - BEEFR
HIE KB - Champ Key (FXLT2EHEZ A
ADWARBRFE L L 2 RITHIEE -
(ii) There were 80,000,000 CPSs of the Company in issue as at 31 December (i) AARBE2021F12A31 B 2B &7 8%
2024, B S AR AR 19 A 80,000,000 % ©
Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2021, the Directors B EXFT#RE & 9N - 1R2021F 12 A31 8 -

BERWERBEMAL EEB(ARAESFR
TTERABERR M) AR R R0 S ARRBE R 1 P 8
BRI ERBEERENARAREESLPE
EOIFE B HATHREZTERRERM2E
A AR SORE

were not aware of any persons/entities (other than Directors or chief
executive of the Company) who/which had or were deemed or taken
to have any other interests or short positions in the shares or
underlying shares of the Company as recorded in the Register of
Substantial Shareholders required to be kept by the Company
pursuant to section 336 of the SFO.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
Renewal of Continuing Connected Transactions

The terms of the 2017 General Business Services Master Agreement
and the 2018 ISP Works Master Agreement as well as the annual
caps for continuing connected transactions thereunder expired on 31
December 2019. In order for the Group to continue to provide
general business services and ISP works to Mrs. Chu and/or her
associates, the Company and Mrs. Chu entered into the General
Business Services Master Agreement and the ISP Works Master
Agreement on 17 December 2019, each for a term of three years
commencing from 1 January 2020 to 31 December 2022 (both days
inclusive).

During the Reporting Year, the Company and/or its subsidiaries had
entered into the following continuing connected transactions which
are subject to annual review and reporting requirements under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules:

(a)

General Business Services Master Agreement

Pursuant to the General Business Services Master Agreement
dated 17 December 2019, Mrs. Chu and/or her associates may
engage the Group to provide general business services. The
annual cap under the General Business Services Master
Agreement for the Reporting Year was HK$6,600,000. Details
of the transaction were summarised below and disclosed in the
announcement of the Company dated 17 December 2019.

Connected
person(s) Particulars

it

Terms

AR

Date of agreement(s)

% B H

BEAL

BIRECEERSBSRERGRIE

sEETRE
BERERS
BEEFERBRS
2017 F —MEBRE L 1HEN 2018 FEAE
i R AR IE B TR0 5 VIR A B BRIt #E 7T

MNPBEEHIZINEE LREN2019F 12 A
31HEH - AFEAEEEERNTLLIRK
H AR A TR — RS RA R = NS R
RIEE T2 - AR RJEZFZ 1K 2019F 12 B
7RI —MEBRELIHERERNEH KR
FrERIE B TRA % S AMHIR A 202045
1A1HZE2022F 12 A31 B(BEEREMRX)

AH=F -

RBEFER - ARA R/ HEHBRRET
SN THNAEEST EMRE VAEZ FEELR
FRARE MR ERER S -

—REBRBK AT Z
RIEHBAA20194 12817 B0 — 3

(a)

BRI EGZE TR HHEBEA
AREARERE-REBKRE - #E

WEFE  E—MREBRELHETH
F[Z R ABE 6,600,000 ° X HEIE
R TRBERARQNT BB A2019F 12
A17BMRAERHE -

Nature and extent of the
connected person’s interest

BEATRENEREE

Annual
consideration

FERE

Annual cap

EELR

Mrs. Chu General Business The period from Mrs. Chu and/or her associates to HK$6,600,000 HK$1,740072  Mrs. Chu s a substantial
Services Master 1 January 2020 to engage the Group for providing shareholder and controlling
Agreement dated 31 December 2022 the general business services, shareholder of the Company
17 December 2019 (both days inclusive) including but not limited to, the and hence, a connected person
property and assets management, under the Listing Rules.
real estate advisory services,
fitting-out works, renovation
works, general consultancy and
other ancillary services
G AER019F12A7R BANFIA1ERE  FREIR/FEBRATZE  BB6600000r BE1740072n FRLAFRAZEERRR
L HEBRBARE 20025128318 AEERE—REBRS ERER - AfALTRAT
BE(EFEERME)  ARETRRYERAEER ZEEAL
RREFARE - REIR
HAIR  —REARAL
H8R%
SMERERAF = —B--FEH
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(b)

PSS REESRED N GS=L-| MG TED:: =
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ISP Works Master Agreement

Pursuant to the ISP Works Master Agreement dated 17
December 2019, Mrs. Chu and/or her associates may engage
the Group for providing ISP Works on a non-exclusive basis.
The annual cap under the ISP Works Master Agreement for the
Reporting Year was HK$8,000,000. Details of the transaction
were summarised below and disclosed in the announcement of
the Company dated 17 December 2019.

Connected
Date of agreement(s) Terms Particulars

{558 B 28 HR it

person(s)

BEAL

Mrs. Chu ISP Works Master The period from Mrs. Chu and/or her associates to
Agreement on 1 January 2020 to engage the Group for providing
17 December 2019 31 December 2022 ISP Works
(both days inclusive)
25t BEA09F AR B0NF1A188E  FRLR/FHBEAZE
JENEHRERER  2002512831A REEREEREH IR
TR HR(BEERRA) BRIRE

(b)

78800000070

HK$8,000,000

ERREMRSHRIEE TRAH S

BIFEHEA2019F 12 A17HNERE
MHERENEEIRERR =L
N/ SREBBEANZEAEEZIEBR
EEREZTNRMRIGHREE T2 - &
EREFE  EEREMREREBEEL
248 T FE LR A 8,000,000
T RPABR TRALELERAAT AE
A2019F 12 A 17 B AERAHE -

Nature and extent of the
connected person’s interest

BEALRENEREE

Annual
consideration

EERE

Annual cap

FELR

HK$2,883000  Mrs. Chuis a substantial
shareholder and controlling
shareholder of the Company
and hence, a connected person
under the Listing Rules.

FRTRARAZEERER
ERER - AmALTRAT
LEEAL -

7%%2,8830007C

The Directors (including the Independent Non-executive
Directors) have reviewed and confirmed that all the continuing
connected transactions mentioned above conducted in the
Reporting Year were entered into on the following basis:

(i) in the ordinary and usual course of the business of the
Group;

(i) on normal commercial terms or better; and
(i) according to the relevant agreements governing these
transactions on terms that are fair and reasonable and in

the interests of the shareholders of the Company as a
whole.
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The Company’s auditor was engaged to report on the Group’s
continuing connected transactions in accordance with Hong
Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 “Assurance
Engagements other than Audits or Reviews of Historical
Financial Information” and with reference to Practice Note 740
“Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions under
the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants. The auditor has issued an
unqualified letter containing the findings and conclusions in
respect of the continuing connected transactions disclosed by
the Group as above in accordance with Rule 14A.56 of the
Listing Rules. A copy of the auditor’s letter has been provided
by the Company to the Stock Exchange.

In addition, the auditor of the Company has confirmed to the
Board that nothing has come to their attention that causes
them to believe that the above continuing connected
transactions for the Reporting Year:

(i) have not been approved by the Board;

(i) were not, in all material respects, in accordance with the
pricing policies of the Group where the transactions
involve the provision of services by the Group;

(i)  were not entered into, in all material respects, in
accordance with the relevant agreements governing the
transactions; and

(iv) have exceeded the relevant annual caps as disclosed in
the respective previous announcements of the Company.

The Company has complied with the disclosure requirements in
accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules in respect of
the continuing connected transactions mentioned above.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The aggregate revenue attributable to the Group’s five largest
customers accounted for approximately 33.0% (31 December 2020:
38.3%) of the Group’s total revenue and the revenue attributable to
the Group's largest customer accounted for approximately 13.1% (31
December 2020: 11.7%) of the Group’s total revenue for the
Reporting Year.

The aggregate purchases attributable to the Group’s five largest
suppliers were less than 30% of the Group’s total purchases for the
Reporting Year (2020: less than 30%).

None of the Directors, any of their close associates, or shareholders
(which, to the best knowledge of the Directors, own more than 5% of
the Company’s issued share capital), had any beneficial interest in the
Group's five largest customers.

BANK BORROWINGS

The particulars of bank borrowings of the Group as at 31 December
2021 are set out in Note 23 to the financial statements.

DONATIONS

The Group donated HK$35,000 (2020: HK$37,000) for charitable
and other purposes during the Reporting Year.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the Reporting
Year.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Related party transactions of the Group are set out in Note 33 to the
financial statements. In relation to those related party transactions
that also constituted connected transactions or continuing connected
transactions of the Group as defined in the Listing Rules, the relevant
disclosure requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules have been complied with.
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PUBLIC FLOAT

At the date of this report, the Company has maintained the
prescribed public float under the Listing Rules, based on the
information that is publicly available to the Company and to the best
of knowledge of its Directors.

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the Reporting
Year were audited by BDO Limited who has expressed its willingness
to offer itself for re-appointment at the 2022 AGM.

A resolution will be proposed to the 2022 AGM to re-appoint BDO
Limited as the auditor of the Company for the ensuring year and to
authorize the Directors to fix its remuneration.

On behalf of the Board

Kingston Chu Chun Ho
Chairman

Hong Kong, 29 March 2022
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

B % B A RS

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF ISP HOLDINGS LIMITED
(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of ISP
Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (together the
“Group”) set out on pages 94 to 196, which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2021,
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and
notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary
of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2021, and of its consolidated financial performance and
its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”)
and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing (“HKSASs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the “Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements” section of our report. We are independent of the Group
in accordance with the HKICPA’s “Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants” (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we
do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Key audit matters identified in our audit are summarised as follows:

. Accounting for construction contracts — including revenue
recognition, and contract assets/liabilities; and

. Impairment assessment on receivables and contract assets.

ACCOUNTING FOR CONSTRUCTION CONTRACTS
INCLUDING REVENUE RECOGNITION, AND
CONTRACT ASSETS/LIABILITIES

Refer to Note 7 and Note 19 to the consolidated financial statements

For the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group recognised
revenue from construction contracts relating to the interiors and
special projects which totalled HK$419 million. The contract assets
and liabilities amounted to HK$140 million (after provision for
impairment of HK$973,000) and HK$497,000 respectively as at 31
December 2021.

The recognition of revenue for the Group’s construction contracts is
based on the progress towards complete satisfaction of the
performance obligation.

Progress towards complete satisfaction of the performance obligation
is determined by reference to work performed up to the end of the
reporting period. The management’s estimate of revenue and the
completion status of construction works requires significant
judgement and has a significant impact on the amount and timing of
revenue recognised.
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Our response:

We tested the key controls on how management measure the
progress towards complete satisfaction of the performance
obligation, including controls on estimated total contract revenue and
costs, budgeted margins, progress billings and progress payments of
contracts.

Our work in relation to management’s estimated total contract
revenue and costs, and budgeted margins focused on the following
procedures in relation to material construction contracts within the
Group:

. Discussing with the Group’s project managers for the status of
the projects, identifying any variations, claims and provision on
loss-making contracts, and obtaining explanations for
fluctuations in margins and the expected recovery of variations.

. Obtaining corroborative evidence, in relation to the above
points, by reviewing the project budgets, external architect’s
instructions, external architect’s certificates of work performed
and minutes of management’s regular internal meetings, on a
sample basis.

. Inspecting signed contracts, on a sample basis, to identify the
total contract sum and terms.

. Agreeing the progress towards complete satisfaction of the
performance obligation to the surveyors’ latest valuation and/
or external architects certificates.

o Testing the calculations of contract revenue, costs, and
construction contracts assets/liabilities.

. Where applicable, inspecting correspondence with the
customers and sub-contractors to obtain audit evidence on
variations from customers, claims from customers and sub-
contractors.

We found the assumptions made by management in relation to

construction contracts (including revenue recognition and contract
assets and liabilities) are supported by the audit evidence available.
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IMPAIRMENT ASSESSMENT ON RECEIVABLES
AND CONTRACT ASSETS

Refer to Note 19, Note 20 to the consolidated financial statements

The Group had receivables (representing account receivables,
retention receivables and other receivables) of HK$104 million (after
provision for impairment of HK$6 million) and contract assets of
HK$140 million (after provision for impairment of HK$973,000) as at
31 December 2021.

Receivables and contract assets of the Group are mainly in relation to
the Group’s business of interiors and special projects.

The recoverable amount is estimated by management based on their
specific recoverability assessment on individual counterparties with
reference to the aging profile, historical payment pattern, the past
record of default, forward-looking factors and assessment of their
financial position. Management would make specific provision against
individual balances with reference to the estimated recoverable
amount.

For the purpose of impairment assessment, significant judgements
and assumptions include specific recoverability assessment, the credit
risks of counterparty, the estimated timing and amount of future cash
flows for the determination of the impairment charge.

Our response:
We performed the following procedures in relation to the

recoverability of receivables and contract assets:

. Testing the accuracy of aging of trade receivables at year end
on a sample basis.

. Obtaining lists of outstanding receivables and contract assets,
and identifying any counterparty with potential financial
difficulty through discussion with management.
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. Assessing the recoverability of the unsettled receivables and
contract assets on a sample basis through our evaluation of
management’s assessment with reference to the credit profile
of the counterparties, historical payment pattern of the
counterparties, publicly available information and latest
correspondence with the counterparties and to consider if any
additional provision should be made.

. Testing subsequent settlement and contract work certification
of receivables and contract assets respectively after the end of
reporting date on a sample basis.

We found the key judgements and assumptions used by management
in the recoverability assessment of receivables and contract assets to
be supportable based on the available evidence.

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises the information included in the Company’s
2021 annual report, but does not include the consolidated financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in
the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based
on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report
that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with
HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control
as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have
no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors are also responsible for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process. The Audit Committee assists the directors
in discharging their responsibilities in this regard.

AUDITOR'’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. This report is made solely to you, as
a body, in accordance with the terms of our engagement, and for no
other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept
liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.
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As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

. identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those
risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher
than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or
the override of internal control.

. obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

. evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and
the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.

. conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to
draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures
in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures
are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may
cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

. evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves
fair presentation.
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. obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control
that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence,
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters
that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and
where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with the directors, we determine
those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period and are
therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be
expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

BDO Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Lee Ka Leung, Daniel
Practising Certificate Number P01220

Hong Kong, 29 March 2022
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS
AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

e M AR RS

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE2021 412 A1 BIEEE

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T BT IT
(Restated)
(&=75)

Continuing Operations FEREEL
Revenue g 7 430,651 385,597
Cost of sales and service $HE R ARFSAK AN (413,155) (420,096)
Gross profit/(loss) FH,(E8) 17,496 (34,499)
Other income and gain or loss E U AME R 8 8,272 8,752
General and administrative expenses —#% & 7TE R (36,754) (48,602)
Interest expenses FEFHZ 9 (2,878) (10,275)
Net allowances for impairment losses JEWBERN R A LEEZ

on receivables and contract assets  SF{EEIEREE A (243) (8,165)
Loss before taxation R A BT 18 10 (14,107) (92,789)
Taxation I8 14 (1,339) (6,482)
Loss for the year from FARERFELEEBNER

Continuing Operations (15,446) (99,271)
Discontinued Operations SRIEER
Profit for the year from FRREERIEES R T

Discontinued Operations 13A 35,058 113,484
Profit for the year attributable to  Z<2 TR #EFH A FE(S

equity holders of the Company FREF 19,612 14,213

Other comprehensive (loss)/income: Eftt 2 (&i8) k3 :

Items that will not be reclassified to E# S T@EHOERERZ

profit or loss: HH :
Actuarial loss on long service RRBeBEHEEEBE

payment liabilities (999) (1,186)
ltems that may be subsequently AHERSEHOEEEGEIER ¢

reclassified to profit or loss:
Exchange differences on translating E GINEREA ZEH =5

foreign operations 882 1,795
Other comprehensive (loss)/income & RE#2H (F518), W

for the year (117) 609
Total comprehensive income for AATREZEAELRER

the year attributable to equity ZEIKNSEEE

holders of the Company 19,495 14,822

[SPAHOLDINGS LIMITED ®m 2021 ANNUAL REPORT



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS
AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

AeBEm N EMERE NS

For the year ended 31 December 2021
EHZE 2021 12 B 31 BILEE

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$'000
BETT BETIT

(Restated)
(&=71)

Total comprehensive (loss)/income Z2 T R#ERZE ABGEUT
for the year attributable to equity FiIB2ERE2E

holders of the Company arises (BB) W=

from

— Continuing Operations — FEEEER (14,574) (97,855)

— Discontinued Operations — BRIEER 34,069 112,677
19,495 14,822

From Continuing Operationsand HREREKLERR

Discontinued Operations

BRI

Earnings per share attributable to ~ Z<2 B R HE A FE(L
the equity holders of the Company &EKRZX|

— basic (HK cents) — AR GEEAL) 16 4.6 3.3
— diluted (HK cents) — 858 (BrL) 16 3.9 2.8
From Continuing Operations REFEREELK

Losses per share attributable to the Z<72 TR #EH A FE(S

equity holders of the Company BRERE
— basic (HK cents) — EARGBEAL) 16 (3.6) (23.4)
— diluted (HK cents) — BEE (Bl 16 (3.1) (19.7)




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
FINANCIAL POSITION
AR e MR R

As at 31 December 2021
M 202112 A31H

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$'000

BB T BETT

Non-current assets kRBEE
Property, plant and equipment LE R Y] 17 4,039 18,420
Investment properties wEMZE 18 - 6,800
Deferred tax assets RETRIEE = 28 268 1,167
Totalnon-currentassets FnmeERE® 4307 26,387
Current assets REBEE
Contract assets SREBE 19 139,628 90,337
Receivables FEURBREZX 20 104,348 270,259
Deposits and prepayments & RIERHIE 2,906 25,272
Taxation recoverable Al Y B 18 96 106
Cash and cash equivalents HeMRE&EE 21 82,661 205,082
Pledged bank deposits/time deposits DI TFERREIEA B
with original maturities over BB=EA 2 BTN
three months 21 - 10,755
329,639 601,811
Assets classified as held for sale SEAFELEERE 13B 188,017
Totalcurrentassets nEBEERE 517,656 601,811
Current liabilities REBEE
Payables and accruals FENERRIETER 22 265,673 345,630
Contract liabilities aHaE 19 497 13,583
Bank loans RITEK 23 - 64,000
Convertible bonds AR ES 27 - 38,912
Lease liabilities HEAE 24 1,901 7,652
Amount due to the Disposed Group S EEEFKIE 25 333 =
Taxation payable PR IR 9 6,662
268,413 476,439
Liabilities classified as held for sale DEAFBIEHEARE 13B 87,457
Total current liabilities nBAfes 355870 476439
Net current assets RBEEFE 161,786 125,372
Total assets less current liabilities EEAERRBESE 166,093 151,759

m [SPAHOLDINGS LIMITED ®m 2021 ANNUAL REPORT



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

ARE BRI R

As at 31 December 2021
M 2021 F 12 A31 A

2021 2020
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
MtaE BT T BT T
Non-current liabilities ERBERS
Long service payment liabilities RRBESAE 26 133 1,516
Lease liabilities HERE 24 854 4,376
Deferred tax liabilities FEERIEAE 28 129 385
Total non-current liabilities Fnmafmes 0 1116 6277
Net assets BEEFE 164,977 145482
Equity attributable to equity holders 722 TR #EFHE AE(RER
of the Company
Share capital R 29 50,486 50,486
Reserves e 30 114,491 94,996
Total equity EREE 164,977 145,482

The notes on pages 100 to 196 are an integral part of these
consolidated financial statements.

The financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors on
29 March 2022 and were signed on its behalf.

Kingston Chu Chun Ho
KB
Chairman

=]

F100EF 196 B 2 MItE BZEEHRE M HRE
ZHRE D o

SRR EEEZTSN2022F3 29 Bt &
FHUATATREEE -

Lam Chun Kit
PR R

Non-executive Director
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHARNGES RNl ]
GAMNBEDE

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE2021 412 A1 BIEEE

Attributable to equity holders of the Company

EERADTREREA
Equity
component Retained
of earnings/
Share Share Merger Exchange convertible  (accumulated Total
capital premium reserve reserve honds losses) Equity
TEREF2 REER/
R (E BHHfE EifRE ERSs (REtER) ERaE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
:FT_E %#HZT_[ %%:FT_[ fam:FT[ fEm:FT[ rﬁﬁr’g:\:ﬁ
At 1 January 2021 R2021%51A8 18 50,486 185,420 1513 (729) 5,180 (96,388) 145,482
Profit for the year ERET - - - - - 19,612 19,612
Other comprehensive Et2ERS/(B8) -
income/(loss):
Actuarial loss on long service RERKEEEL
payment liabilities BEBE - - - - - (999) (999)
Exchange differences on BERNEBEEL
translating foreign operations ERER - - - 882 - - 882
Total other comprehensive £t 2Eks/ (58
income/(loss) fek:] - - - 882 - (999) (117)
Total comprehensive income 2 ENRAE - - - 882 - 18,613 19,495
Early redemption of AR ATARES
convertible bonds - - - - (5,180) 5,180 -
At 31 December 2021 R2021F12A31H 50,486 185,420 1,513 153 - (72,595) 164,977
At 1 January 2020 R2020F1A81AR 50,486 185,420 1,513 (2,524) 5,180 (109.415) 130,660
Profit for the year FEREF - - - - - 14,213 14,213
Other comprehensive Etn2mEkE/ (B8) :
income/(loss):
Actuarial loss on long service RRBLakEL
payment liabilities REER - - - - - (1,186) (1,186)
Exchange differences on BEENEREE L
translating foreign operations ERER = - - 1,795 - - 1,795
Total other comprehensive £t 2mElE/ (B8)
income/(loss) o - - - 1,795 - (1,186) 609
Total comprehensive income et - - - 1,795 - 13,027 14,822
At 31 December 2020 R2020512A31H 50486 185420 1513 (729) 5,180 (96,388) 145482
The note on pages 100 to 196 are an integral part of these S 100EF 196 B v st A% ERE MBHRE

ZHERRED

consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
REREMRER

For the year ended 31 December 2021
EHZE 2021 12 B 31 BILEE

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Operating activities R
Cash generated from operations IR IR E A VIR 31(a) 9,051 177,506
Interest received B WF B 250 890
Interest paid BEAIFE (1,607) (7,053)
Income taxes paid BATATISEL (14,392) (4,495)
Net cash (used in)/generated from  E&¥K (EH) ELf2
operating activities BEFEE (6,698) 166,848
Investing activities REXEK
Purchase of property, plant BEME - EE KRG
and equipment (1,203) 3,506
Proceeds from disposal of property, — HEYE - R LR
plant and equipment P53k 18 26 302
Drawdown of pledged bank B IEFRTER
deposits/time deposits over REHARBR=EA
three months TEHRTF X (506) &
Release in pledged bank deposits/ fERREIRIFRI TR
time deposits over three months REHARBRA=EA
EHFR 10,000 716
Net cash generated from/(used in) REEKEL (R 2
investing activities RE&FHE 8,317 (2,488)
Financing activities Al A 31(b)
Drawdown of bank loans FARITER 85,000 105,000
Repayment of bank loans EERITER (149,000) (172,000)
Repayment of convertible bonds BEABRRES (42,000) =
Repayment of principal portion of EREERRZASED
the lease liabilities (9,349) (10,866)
Net cash used in financing activities REXKEAZRLEE (115,349) (77,866)
Net (decrease)/increase in cash HERBASZECRD) 18
and cash equivalents ZFE (113,730) 86,494
Cash and cash equivalents at the FUzREMREEE
beginning of the year 205,082 116,873
Exchange gain on cash and Re RIF S EE 2B KR
cash equivalents 1,112 iL,745
Cash and cash equivalents FERZRERHALEE
at the end of the year 92,464 205,082

The note on pages 100 to 196 are an integral part of these

consolidated financial statements.
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GENERAL INFORMATION

ISP Holdings Limited (the “Company”), formerly known as
Synergis Holdings Limited, was incorporated in Bermuda under
the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda as an exempted company
on 4 August 2003. The address of its registered office is
Clarendon House, 2 Church Street, Hamilton, HM 11, Bermuda.
The Company’s shares were listed on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) on 9 October 2003.

The principal business of the Group is engaged in the provision
of property and facility management services, ancillary business
and interiors and special projects in Hong Kong and China.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in
thousands of Hong Kong dollars (HK$), unless otherwise stated,
and were approved for issue by the Board on 29 March 2022.

ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)

(a) Adoption of new/revised standards — effective 1
January 2021

The HKICPA has issued a number of new or amended
standards, interpretations and amendments to standards
that are first effective for the current accounting period
of the Group:
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—RER
FEERERAR(TARTF LD - AIESE
EERBR AR - R2003F8 H4B 1R
B1981 FEFEERANEAL AR EEMK
VRERRAT BRI A
Clarendon House, 2 Church Street,
Hamilton, HM 11, Bermuda ° &2 FIA% {5
F2003F 10 A9 BEBAMAERZAE
PRAR([EERRFT]) £ o

AEEZETBXZHER/RBERTEER
RERHEDEMREEERT WYX
B AR BN R IRIR B 5 -

BB ETIBFEIN - NERB T IEIRE S
BT ITER - WER 20224 3 A 29 B
ERSPETIE -

RMBEREPRREEN(EETE
HEA )
() BRAFET RETER - R
20211 A1B4ER

EEEMASERMEZENEAE
B EE AT s A B R FTR]
HAEIEFT - RERERIER] -

Amendments to HKFRS 9, HKAS 39,
HKFRS 7, HKFRS 4 and HKFRS 16

BAMBHREERNE IR - BAESH
HRIE 395% - BB B E LR
FE75  ABMBREENE4HRR
BBMBHREERE 1698 (1BR])

Interest Rate Benchmark Reform — Phase 2

FRERENE -~ F MR

Amendment to HKFRS 16
BB R EERE 1655 (1BF])

Covid-19 Related Rent Concessions beyond 30 June 2021
20219 6 A30 B 2 & wF B A HHEE S EE

The amended standards that are effective from 1 January
2021 did not have any material impact on the Group’s
accounting policies.

The Group has early adopted the amendment to HKFRS
16. The adoption of the amendment to HKFRS 16 did not
have any significant impact on the Group’s financial
positions and performance for the current and prior
years.
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(b)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

New/revised standards that have been issued but (b)

are not yet effective

The following new/revised standards, potentially relevant
to the Group’s financial statements, have been issued, but
are not yet effective for the current financial year. The
Group’s current intention is to apply these changes on
the date they become effective. These standards are not
expected to have a material impact on the entity in the B
current or future reporting periods and on foreseeable

future transactions.
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S
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Amendments to HKAS 1
BEAGERE 15 (BF])

Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current®

BEDERRDHIERD°

Amendments to HKAS 1 and
HKFRS Practice Statement 2
ARG EAE 1R EAT RS
R EHRESE 25 (1BF])

Disclosure of Accounting Policies®
EHEENRE

HK Interpretation 5 (2020)
BEREESH(2020%F)

Presentation of Financial Statements — Classification by the Borrower
of a Term Loan that Contains a Repayment on Demand Clause®

MBHRE 227 — BERAHBERERKEREXNERERNDR®

Amendments to HKAS 8
EAGERE SR (BF])

Definition of Accounting Estimates®

SHBEER’

Amendments to HKAS 12
BEAGRERE 125 (B5])

Deferred Tax Related to Assets and Liabilities Arising from
a Single Transaction®

HE-QHELCBERARIERCETRE

Amendments to HKAS 16
BAGTERE 165 (B3T)

Property, Plant and Equipment — Proceeds before Intended Use!

ME - W RRE - RERTERE < PrSsUa!

Amendments to HKAS 37
BAGFERIZE 37 % (B3T)

Onerous Contracts — Cost of Fulfilling a Contract

BRESH - BITANZRA!

HKFRS 17
BEMBREENE 175

Insurance Contracts®
RBAH?

=0

Amendments to HKFRS 3
BERBERELRE 35K (1B5])

Reference to the Conceptual Framework?
BaER Rl

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28
BAVBKHRELAE0R R
BB GRERIE 2857 (183])

Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its Associate or
Joint Venture*

REEREBENAZAELE ANEENEITE"

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2018-2020
BERMBHELN 2018 FE 2020F
BH FEHE

Amendments to IFRS 1, IFRS 9, IFRS 16 and IAS 41"
BB BmEERE 15 ERNBRERAFE IR - BRMBERE
ERIE 16 KBRS ERE 4158 (1BE]) !

1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022.
MW2022F 1 A1 AFtAsk 2 BB 2 FEHMER
2 Effective for business combinations for which the date of

acquisition is on or after the beginning of the first annual period
beginning on or after 1 January 2022.
WEEREIA2022F 1 A1 BFtask 2 & FMis 2 B EFE sz

REVEREOIER -
s Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023.
202351 A1 BRAZ&RBZ FERMER -
4 The amendments shall be applied prospectively to the sale or

contribution of assets occurring in annual periods beginning on
or after a date to be determined.
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3.

PoaRSEESERID |- N-G:S:=L | MIETED . =

BASIS OF PREPARATION

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

Statement of compliance

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with all applicable HKFRSs, Hong
Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations
(hereinafter collectively referred to as the “HKFRSs”) and
the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance. In addition, the consolidated financial
statements include applicable disclosures required by the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”).

Basis of measurement

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared under the historical cost basis, except for
investment properties and certain financial instruments
that are measured at fair values, at the end of each
reporting period, as explained in the accounting policies
set out below.

Use of estimates and judgements

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in
conformity with HKFRSs requires the use of certain
critical accounting estimates. It also requires management
to exercise its judgement in the process of applying the
Group's accounting policies. The areas involving a higher
degree of judgement or complexity or areas where
assumptions and estimates are significant to the
consolidated financial statements are disclosed in note 6.

Functional and presentation currency

The financial statements are presented in Hong Kong
dollars (“HK$”), which is the same as the functional
currency of the Company. All values are rounded to the
nearest thousand except when otherwise indicated.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(a)

Business combination and basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements comprise the
financial statements of the Group. Inter-company
transactions and balances between group companies
together with unrealised profits are eliminated in full in
preparing the consolidated financial statements.
Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the
transaction provides evidence of impairment on the asset
transferred, in which case the loss is recognised in profit
or loss.

The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during
the year are included in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income from the
effective dates of acquisition or up to the effective dates
of disposal, as appropriate. Where necessary, adjustments
are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to
bring their accounting policies in line with those used by
other members of the Group.

Acquisition of subsidiaries or businesses is accounted for
using the acquisition method. The cost of an acquisition is
measured at the aggregate of the acquisition-date fair
value of assets transferred, liabilities incurred and equity
interests issued by the Group, as the acquirer. The
identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed are
principally measured at acquisition-date fair value. The
Group's previously held equity interest in the acquiree, if
any, is re-measured at acquisition-date fair value and the
resulting gains or losses are recognised in profit or loss.
The Group may elect, on a transaction-by-transaction
basis, to measure the non-controlling interests that
represent present ownership interests in the subsidiary
either at fair value or at the proportionate share of the
acquiree’s identifiable net assets. All other non-controlling
interests are measured at fair value unless another
measurement basis is required by HKFRSs. Acquisition-
related costs incurred are expensed unless they are
incurred in issuing equity instruments in which case the
costs are deducted from equity.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B %5 R R P o

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the
acquirer is recognised at acquisition-date fair value.
Subsequent adjustments to consideration are recognised
against goodwill only to the extent that they arise from
new information obtained within the measurement period
(a maximum of 12 months from the acquisition date)
about the fair value at the acquisition date. All other
subsequent adjustments to contingent consideration
classified as an asset or a liability are recognised in profit
or loss.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the gain or
loss on disposal is calculated as the difference between (i)
the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration
received and the fair value of any retained interest and (ii)
the previous carrying amount of the assets (including
goodwill), and liabilities of the subsidiary and any non-
controlling interest. Amounts previously recognised in
other comprehensive income in relation to the subsidiary
are accounted for in the same manner as would be
required if the relevant assets or liabilities were disposed
of.

Subsequent to acquisition, the carrying amount of non-
controlling interests that represent present ownership
interests in the subsidiary is the amount of those interests at
initial recognition plus the non-controlling interest’s share of
subsequent changes in equity. Total comprehensive income
is attributed to non-controlling interests even if this results
in the non-controlling interest having a deficit balance.
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(b)

(c)

(d)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an investee over which the Company is
able to exercise control. The Company controls an
investee if all three of the following elements are present:
power over the investee, exposure, or rights, to variable
returns from the investee, and the ability to use its power
to affect those variable returns. Control is reassessed
whenever facts and circumstances indicate that there
may be a change in any of these elements of control.

In the Company’s statement of financial position,
investments in subsidiaries are stated at cost less
impairment loss, if any. The results of subsidiaries are
accounted for by the Company on the basis of dividend
received and receivable.

Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent
with the internal reporting provided to the chief operating
decision maker. The chief operating decision maker, who
is responsible for allocating resources and assessing
performance of the operating segments and making
strategic decisions.

Investment properties

Investment property is held for long-term rental yields or
for capital appreciation or both, and is not occupied by
the companies in the Group.

Investment property is measured initially at its cost,
including related transaction costs. After initial
recognition, investment property is carried at fair value.
Fair value is revaluated bi-annually based on active
market prices, adjusted for any necessary difference in
the nature, location or condition of the specific asset.

The fair value of investment property reflects, among
other things, rental income from current leases and
assumptions about rental income from future leases in
the light of current market conditions. Changes in fair
values are recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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(e)

PoaRSEESERID |- N-G:S:=L | MIETED . =

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at historical
cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment
losses. Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly
attributable to the acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in each asset’s carrying
amount only when it is probable that there is future
economic benefit to the Group and the cost of the item
can be measured reliably. The carrying amount of the
replaced part is derecognised. All other repairs and
maintenance are charged to the statement of profit or
loss during the financial period in which they are incurred.

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is
calculated using the straight-line method based on
estimated useful lives, as follows:

Leasehold improvements
Motor vehicles
Furniture and equipment

Over the lease period
25%-33% per annum
10%-50% per annum

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed,
and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each reporting
period. An assets’ carrying amount is written down
immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset’s
carrying amount is greater than its estimated recoverable
amount (note 6(a)).

The gain or loss on disposal of an item of property, plant
and equipment is the difference between the net sale
proceeds and its carrying amount, and is recognised in
profit or loss on disposal.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(f)  Financial Instruments

(i)

Financial assets

A financial asset (unless it is an account receivable
without a significant financing component) is initially
measured at fair value plus, for an item not at fair
value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”), transaction
costs that are directly attributable to its acquisition
or issue. An account receivable without a significant
financing component is initially measured at the
transaction price.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial
assets are recognised on the trade date, that is, the
date that the Group commits to purchase or sell the
asset. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases
or sales of financial assets that require delivery of
assets within the period generally established by
regulation or convention in the market place.

Financial assets with embedded derivatives are
considered in their entirely when determining
whether their cash flows are solely payment of
principal and interest.

Debt instruments

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments
depends on the Group’s business model for
managing the asset and the cash flow
characteristics of the asset. There are three
measurement categories into which the Group
classifies its debt instruments:

Amortised cost: Assets that are held for collection
of contractual cash flows where those cash flows
represent solely payments of principal and interest
are measured at amortised cost. Financial assets at
amortised cost are subsequently measured using
the effective interest rate method. Interest income,
foreign exchange gains and losses and impairment
are recognised in profit or loss. Any gain on
derecognition is recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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Fair value through other comprehensive income BAFEFTAEMEE K
(“FVOCLI”): Assets that are held for collection of ([ AFEFAEMEEY
contractual cash flows and for selling the financial m) BEREENESR
assets, where the assets’ cash flows represent solely ERHESHEEZEE "
payments of principal and interest, are measured at WZEEEREREMEEX
fair value through OCI. Debt investments at fair NARSRFHE - AlRAFE
value through other comprehensive income are STAEMEEKETE - 17
subsequently measured at fair value. Interest income AEEFAEMEZEKER
calculated using the effective interest rate method, BEBEEER®IE R FER
foreign exchange gains and losses and impairment 2 -RABBRMNEEFED
are recognised in profit or loss. Other net gains and B A -~ [N U s & & 18
losses are recognised in other comprehensive AR EN B HER - H i
income. On derecognition, gains and losses WakEEFERNEMER
accumulated in other comprehensive income are TR - REMmE2EmRE
reclassified to profit or loss. BRI RSB ER I TE
REEMHOEEEE -
Fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL"): Financial BAFEFAEBZ([EAFE
assets at fair value through profit or loss include Bt ABm ) BAFEER
financial assets held for trading, financial assets AERZeRMEEBREIFE
designated upon initial recognition at fair value EEZCREE  RYILHE
through profit or loss, or financial assets REEEZR A FE ABR
mandatorily required to be measured at fair value. ZEMEE - R ERIR
Financial assets are classified as held for trading if NFEEFEZEMEE ° W
they are acquired for the purpose of selling or CRUEE AN BELSK
repurchasing in the near term. Derivatives, including BOEMmmIEE  BIES%E
separated embedded derivatives, are also classified ABREEE - fTAETA(BHE
as held for trading unless they are designated as BErler AXOTETR) Iy 48
effective hedging instruments. Financial assets with BEEEE  BRIEHETEA
cash flows that are not solely payments of principal BB T ABERG - B
and interest are classified and measured at fair EREWIIEERE S KT E
value through profit or loss, irrespective of the NRZEMEE TimHE
business model. Notwithstanding the criteria for B - 9% A FEE
debt instruments to be classified at amortised cost ABRDHERFE - BT L
or at fair value through other comprehensive XA R E R T A A i
income, as described above, debt instruments may SHAC A S iz A FEET A HA
be designated at fair value through profit or loss on R E DB ZIZE - M
initial recognition if doing so eliminates, or REEBR B ER D a8
significantly reduces, an accounting mismatch. fic - BIERS T A AR Y40
REIETE AR ATFEFARE
.
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(ii)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Equity instruments

On initial recognition of an equity investment that
is not held for trading, the Group could irrevocably
elect to present subsequent changes in the
investment’s fair value in other comprehensive
income. This election is made on an investment-by-
investment basis. Equity investments at fair value
through other comprehensive income are measured
at fair value. Dividend income are recognised in
profit or loss unless the dividend income clearly
represents a recovery of part of the cost of the
investments. Other net gains and losses are
recognised in other comprehensive income and are
not reclassified to profit or loss. All other equity
instruments are classified as FVTPL, whereby
changes in fair value, dividends and interest income
are recognised in profit or loss.

Impairment loss on financial assets and contract
assets

The Group recognises loss allowances for expected
credit loss (“ECL") on account receivables, contract
assets, and financial assets measured at amortised
cost. The ECLs are measured on either of the
following bases: (1) 12 months ECLs: these are the
ECLs that result from possible default events within
the 12 months after the reporting date: and (2)
lifetime ECLs: these are ECLs that result from all
possible default events over the expected life of a
financial instrument. The maximum period
considered when estimating ECLs is the maximum
contractual period over which the Group is exposed
to credit risk.

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of credit
losses. Credit losses are measured as the difference
between all contractual cash flows that are due to
the Group in accordance with the contract and all
the cash flows that the Group expects to receive.
The shortfall is then discounted at an approximation
to the assets’ original effective interest rate.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B 75 R B =

The Group has elected to measure loss allowances
for account receivables and contract assets using
HKFRS 9 simplified approach and has calculated
ECLs based on lifetime ECLs. The Group has
established a provision matrix that is based on the
Group’s historical credit loss experience, adjusted
for forward-looking factors specific to the debtors

and the economic environment.

For other debt financial assets, the ECLs are based
on the 12-month ECLs. However, when there has
been a significant increase in credit risk since
origination, the allowance will be based on the

lifetime ECLs.

Significant increase in credit risk

When determining whether the credit risk of a
financial asset has increased significantly since initial
recognition and when estimating ECL, the Group
considers reasonable and supportable information
that is relevant and available without undue cost or
effort. This includes both quantitative and
qualitative information analysis, based on the
Group’s historical experience and informed credit
assessment and including forward-looking

information.

The Group assumes that the credit risk on a
financial asset has increased significantly if it is
more than 30 days past due, unless the Group has
reasonable and supportable information that

demonstrates otherwise.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Despite the foregoing, the Group assumes that the
credit risk on a debt instrument has not increase
significantly since initial recognition if the debt
instrument is determined to have low credit risk at
the reporting date. A debt instrument is determined
to have low credit risk if i) it has a low risk of
default, ii) the borrower has a strong capacity to
meet its contractual cash flow obligations in the
near term and iii) adverse changes in economic and
business conditions in the longer term may, but will
not necessarily, reduce the ability of the borrower
to fulfil its contractual cash flow obligations.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of
the criteria used to identify whether there has been
a significant increase in credit risk and revises them
as appropriate to ensure that the criteria are
capable of identifying significant increase in credit
risk before the amount becomes past due.

Credit-impaired financial assets

The Group considers a financial asset to be credit-
impaired when: (1) the borrower is unlikely to pay
its credit obligations to the Group in full, without
recourse by the Group to actions such as realising
security (if any is held); or (2) the financial asset is
more than 90 days past due.

Interest income on credit-impaired financial assets
is calculated based on the amortised cost (i.e. the
gross carrying amount less loss allowance) of the
financial asset. For non credit-impaired financial
assets, interest income is calculated based on the
gross carrying amount.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B %5 R R P o

Definition of default BHEZE

The Group considers the following as constituting AEBRABUTER A

an event of default for internal credit risk EERRKREIER MM S EK

management purposes as historical experience EHNEH EBABTELERE

indicates that receivables that meet either of the BH7F & LA T (e — B (& 14 /Y

following criteria are generally not recoverable: JE R IE — AR A (D]

. when there is a breach of financial covenants . BEAERVIERY
by the debtor; or £19

e information developed internally or obtained . A BB EE A SR EER B SN ED
from external sources indicates that the RIRHER KA - B
debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors, including VNGV EEARES = IN
the Group, in full (without taking into account (BREAEE)2FEERK
any collaterals held by the Group). (TEEAEEIFZTEN

EHEER) ©

The Group considers that default has occurred AEBERAMWIEBEBEA

when a financial asset is more than 90 days past 90H @ BHB L BRIER

due unless the Group has reasonable and SEEAERUEERBETR

supportable information to demonstrate that a RERMENENEREE -

more lagging default criterion is more appropriate.

Write-off polic A B

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is ERERBETRNEBEARAR
information indicating that the debtor is in severe EOERNE - B EBERIK
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect [B] 3R I A ] RE RS (a0 5 05
of recovery, e.g. when the counterparty has been BB EAWERR) @ &
placed under liquidation or has entered into EEeMEemEE - &&f
bankruptcy proceedings. Financial assets written off FEBEBATREZEZER
may still be subject to enforcement activities under & BEMIEN S /& E R 82
the Group’s recovery procedures, taking into DA A& B E R P N
account legal advice where appropriate. Any SRHIETT o YK [El B9 (E fa] FRIE
recoveries made are recognised in profit or loss. RIEZENER -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the
probability of default, loss given default (i.e. the
magnitude of the loss if there is a default) and the
exposure at default. The assessment of the
probability of default and loss given default is based
on historical data adjusted by forward-looking
information as described above. As for the exposure
at default, for financial assets, this is represented by
the assets’ gross carrying amount at the reporting
date.

For financial assets, the ECL is estimated as the
difference between all contractual cash flows that
are due to the Group in accordance with the
contract and all the cash flows that the Group
expects to receive, discounted at the original
effective interest rate.

If the Group has measured the loss allowance for a
financial instrument at an amount equal to lifetime
ECL in the previous reporting period, but
determines at the current reporting date that the
conditions for lifetime ECL are no longer met, the
Group measures the loss allowance at an amount
equal to 12-month ECL at the current reporting
date, except for assets for which simplified
approach was used.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in
profit or loss for all financial instruments with a
corresponding adjustment to their carrying amount
through a loss allowance account.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B 75 R B =

(iii)

Financial liabilities

The Group classifies its financial liabilities,
depending on the purpose for which the liabilities
were incurred. Financial liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss are initially measured at fair
value and financial liabilities at amortised costs are
initially measured at fair value, net of directly
attributable costs incurred.

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
include financial liabilities held for trading and
financial liabilities designated upon initial recognition
as at fair value through profit or loss.

Financial liabilities are classified as held for trading
if they are acquired for the purpose of sale in the
near term. Derivatives, including separated
embedded derivatives, are also classified as held for
trading unless they are designated as effective
hedging instruments. Gains or losses on liabilities
held for trading are recognised in profit or loss.

Where a contract contains one or more embedded
derivatives, the entire hybrid contract may be
designated as a financial liability at fair value
through profit or loss, except where the embedded
derivative does not significantly modify the cash
flows or it is clear that separation of the embedded
derivative is prohibited.

Financial liabilities may be designated upon initial
recognition as at fair value through profit or loss if
the following criteria are met: (i) the designation
eliminates or significantly reduces the inconsistent
treatment that would otherwise arise from
measuring the liabilities or recognising gains or
losses on them on a different basis; (i) the liabilities
are part of a group of financial liabilities which are
managed and their performance evaluated on a fair
value basis, in accordance with a documented risk
management strategy; or (iii) the financial liability
contains an embedded derivative that would need
to be separately recorded.
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(iv)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Subsequent to initial recognition, financial liabilities
at fair value through profit or loss are measured at
fair value, with changes in fair value recognised in
profit or loss in the period in which they arise,
except for the gains and losses arising from the
Group’s own credit risk which are presented in
other comprehensive income with no subsequent
reclassification to the statement of profit or loss.
The net fair value gain or loss recognised in the
statement of profit or loss does not include any
interest charged on these financial liabilities.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities at amortised cost including
account and other payables, borrowings, and the
debt element of convertible bonds issued by the
Group are subsequently measured at amortised
cost, using the effective interest method. The
related interest expense is recognised in profit or
loss.

Gains or losses are recognised in profit or loss when
the liabilities are derecognised as well as through
the amortisation process.

Convertible bonds

Convertible bonds issued by the Group that contain
both the liability and conversion option components
are classified separately into their respective items
on initial recognition. Conversion option that will be
settled by the exchange of a fixed amount of cash
or another financial asset for a fixed number of the
Company’s own equity instruments is classified as
an equity instrument.

On initial recognition, the fair value of the liability
component is determined using the prevailing
market interest of similar non-convertible debts.
The difference between the proceeds of the issue
of the convertible bonds and the fair value assigned
to the liability component, representing the
conversion option for the holder to convert the
loan bonds into equity, is included in equity reserve.

(iv)

AMRERABRIAF =

75 R R P =

VX ERR - MDA FEFA
BEfEmEEERQFER
B AVEEHRESHL
HERBRER  EAKH
BEMEERRMEELK
@ MERRIN - mFRE R
FERAREMEEKRZS]
HEHM A AEF s BAEEA
Ko RBEZXBERNAFE
BRFEITEERZEER
B EWELZ EATFE -

BB AT ST A &
BEEKAGENERAR
B ¥E B A AR K S EL A B A 3R
A fERRAREETA
BREFHNEHKRD  HiR
150 P B R M) 2R O 92 B8 S R AR
B HEAMNBEFX N ER
FER -

AR FER B BB A S 0
BEPREBRERW S LE

B

R ES

AEEMBETERABRY
BEMB D 2 AT RES
RNFERARDBRES
HIEE - a0 3 M R E B A
BlE & BRSHBERAEM
MBEERBETEHRE 2K
RAIRATAZTAEESE
BN ERRATA -

RV EHERE - BEID 2
NP EZFEENA]RRER
ZBRITMGHEREE - #17
AR 75 2 PTG SRR S
ABEBEHD 2R FHEZRE (B
HBEABERES LR SE
o2 B ) Bt AR A o

A

Tt R




NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B 75 R B =

(v)

In subsequent periods, the liability component of
the convertible bonds is carried at amortised cost
using the effective interest method. The equity
component, represented by the option to convert
the liability component into ordinary shares of the
Company, will remain in equity component of
convertible bonds reserve until the embedded
option is exercised (in which case the balance
stated in equity component of convertible bonds
will be transferred to share capital and share
premium. Where the option remains unexercised at
the expiry dates, the balance stated in equity
component of convertible bonds reserve will be
released to the retained earnings. No gain or loss is
recognised upon conversion or expiration of the
option.

Transaction costs that relate to the issue of the
convertible bonds are allocated to the liability and
equity components in proportion to the allocation
of the proceeds. Transaction costs relating to the
equity component are charged directly to equity.
Transaction costs relating to the liability component
are included in the carrying amount of the liability
portion and amortised over the period of the
convertible bonds using the effective interest
method.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of
calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset or
financial liability and of allocating interest income or
interest expense over the relevant period. The
effective interest rate is the rate that exactly
discounts estimated future cash receipts or
payments through the expected life of the financial
asset or liability, or where appropriate, a shorter
period.
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(vi)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Derecognition

The Group derecognises a financial asset when the
contractual rights to the future cash flows in
relation to the financial asset expire or when the
financial asset has been transferred and the transfer
meets the criteria for derecognition in accordance
with HKFRS 9.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the
obligation specified in the relevant contract is
discharged, cancelled or expires.

Where the Group issues its own equity instruments
to a creditor to settle a financial liability in whole or
in part as a result of renegotiating the terms of that
liability, the equity instruments issued are the
consideration paid and are recognised initially and
measured at their fair value on the date the financial
liability or part thereof is extinguished. If the fair
value of the equity instruments issued cannot be
reliably measured, the equity instruments are
measured to reflect the fair value of the financial
liability extinguished. The difference between the
carrying amount of the financial liability or part
thereof extinguished and the consideration paid is
recognised in profit or loss for the year.

(g) Employee benefits

(i)

Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave and long
service leave are recognised when they accrue to
employees. It is the Group’s policy to forfeit any
untaken annual leave with a specific time period.
Subject to regular assessment of staff turnover rate,
a provision will be made or reversed. Employee
entitlements to sick leave and maternity leave are
not recognised until the time of leave. A provision is
made for the estimated liability up to the end of
reporting date.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B 75 R B =

(ii)

(iii)

Profit sharing and bonus plans

Provisions for profit sharing and bonus are made
for the estimated liability for incentive bonus as a
result of services rendered by employees up to the
end of reporting date, where there is a contractual
obligation or past practice that has created a
constructive obligation, and a reliable estimate of
the obligation can be made.

Retirement benefit

The Group participates in mandatory provident
fund schemes in Hong Kong which are defined
contribution plan generally funded through
payments to trustee — administered funds. The
assets of the schemes is held separately from those
of the Group in independently administered funds.

Pursuant to the relevant regulations of the
government in the People’s Republic of China
(“PRC”), the subsidiaries in PRC participates in the
municipal government contribution scheme
whereby the subsidiaries are required to contribute
to the scheme for the retirement benefit of eligible
employees. The municipal government of the PRC
is responsible for the entire benefit obligations
payable to the retired employees. The only
obligation of the Group with respect to the scheme
is to pay the ongoing contributions required by the
scheme. The Group'’s contributions to the scheme
are expensed as incurred.
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(iv)

(v)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Long service payment liabilities

The Group'’s net obligation in respect of long service
accounts payable on cessation of employment in
certain circumstances under the Hong Kong
Employment Ordinance is the amount of future
benefit that employees have earned in return for
their services in the current and prior periods. That
benefit is discounted to determine the present value
and reduced by entitlements accrued under the
Group’s retirement plans. The obligation is calculated
using the projected unit credit method by a qualified
actuary. Actuarial gains or losses was charged/
credited to the other comprehensive income.

Share option scheme

Where share options are awarded to employees
and others providing similar services, the fair value
of the services received is measured by reference
to the fair value of the options at the date of grant.
Such fair value is recognised in profit or loss over
the vesting period with a corresponding increase in
the share option reserve within equity. Non-market
vesting conditions are taken into account by
adjusting the number of equity instruments
expected to vest at the end of each reporting
period so that, ultimately, the cumulative amount
recognised over the vesting period is based on the
number of options that eventually vest. Market
vesting conditions are factored into the fair value of
the options granted. As long as all non-market
vesting conditions are satisfied, a charge is made
irrespective of whether the market vesting
conditions are satisfied. The cumulative expense is
not adjusted for failure to achieve a market vesting
condition.

Where the terms and conditions of options are
modified before they vest, the increase in the fair
value of the options, measured immediately before
and after the modification, is also recognised in
profit or loss over the remaining vesting period.

(iv)

(v)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B 75 R B =

(h)

PoaRSEESERID |- N-G:S:=L | MIETED . =

The Group also operates a phantom share option
scheme which is determined to be a cash-settled
share-based payment transaction with employees.
An option pricing model is used to measure the
Group’s liability at grant date and subsequently at
the end of each reporting period, taking into
account the terms and conditions on which the
bonus is awarded and the extent to which
employees have rendered service. Movements in
the liability (other than cash payments) are
recognised in profit or loss.

Foreign currency

Transactions entered into by the group entities in
currencies other than the currency of the primary
economic environment in which it/they operate(s) (the
“functional currency”) are recorded at the rates ruling
when the transactions occur. Foreign currency monetary
assets and liabilities are translated at the rates ruling at
the end of reporting period. Non-monetary items carried
at fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies
are retranslated at the rates prevailing on the date when
the fair value was determined. Non-monetary items that
are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign
currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of
monetary items, and on the translation of monetary
items, are recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which they arise. Exchange differences arising on the
retranslation of non-monetary items carried at fair value
are included in profit or loss for the period except for
differences arising on the retranslation of non-monetary
items in respect of which gains and losses are recognised
in other comprehensive income, in which case, the
exchange differences are also recognised in other
comprehensive income.
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(i)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

On consolidation, income and expense items of foreign
operations are translated into the presentation currency
of the Group at the average exchange rates for the year,
unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly during the
period, in which case, the rates approximating to those
ruling when the transactions took place are used. All
assets and liabilities of foreign operations are translated
at the rate ruling at the end of reporting period. Exchange
differences arising, if any, are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in equity as
exchange reserve. Exchange differences recognised in
profit or loss of group entities’ separate financial
statements on the translation of long-term monetary
items forming part of the Group'’s net investment in the
foreign operation concerned are reclassified to other
comprehensive income and accumulated in equity as
exchange reserve.

On disposal of a foreign operation, the cumulative
exchange differences recognised in the foreign exchange
reserve relating to that operation up to the date of
disposal are reclassified to profit or loss as part of the
profit or loss on disposal.

Impairment of assets (other than financial assets)

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews
the carrying amounts of the following assets to determine
whether there is any indication that those assets have
suffered an impairment loss or an impairment loss
previously recognised no longer exists or may have
decreased:

. property, plant and equipment; and
. investments in subsidiaries

If the recoverable amount of an asset is estimated to be
less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the
asset is reduced to its recoverable amount. An
impairment loss is recognised as an expense immediately,
unless the relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount
under another HKFRSs, in which case the impairment loss
is treated as a revaluation decrease under that HKFRSs.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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)

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset is increased to the revised
estimate of its recoverable amount, to the extent that the
increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying
amount that would have been determined had no
impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior
years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised as
income immediately, unless the relevant asset is carried at a
revalued amount under another HKFRSs, in which case the
reversal of the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation
increase under that HKFRSs.

Value in use is based on the estimated future cash flows
expected to be derived from the asset or cash generating
unit, discounted to their present value using a pre-tax
discount rate that reflects current market assessments of
the time value of money and the risks specific to the
asset or cash generating unit.

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain timing
or amount when the Group has a legal or constructive
obligation arising as a result of a past event, which it is
probable will result in an outflow of economic benefits
that can be reliably estimated.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be
estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a
contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow of
economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations, the
existence of which will only be confirmed by the
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future
events, are also disclosed as contingent liabilities unless
the probability of outflow of economic benefits is remote.
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(k)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Current and deferred income tax

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of
the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at the end of
reporting date in the countries where the Group’s entities
operate and generate taxable income. Management
periodically evaluates tax related situations and establishes
provisions where appropriate on the basis of amounts
expected to be paid to the tax authorities.

Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the liability
method, on temporary differences arising between the
tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying
amounts in the consolidated financial statements.
However, deferred income tax is not accounted for if it
arises from initial recognition of an asset or liability in a
transaction other than a business combination that at the
time of the transaction affects neither accounting nor
taxable profit or loss. Deferred income tax is determined
using tax rates and laws that have been enacted or
substantially enacted by the end of reporting date and
are expected to apply when the related deferred income
tax asset is realised or the deferred income tax liability is
settled.

Deferred income tax asset is recognised to the extent
that it is probable that future taxable profit will be
available against which the temporary differences can be
utilised.

Deferred income tax is provided on temporary
differences arising on investments in subsidiaries except
where the timing of the reversal of the temporary
difference is controlled by the Group and it is probable
that the temporary difference will not reverse in the
foreseeable future.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when
there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax
assets against current tax liabilities and when the deferred
income taxes assets and liabilities relate to income taxes
levied by the same taxation authority on either the
taxable entity or different taxable entities where there is

an intention to settle the balances on a net basis.

Current and deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss,
except to the extent that it relates to items recognised in
other comprehensive income or directly in equity. In this
case, the tax is also recognised in other comprehensive

income or directly in equity, respectively.

() Lease

(i)  The Group as a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and
measurement approach for all leases, except for
short-term leases and leases of low-value assets.
The Group recognises lease liabilities to make lease
payments and right-of-use assets representing the

right to use the underlying assets.

Right-of-use asset

The Group recognises right-of-use assets at the
commencement date of the lease (i.e. the date
which the underlying asset is available for use).
Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses,
and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease
liabilities. The cost of right-of-use assets includes
the amount of lease liabilities recognised, initial
direct costs incurred, and lease payments made at
or before the commencement date less any lease
incentives received. The right-of-use assets are also
subject to impairment. The Right-of-use assets are
depreciated on straight-line basis over the lease

terms.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Lease liability

Lease liabilities are recognised at the
commencement date of the lease at the present
value of lease payments to be made over the lease
term. The lease payments include fixed payments
(including in-substance fixed payments) less any
lease incentives receivable, variable lease payments
that depend on an index or a rate, and amounts
expected to be paid under residual value
guarantees. The lease payments also include the
exercise price of a purchase option reasonably
certain to be exercised by the Group and payments
of penalties for termination of a lease, if the lease
term reflects the Group exercising the option to
terminate the lease. The variable lease payments
that do not depend on an index or a rate are
recognised as an expense in the period in which the
event or condition that triggers the payment occurs.

In calculating the present value of lease payments,
the Group uses its incremental borrowing rate at
the lease commencement date because the interest
rate implicit in the lease is not readily determinable.
After the commencement date, the amount of lease
liabilities is increased to reflect the accretion of
interest and reduced for the lease payments made.
In addition, the carrying amount of lease liabilities is
remeasured if there is a modification (i.e. a change
in the lease term, a change in lease payments (e.g. a
change to future lease payments resulting from a
change in an index or rate) or a change in the
assessment of an option to purchase the underlying
asset).
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B 75 R B =

(ii)

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to its short-term leases (i.e. those leases
that have a lease term of 12 months or less from
the commencement date and do not contain a
purchase option). It also applies the lease of low-
value assets recognition exemption to leases of
office equipment that are considered to be low
value. Lease payments on short-term leases and
leases of low-value assets are recognised as
expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

The Group as a lessor

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the
terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks
and rewards of ownership of the leased assets to
the lessee. All other leases are classified as
operating leases.

The Group has leased out its investment property
to a number of tenants. Rental income from
operating leases is recognised in profit or loss on a
straight-line basis over the term of the relevant
lease. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and
arranging an operating lease are added to the
carrying amount of the leased asset and recognised
as an expense on the straight-line basis over the
lease term.

(m) Revenue and income recognition

Revenue comprises the fair value of the consideration

received or receivable for the sale of goods and services

in the ordinary course of the Group’s activities. Revenue

is shown net of returns and discounts and after
eliminating sales within the Group.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Revenue are recognised when or as the control of the
services or goods is transferred to the purchaser.
Depending on the terms of the contract and the laws that
apply to the contract, control of the services or goods
may transfer over time or at a point in time. Control of
the services or goods is transferred over time if the
Group's performance:

. provides all the benefits received and consumed
simultaneously by the purchaser; or

. creates or enhances an asset that the purchaser
controls as the Group performs; or

. do not create an asset with an alternative use to
the Group and the Group has an enforceable right
to payment for performance completed to date.

If control of the services or goods transfers over time,
revenue is recognised over the period of the contract by
reference to the progress towards complete satisfaction
of that performance obligation. Otherwise, revenue is
recognised at a point in time when the purchaser obtains
control of the asset.

The progress towards complete satisfaction of the
performance obligation is measured based on output
method that best depict the Group’s performance in
satisfying the performance obligation. The output method
is made reference to the gross value of contracting work
to date as compared to the total contract sum receivable
under the contracts.

An entity is a principal if it controls the promised good or
service before transferring it to the customer. An entity is
an agent if its role is to arrange for another entity to
provide the good or service.

In determining the transaction price, the Group adjusts
the promised amount of consideration for the effect of a
financing component if it is significant.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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Provision of services of property and facility
management

Property and facility management fees and other
supporting service fees are recognised when the services
are rendered and in accordance with the terms of
agreements. There are two types of agreement, namely
management remuneration contracts (“MR Contracts”)
and lump sum contracts (“LS Contracts”). Under a MR
Contract, the Group is remunerated based on a fixed
percentage of the costs involved in the management of
the property or facility, and only such fee is recognised as
the Group’s revenue. Under a LS Contract, the Group is
paid a lump sum fee which normally covers the costs
involved, thus the whole of lump sum fee is recognised as
the Group's revenue.

Provision of construction services

Under HKFRS 15, revenue from construction contracts is
recognised when or as the construction projects are
transferred to the customer. The control of the
construction projects transfer over time in accordance
with the terms of the contracts and the laws that are
applicable to the contracts. If construction projects create
or enhance an asset that the customer controls as the
asset is created or enhanced, the Group satisfies the
performance obligation over time and therefore,
recognises revenue over time in accordance with the
output method for measuring progress.

Where the outcome of a construction contract can be
estimated reliably, revenue and costs are recognised by
applying the stage-of-completion method of individual
contract with reference to the certificates issued by the
customers, measured based on the value of work
performed to date to the contract value. Variations in
contract work, claims and incentive payments are
included to the extent that the amount can be measured
reliably and its receipt is considered probable.

PoRSEESEEID |- N-G:S-=L | METED:: 2 20 2 1 A NIN'U-ALL RERORT

REMERREEERE

WMENRIEERE K& E MR RES
B ORI 167 5 16 R R 3t PR 7 B A
R BEOREEAME S (H
BEAMEEWND R2EERAEH
T28FAa0]) ME - RELE
ABERK - AEERKEZENEERY
KRR Z BEIE B 2 H U
RER REZSFERSHEA/AN
SEz2 Wz - REEZEEASL
AEBRN—FFIE  ZERE—
AR AT TS RAN - B B3R
THE R ASANEE 2 W o

R R

REFBMBREEMNF 155
BEAHVBAREERBEERTE
FRiER - Z5I8 B MIiTHERE
BRI ERNE QR)AREER
B o MREREAEHHRR
BEWRAIEHNREBE P A
MEE  ARERREREE R
R METT R AR IR - 1IRR &
RFERBUWA ©

i B EE G 49 2 PSR BE 59 1] St iy
i WaEEKARE2ERFAT
BB EF R TR E T UARE
R NDERESEREIIEMNER
HENBEZLLAEE AR
MEE  BRENESIAESHEEN
Al SEET = KR AR AT gL N EZ
ZEHNBRTAEAR



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The excess of cumulative revenue recognised in
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income over the cumulative billings to
customers is recognised as contract assets. The excess of
cumulative billings to customers over the cumulative
revenue recognised in consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income is recognised as
contract liabilities.

Variable consideration

For the consideration promised in a contract includes a
variable amount, the Group estimates the amount of
consideration to which the Group will be entitled in
exchange for transferring the promised services to a
customer.

The Group estimates an amount of variable consideration
by using either the expected value method or the most
likely amount method, depending on which method the
Group expects to better predict the amount of
consideration to which it will be entitled.

The estimated amount of variable consideration is
included in the transaction price only to the extent that it
is highly probable that such an inclusion will not result in
a significant revenue reversal in the future when the
uncertainty associated with the variable consideration is
subsequently resolved.

At the end of each reporting period, the Group updates
the estimated transaction price (including updating its
assessment of whether an estimate of variable
consideration is constrained) to represent faithfully the
circumstances during the reporting period.

Sale of goods

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when
control of the goods has transferred, being when the
products are delivered to the customer. A receivable is
recognised when the goods are delivered as this is the
point in time that the consideration is unconditional
because only the passage of time is required before the
payment is due.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B %5 R R P o

Operating lease rental income

Operating lease rental income is recognised on a straight-
line basis over the term of the lease.

Interest income

Interest income is recognised on a time proportion basis,
taking into account the principal amounts or refundable
deposits outstanding and the effective interest rates
applicable.

Contract assets and liabilities

A contract asset represents the Group’s right to
consideration in exchange for services that the Group has
transferred to a customer that is not yet unconditional. In
contrast, a receivable represents the Group'’s
unconditional right to consideration, i.e. only the passage
of time is required before payment of that consideration
is due.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to
transfer services to a customer for which the Group has
received consideration (or an amount of consideration is
due) from the customer.

Contract asset is recognised when (i) the Group
completes the construction works under such services
contracts but yet certified by architects, surveyors or
other representatives appointed by customers, or (ii) the
customers retain retention money to secure the due
performance of the contracts. Any amount previously
recognised as a contract asset is reclassified to account
receivables at the point at which it is invoiced to the
customer. If the considerations (including advances
received from customers) exceeds the revenue
recognised to date under the output method then the
Group recognises a contract liability for the difference.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(n) Related parties

(@)

(b)

A person or a close member of that person’s family
is related to the Group if that person:

(i)

(i)

(iii)

has control or joint control over the Group;

has significant influence over the Group; or

is a member of key management personnel of
the Group or the Company’s parent.

An entity is related to the Group if any of the
following conditions apply:

(i)

(iff)

(iv)

The entity and the Group are members of the
same group (which means that each parent,
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to
the others).

One entity is an associate or joint venture of
the other entity (or an associate or joint
venture of a member of a group of which the
other entity is a member).

Both entities are joint ventures of the same
third party.

One entity is a joint venture of a third entity
and the other entity is an associate of the
third entity.

The entity is a post-employment benefit plan
for the benefit of the employees of the Group
or an entity related to the Group.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B 75 R B =

(o)
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(vi)  The entity is controlled or jointly controlled
by a person identified in (a).

(vii) A person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of
key management personnel of the entity (or
of a parent of the entity).

(viii) The entity, or any member of a group of
which it is a part, provides key management
personnel services to the group or to the
group’s parent.

Close members of the family of a person are those family
members who may be expected to influence, or be
influenced by, that person in their dealings with the entity
and include:

(i) that person’s children and spouse or domestic
partner;
(i)  children of that person’s spouse or domestic

partner; and

(i)  dependents of that person or that person’s spouse
or domestic partner.

Government grant

Government grants are not recognised until there is
reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with the
conditions attaching to them and that the grants will be
received.

Government grants that are receivable as compensation
for wages and salaries already incurred or for the purpose
of giving immediate financial support to the Group with
no future related costs are recognised in profit or loss in
the period in which they become receivable and are
recognised as other income, rather than reducing wages
and salaries.
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(p)

(a)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Dividend distribution

Provision is made for the amount of any dividend
declared, being appropriately authorised and no longer at
the discretion of the entity, on or before the end of the
reporting period but not distributed at the end of the
reporting period.

Non-current assets held for sale and discontinued
operations

i)

Non-current assets (and disposal groups) are
classified as held for sale if their carrying amounts
will be recovered principally through a sale
transaction rather than through continuing use. This
condition is regarded as met only when the asset (or
disposal group) is available for immediate sale in its
present condition subject only to terms that are
usual and customary for sales of such asset (or
disposal group) and its sale is highly probable.
Management must be committed to the sale, which
should be expected to qualify for recognition as a
completed sale within one year from the date of
classification.

When the Group is committed to a sale plan
involving loss of control of a subsidiary, all of the
assets and liabilities of that subsidiary are classified
as held for sale when the criteria described above
are met, regardless of whether the Group will retain
a non-controlling interest in the relevant subsidiary
after the sale.

Non-current assets (and disposal groups) classified
as held for sale are measured at the lower of their
previous carrying amount and fair value less costs
to sell.
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Impairment losses on initial classification as held for 60 B AR EL S RIFE
sale, and on subsequent re-measurement while held H:' B2 REBEENTEMRE
for sale, are recognised in profit or loss. As long as a EBENERER  REIER
non-current asset is classified as held for sale, or is HEEDHEAFEL E_}Z.ﬁr
included in a disposal group that is classified as held ADHEBRELHENDLE
for sale, the non-current asset is not depreciated or B ERBEERT ?ﬁ%
amortised. oS o

i)  Discontinued operations i) CBRIEER
A discontinued operation is a component of the ERIEEBERNEBRERZ
Group'’s business, the operations and cash flows of M EREEB KRR
which can be clearly distinguished from the rest of EREAERNEBRTES
the Group and which represents a separate major Beo HAREBEVYMNEEX
line of business or geographical area of operations, e s E 3 EEB
or is a part of a single co-ordinated plan to dispose VR EEZERIL L L [®
of a separate major line of business or geographical ZE—EESE D
area of operations, or is a subsidiary acquired B A F A T W 2 B
exclusively with a view to resale. BAF] -
Classification as a discontinued operation occurs BEHENEEERFTEEN
upon disposal or when the operation meets the DEAFELE ZZE (IR
criteria to be classified as held for sale, if earlier. It BIBesBADRIEER-
also occurs if the operation is abandoned. B RE ETEEBRIAE o
Where an operation is classified as discontinued, a EREEBIBRERIE
single amount is presented on the face of the BlgRiEaRkRNIEE %(%E
statement of profit or loss, which comprises the 2% EfE: BERIEER
post-tax profit or loss of the discontinued operation 2B A K EE M2
and post-tax gain or loss recognised on the BRERIEER ZEESH
measurement to fair value less costs to sell, or on BRI 2 A FEREE KA
the disposal, of the assets or disposal group Rk SRR ZBRTE
constituting the discontinued operation. Wassk EiE -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

5.1 Financial risk factors

Risk management seeks to minimise any potential material
effects on the Group’s financial performance from the
following factors.

(@) Market risk

(i)

Foreign currency exchange risk

The Group mainly operated in Hong Kong
with most of the transactions settled in Hong
Kong dollar and did not have significant
exposure to risk resulting from changes in
foreign currency exchange rates.

Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to fair value interest
rate risk in relation to fixed-rate lease
liabilities. The Group is also exposed to cash
flow interest rate risk in relation to variable-
rate pledged bank deposits and bank balances.
The Group’s cash flow interest rate risk is
mainly concentrated on the fluctuation of
interest rates on pledged bank deposits and
bank balances.

The directors of the Company consider that
the overall interest rate risk is not significant
as the fluctuation of the interest rates on
pledged bank deposits and bank balances is
minimal. Accordingly, no sensitivity analysis is
prepared and presented.
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B 75 R B =

(b) Credit risk

The Group’s credit risk mainly arises from deposits,
cash and bank balances, contract assets and
receivables. Current policies ensure that sales and
services are made to customers with an appropriate
credit history and subject to periodic credit
evaluations. Collection of outstanding receivables is

closely monitored on an ongoing basis.

As at 31 December 2021, a provision of
approximately HK$5,856,000 (2020: HK$6,074,000)
and HK$973,000 (2020: HK$773,000) against
receivables and contract assets respectively based

on the impairment assessment.

In order to minimise the credit risk, the directors of
the Company are responsible for determination of
credit limits, credit approvals and other monitoring
procedures to ensure that follow-up action is taken
to recover overdue debts. Certain customers have
exceeded their respective credit terms during the
reporting. However, management does not expect
any significant losses from non-performance by
these counterparties because of their satisfactory
repayment history.

Starting from 1 January 2019, for trade receivables,
retention receivables and contract assets, the
Group has applied the simplified approach in
HKFRS 9 to measure the loss allowance at lifetime
ECL. The Group determines the ECL collectively by
using a provision matrix, estimated based on
historical credit loss experience, as well as the
general economic conditions of the industry in
which the debtors operate. In this regard, the
directors of the Company consider that the Group’s

credit risk is significantly reduced.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For other non-trade related receivables, the Group
has assessed whether there has been a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition. If
there has been a significant increase in credit risk,
the Group will measure the loss allowance based on
lifetime rather than 12-month ECL.

The credit risk associated with deposits and cash
and bank balances is limited because the
counterparties are bank with high credit rating.

The Group considers the probability of default upon
initial recognition of asset and whether there has
been a significant increase in credit risk on an
ongoing basis throughout the reporting period. To
assess whether there is a significant increase in
credit risk the Group compares the risk of a default
occurring on the asset as at the reporting date with
the risk of default as at the date of initial
recognition. It considers available reasonable and
supportive forwarding-looking information.
Especially the following indicators are incorporated:

— internal and external credit rating

—  actual or expected significant adverse changes
in business, financial or economic conditions
that are expected to cause a significant
change to the borrower’s ability to meet its
obligations

—  actual or expected significant changes in the
operating results of the borrower

— significant changes in the expected
performance and behaviour of the borrower,
including changes in the payment status of
borrowers in the Group and changes in the
operating results of the borrower
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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The Group's exposure to credit risk

The tables below detail the credit quality of the
Group's financial assets and contract assets as well
as the Group's maximum exposure to credit risk.

A EE 2 EEER

TERFLAEEZEREE
RAEKNBEENEEERNR
AEEFERNRKERR

g o
ZoN

Gross carrying Accumulated Net carrying
31 December 2021 Notes 12-month or lifetime ECL amount Loss allowance amount
20215127310 i 128RR2HBRAEEFSR REAE R EBRE BREFE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T BYT T
Account receivables (a)  Lifetime ECL (Simplified approach) 142,478 (2,746) 139,732
FEMRER A 2 HEREEEE(BRE)
Retention receivables (b)  Lifetime ECL (Simplified approach) 68,334 (196) 68,138
FEYARE & 2HEBEEHE(BRE)
Other receivables (¢ 12-month ECL 37,144 (2,914) 34,230
Hi YRR 12AAESEEEE
247,956 (5,856) 242,100
Contract assets (d) Lifetime ECL (Simplified approach) 140,932 (973) 139,959
BHEE 2 HEHEEES (B %)
Deposits (¢ 12-month ECL 9,019 - 9,019
"e 12[BABHEEER
Gross carrying Accumulated Net carrying
31 December 2020 12-month or lifetime ECL amount Loss allowance amount
2020612318 1218 R5 2 BEHMEEER REAE ZEtEERE EEFE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BETT BT
Account receivables (a)  Lifetime ECL (Simplified approach) 153,848 (3,008) 150,840
FEMRER K 2HEREEHR(BEEE)
Retention receivables (b)  Lifetime ECL (Simplified approach) 88,432 (148) 88,284
FEYRE & 2HEREEHR(BREE)
Other receivables () 12-month ECL 34,053 (2,918) 31,135
H YRR 128 AEEEEER
276,333 (6,074) 270,259
Contract assets (d)  Lifetime ECL (Simplified approach) 91,110 (773) 90,337
BHAE 2 HEHEEEE (B(E)
Deposits () 12-month ECL 9,268 = 9,268
g 12 EREBREEEE

i
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 75 R < P o

Notes: FitsE -

(a) For account receivables, the Group has applied the (a) MEKERRME » AEEEH
simplified approach to measure the loss allowance at %ﬁft?‘iia‘l‘i%ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ%%
lifetime ECL. The Group determines the expected credit BRI TR E IR - AEE
losses by using a provision matrix, grouped based on share FRREEMETEHEEE
credit risk characteristics and the days past due. 8 BELXREEERSH R

MEABEEITHME -
The loss allowances for account receivables as at 31 20214 K% 202012 4318 -
December 2021 and 2020 were determined as follows: EWERO BB EE T W
T
Not yet 31to 61to 91to Over
31 December 2021 due 60 days 90 days 180 days 180 days
2021%12 A 31A RESat] E 31Z60H 61Z90H 91Z180H 180AML
Gross carrying amount EHAE(EETT)

(HK$'000) 74,940 25,233 7,904 4327 3,704 26,370 142,478
Less: Individually assessed 38t ¢ ERIEHE

(HK$'000) (%) - - - - - (833) (833)
Carrying amount under LRAHETZEAE

collective measurement (%)

(HK$'000) 74,940 25,233 7,904 4,327 3,704 25,537 141,645
Expected credit loss rate (%)~ FEHEEEER (%) - 0.50% 1.00% 1.50% 3.00% 6.00% -
ECL allowance for collectively Rt Bz BEHEE

measurement (HK$'000) BEBE(ESTI) - 126 79 65 11 1,532 1,913
Individually assessed loss ERFHEEEERE

allowance (HK$'000) (%) - - - - - 833 833
Total loss allowance BRAERE

(HK$'000) (B%T) - 126 79 65 11 2,365 2,746

1to 31to 61to 91to Over
31 December 2020 30 days 60 days 90 days 180 days 180 days Total
202012 A31H IRE 1308 31E60B 61E90H 91F180H 180HMLE wt
Gross carrying amount EHAE(EETT)

(HK$'000) 87,560 22,155 5,538 4507 3471 30,617 153,848
Less: Individually assessed 38t ¢ ERIEHE

(HK$'000) (AEF) = = = - (1) (832) (833)
Carrying amount under HRAHETZEAE

collective measurement (B%Tr)

(HK$'000) 87,560 22,155 5,538 4507 3470 29,785 153,015
Expected credit loss rate (%)~ FBHIEEHER (%) - 0.50% 1.00% 1.50% 3.00% 6.17%

ECL allowance for collectively %Rt 8z BEEE

measurement (HK$'000) BERHE (A% T ) - 111 55 68 104 1837 2175
Individually assessed loss AR EERERE

allowance (HK$'000) (BB = = = - 1 832 833
Total loss allowance BRAERE

(HK$'000) (AEFT) - 111 55 68 105 2,669 3,008

SHERAR LR §8 —T - —FFR
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For retention receivables, the Group has applied the
simplified approach permitted by HKFRS 9 to measure the
allowance for credit losses at lifetime ECL. The retention
receivables is assessed for ECL by using the provision
matrix. Other than impairment on individual assessment of
HK$196,000 (2020: HK$148,000) of retention receivables,
the directors of the Company consider that the allowance
for ECL for the year ended 31 December 2020 and 2021
on retention receivables are insignificant to the Group by
using the provision matrix.

For other receivables and deposits, the Group has assessed
these balances using 12-month ECL basis as there was no
significant increase in credit risk for these balances since
initial recognition. Other than impairment on individual
assessment of HK$2,914,000 (2020: HK$2,918,000) of
other receivables, the directors of the Company consider
that the allowance for ECL for the year ended 31
December 2020 and 2021 on other receivables and
deposits are insignificant to the Group.

For contract assets, the Group has applied the simplified
approach permitted by HKFRS 9 to measure the allowance
for credit losses at lifetime ECL. The contract assets are
assessed for ECL by using the provision matrix. The
allowance for ECL on contract assets of HK$973,000
(2020: HK$773,000) is recognised as at 31 December
2021.

(c) Liquidity risk

The Group adopts prudent liquidity risk management
which includes maintaining sufficient bank balances
and cash, and having available funding through an
adequate amount of committed credit facilities.

Since the year end, there have been no changes in
the risk management department or in any risk
management policies.
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Financial risk factors
Liquidity risk (in HK$'000)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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B 55 LB R 5
mBEEER(E%TIT)

Total
contractual
Less than Between 1 Between 2 undiscounted Carrying
At 31 December 2021 R2021%512A31H lyear and2years and 5 years cash flow amount
ATREH
ReRBRE HREE
Continuing Operations SELEER
Lease liabilities HEBE 1,984 849 22 2,855 2,755
Amount due to the ER L ESEFE
Disposed Group 333 - - 333 333
Payables and accruals EREARESER 210,137 17,500 38,036 265,673 265,673
Total HEr 212,454 18,349 38,058 268,861 268,761

At 31 December 2020

Term loans subject to a

2020412 A31H

MFREREERERZ

Less than
1 year

PR—4

Between 1 Between 2
and 2 years  and 5 years

NF-EME

Total

contractual

undiscounted

ES

Be

cash flow
WREH

=B
MEBHE

Carrying
amount

fREE

repayment on demand clause  FHIE R 65,037 - - 65,037 44,000
Lease liabilities HEEE 8,002 3,536 973 12,511 12,028
Convertible bonds aRES 44,586 - - 44,586 38912
Payables and accruals BRI R FER 2 A 301,940 17,454 26236 345,630 345,630
Total st 419,565 20990 27,209 467,764 460,570
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5.2

5.3

PoaRSEESERID |- N-G:S:=L | MIETED . =

Capital risk management

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in
the Group will be able to continue as a going concern
while maximising the return to shareholders through the
optimisation of the debt and equity balances. The Group's
overall strategy remains unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of bank loans
disclosed in Note 23, net of bank balances and cash
disclosed in Note 21, and equity attributable to owners of
the Company, comprising issued share capital and
reserves.

The directors of the Company review the capital structure
periodically. As part of the review, the directors of the
Company consider the cost of capital and the risks
associated with each class of capital. Based on the
recommendations of the directors of the Company, the
Group will balance its overall capital structure through
the payment of dividends, new share issues, issue of new
debts or the redemption of existing debt.

Fair value estimation

The carrying amounts of the Group’s current assets and
liabilities approximate their fair values due to their short
term maturities as at 31 December 2020 and 2021. The
fair value of convertible bonds is classified as level 3 in
the fair value hierarchy has been determined in
accordance with general accepted pricing models based
on a discounted cash flow analysis with the most
significant inputs being the discount rate that reflects the
credit risk of counterparties as at 31 December 2020 and
2021.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, the
directors are required to make judgements, estimates and
assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
that are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates
and associated assumptions are based on historical experience
and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual
results differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an
ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised
in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision
affects only that period or in the period of the revision and
future periods if the revision affects both current and future
periods.

(a)

(b)

Useful lives of property, plant and equipment

Management determines the estimated useful lives and
related depreciation and amortisation charges for its
property, plant and equipment. Such estimate is based on
the historical experience of the actual useful lives of
property, plant and equipment of similar nature and
functions.

Impairment of receivables, deposits and
prepayment and contract assets

Management determines the specific provision for
impairment of receivables, deposits and prepayment and
contract assets based on assessment of the recoverability
of the balances. The assessment is based on the specific
recoverability assessment and ageing profile of the
balances, which requires the use of judgements and
estimates. A considerable amount of judgement is
required in assessing the ultimate realisation of the
balance, including the financial position, the historical
payment pattern of each counterparty and forward-
looking factors. The Group has set out policies to ensure
follow-up action is taken to recover overdue receivables
and deposits. As at 31 December 2021, the Group has
made impairment provision of receivables and contract
assets approximately HK$5,856,000 and HK$973,000
respectively. The Group has been negotiating with the
counterparties for the payment of settlement. The
determination of the provision involved significant
management estimation.
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(c)

(d)

PoaRSEESERID |- N-G:S:=L | MIETED . =

Construction contracts

The Group recognises the revenue from design, supply
and installation service over time based on output
method by directly measuring the value of construction
work transferred to the customer to date relative to the
remaining construction works promised to be completed
under the construction contract. Most construction works
take 1 to 3 years to complete and the scope of work may
change during the construction period. The Group
reviews and revises the estimates of contract revenue,
contract costs, variation orders as well as the financial
impact of claims, disputes and liquidation damages
prepared for each construction contract as the contract
progresses. The management’s estimate of revenue and
the completion status of construction works requires
significant judgement and has a significant impact on the
amount and timing of revenue recognised. The
construction works performed by the Group would be
certified by the quantity surveyors of the customers or
payment applications from the in-house surveyors
periodically according to the construction contracts. The
Group regularly reviews and revises the estimation of
contract revenue prepared for each construction contract
as the contract progresses based on the construction
progress and the certification issued by the customers.

As at 31 December 2021, the Group had certain claims
over its contract assets and receivables in respect of
disputes or prolonged negotiation between the Group
and the employers in certain building construction
contracts. The Group is closely monitoring the
development of these contracts and has been negotiating
with the employer. The directors of the Company are of
the view that the carrying value of the balances as at 31
December 2021 would be fully recoverable. The
determination of the recoverability involved significant
management estimation.

Income tax

The Group is subject to income taxes in Hong Kong,
Macau and the PRC. Significant judgement is required in
determining the provision for PRC income taxes. There
are a number of transactions and calculations for which
ultimate tax determination is uncertain during the
ordinary course of business. The Group recognises
liabilities for potential tax exposures based on estimates
of whether additional taxes will be due. Where the final
tax outcome of these matters is different from the
amounts that were initially recorded, such differences will
affect the income tax and deferred tax provision in the
period in which such determination is made.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Fair value measurement

A number of assets and liabilities included in the Group’s
financial statements require measurement at, and/or
disclosure of, fair value.

The fair value measurement of the Group’s financial and
non-financial assets and liabilities utilises market
observable inputs and data as far as possible. Inputs used
in determining fair value measurements are categorised
into different levels based on how observable the inputs
used in the valuation technique utilised are (the ‘fair value
hierarchy’):

. Level 1: Quoted prices in active markets for
identical items (unadjusted);

. Level 2. Observable direct or indirect inputs
other than Level 1 inputs;

. Level 3:  Unobservable inputs (i.e. not derived

from market data).

The classification of an item into the above levels is based
on the lowest level of the inputs used that has a
significant effect on the fair value measurement of the
item. Transfers of items between levels are recognised in
the period they occur.

The Group measures the below item at fair value:
o Investment properties (Note 18).
For more detailed information in relation to the fair value

measurement of the item above, please refer to the
applicable note.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B %5 R R P o

SEGMENT INFORMATION

In accordance with the Group’s internal financial reporting
provided to the chief operating decision-makers, identified as
the Executive Committee of the Company, who are responsible
for allocating resources, assessing performance of the operating
segments and making strategic decisions, the reportable
operating segments and their results are as below:

. property and facility management business in Hong Kong
(“PFM HK Business”) and China (“PFM China Business”);

. ancillary business including integrated procurement,
laundry, cleaning, security, maintenance and technical
support services (“Ancillary Business”); and

. interiors and special projects business (‘ISP Business”).

Segment assets and liabilities of the Group are not reported to
the Group’s chief operating decision makers regularly. As a
result, reportable assets and liabilities have not been presented
in these financial statements.

As discussed in Note 13, the Group no longer carries on the
PFM HK Business and Ancillary Business (collectively, the
"Disposal Group") upon the disposal subsequently completed
on 10 January 2022. The results of this segment have been
classified as discontinued operations of the Group for the years
ended 31 December 2021 and 2020.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 795 R R P o

(a) Segment Results (in HK$'000) (a) EPELE GBYETT)
Continuing Operations Discontinued Operations
BESEER BALER
Corporate Intra
ISP PFM China PFMHK  Ancillary Overhead Group
Business  Business Subtotal  Business  Business Subtotal (Note)  Elimination
TRES  PENE BRNE
REHEE RRAMEE RRBER TRER £ER
% E4 ] % (Wit) DRSS
2021 20215
Revenue Wi
— Ata point in time - RE- K - - - - 12,182 12,182 - - 12,182
— Over time — —BiH 418,875 11,776 430,651 614,878 148,304 763,182 - (4,027) 1,189,806
418,875 11,776 430,651 614,878 160,486 775,364 - (4027) 1,201,988
Gross Profit EF 8,849 8,647 17,496 67,104 27,762 94,866 - (4,268) 108,094
Gross Profit Margin EH% 21% 73.4% 4.1% 10.9% 17.3% 12.2% - - 9.0%
Operating expenses BEmY (10,761) (8,703) (19,464) (44,715) (9,935) (54,650) (9,191) 9,445 (73,860)
Loss on early redemption of 12 R B[R AT
Convertible Bonds BHNER (2,005) - (2,005) - - - - - (2,005)
Interest expenses FERR (2,658) - (2,658) - - - - - (2,658)
Operating (Loss)/Profit & (518) /&7 (6,575) (56) (6631) | 22389 17,827 40,216 (9,191) 5177 29,571
Operating (Loss)/Profit Margin 482 (E58)/HAZE  -1.6% -0.5% -1.5% 3.6% 11.1% 5.2% - - 25%
Direct costs inrelationto BB ESTER)
the disposal ERERA - (2,082) 6,337) - (8419)
Interest expenses for lease  HEF| SRR (220) (293) - - (513)
Other income HiA 3,095 2957 5177 (5177) 6,052
(Loss)/Profit before taxation  BrEtA (%48),/ A 3,756) 40798 | (10351) - 2660
Taxation [ (1,339) (5,740) - - (7,079)
(Loss)/Profit for the year £ /4 (&518) /% (5,095) 35058 | (10351) - 90
Note: Corporate overhead mainly represents corporate and Biat: TRBREERDAIRITBUEE) « KA
administrative activities and shared services. R FHZ R -



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B %5 R R P o

Discontinued Operations
BRILEH
Corporate Intra
PFM China Ancillary Overhead Group
Business Subtotal ess Business Subtotal (Note) ~ Elimination

TRER

N B BBEE M4

2020 (Restated) 2020% (8E5])
Revenue Wi
— Atapaintin time - RE-FHE - - - - 13017 13017 - - 13017
— Over time - —BEH 374803 10794 | 385597 | 626205 107451 | 733376 - (4334) 1114639
374803 10794 | 385597 | 626205 120168 | 746393 - (4334) 1127656
Gross (Loss)/Profit (£8)/%# (44313) 9814 | (34499) | 66942 22289 89,231 - (4594) 50138
Gross (Loss)/Profit Margn ~ (E45),/EF|% -11.8% 90.9% -89% 10.7% 18.5% 12.0% - - 44%
Operating expenses fEmY (29,455) (8999) | (38454) | (38498 (12116 |  (50,614) (8,120) 9,449 (87,739)
Interest expenses flgR% (9841) - (9.841) - - - - = (9841)
Operating (Loss)/Profit & (&) /%7 (83609) 815 | (82.794) | 28444 10173 38,617 (8120) 4855 (47.442)
Operating (Loss)/Profit Margn 482 (£58), /5 FIF ~ -22.3% 7.6% -21.5% 45% 8.5% 5.2% - - -4.2%

Settlement of an insurance & FTRREZR
claim (10,193) - - - (10,193)

Operating (Loss)/Profit ~ HIBREBE AR
after settlement of B2 (FR) /%

an insurance claim (92,987) 38,617 (8,120) 4855 (57,635)
Interest expenses for lease L EFISHR (244) (239) - - (483)
Interest expenses for WEEHZFIBRY

acquisition loan - - (190) - (190)
Other income HEiBA 3897 81966 4855 (4.855) 85,863
(Loss)/Profit before taxation Bxt1 (&51E), /%7 (89.334) 120,344 (3455) - 20555
Taxation HE (6482) (6860) = - (13,342)
(Loss)/Profit for the year 1t (§548) /%7 (95.816) 113484 (3455) - 14213
Note: Corporate overhead mainly represents corporate and HiaE - TREREZARNRRITBUEE © LA

administrative activities, and shared services. REZARTE -
Information about a major customer —BREEEFHNER
The Group’s one of the customers (2020: one) with AEBPEE2021F12A31H
whom transactions have exceeded 10%, representing IEFEE-FEFERF (20204 :
HK$157,255,000, of the Group’s revenue during the year —R)NRZFEBBEAEBRBAN
ended 31 December 2021 (2020: HK$131,657,000). 10% + BN7&#157,255,00070 (2020

£ A% 131,657,0007T) °
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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(b) Geographical analysis (b) HEDH

Continuing Operations Discontinued Operations

e EEE ERLERE

2021 2020 2021 2020
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$000  HK$'000
BT AR TT BE®Tx AR TR

Revenue Wz
Hong Kong B 418,875 374,803 775,364 746,393
PRC H 11,776 10,794 - -
430,651 385,597 775,364 746,393
8. OTHER INCOME AND GAIN OR LOSS 8. HtAMER
2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T BETIT
(Restated)
(F&=751)
Continuing Operations FEREER
Government subsidies (Note) BT RG (F77E) - 4,651
Miscellaneous income Hiplg A 3,174 641
Bank interest income RITHIBUA 146 342
Loss on disposal of property, HEWE -« EBRRREZEE
plant and equipment - (1,389)
Corporate service support for HEEBN QR RESIE
the Disposal Group 5177 4,855
Exchange loss P& 5 518 (225) (348)
8,272 8,752
Note: Wit -
Predominantly comprised of subsidies from the Employment Support Scheme FENHBBEREBBBREHENEES T R
(“ESS”) under the Anti-epidemic Fund of the Hong Kong Government, which aim hE TR (TR ETE ) Mz s ERE 5
to retain employment and combat COVID-19. As a condition of receiving the ERMEMIEIA - (ERESRIMET MK
subsidies from the ESS, the Group undertook not to make redundancies by 30 o REEFGEEE 2020 11 B30 BREE -
November 2020.

SHERAR LR §8 —T - —FFR




NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 2
W15 R M AT
9. INTEREST EXPENSES 9. FERX
2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T ST IT
(Restated)
(K&=75)
Continuing Operations FEREER
Interest expenses on bank loans IRITERAF B 616 4,061
Interest expenses on lease liabilities HEBENN SR 220 244
Interest expenses on convertible bonds A3 &5 F B R 2 2,042 5,970
2,878 10,275
10. LOSS BEFORE TAXATION 10. BREIATE R
2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T ST IT
(Restated)
(F&&=75)
Continuing Operations FEREER
Loss before taxation is arrived BREIRTEE 2 IR N7 & I8 ¢
after charging:
Staff costs, including directors’ BETHRA(BEEERHNE)
emoluments (Note 11) (Bia£11) 52,238 74,065
Depreciation of property, W - MR N GRIEITE
plant and equipment 721 1,598
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEENE 3,639 5,149
Auditor’'s remuneration 2 25 B 357 B
— Audit - Bz 2,350 1,220
— Non-audit — JEEZ 148 148
Short-term lease expenses MHRERY 310 395

i
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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11. STAFF COSTS, INCLUDING DIRECTORS’ 11. BIRAE (BREEEME)
EMOLUMENTS

2021 2020
HK$'000  HK$'000
BT AT

(Restated)
(re=51)
Continuing Operations FEREER
Wages and salaries ITERH®
— included in cost of sales — ST AHERA 40,809 61,855
— included in general and —FTA—MRITHBAX
administrative expenses 11,208 11,892
Pension — defined contribution scheme BIRE — REMNETE
— included in cost of sales — ETASERAR 14 53
— included in general and — ATA—MRITHAX
administrative expenses 207 265

52,238 74,065

SHERAR LR §8 —T - —FFR m
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B 75 R B =

12. BENEFITS AND INTEREST OF DIRECTORS
(a) Directors’ Emoluments (in HK$’000)

The remuneration of every director is set out below:

For the year ended 31 December 2021

Name of Directors

Executive Directors HITES
Kingston Chu Chun Ho  2R1&%%
Mandy Hui Suk Mant FrRE

Independent BAFHITES
Non-executive
Directors

Ronald Lau Man Tak B~ i

Eric Lee Hon Man 5

To Chun Wai? IR (E?

12. EERANRER
(a) EZBL(GE%T )
SEEZHFHBIIOT

150
150

HZE2021F12A31BLLEE

Salaries,
allowances
and

Employer’s
contribution
toa
retirement
benefit

bonuses* scheme™

= 4
RIEAL* FHEIZHR

1,200
2,718

E3)
RBAKER

60 1,410
88 2,956
- 240

- 240

- 201
148 5,047

Except for the independent non-executive directors, the amounts
represented emoluments in respect of services provided in
connection with the management of the affairs of the Company or
its subsidiaries undertaking.

R Resigned as an Executive Director with effect from 9 January
2022.
2 Appointed as an Independent Non-Executive Director with effect

from 1 March 2021.

ISPEHOLDINGS LIMITED ® 2021 ANNUAL REPORT
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 HZE2020F 12831 BLEEFE

Employer’s

contribution

Salaries, toa
allowances retirement
and benefit

bonuses™ scheme*

BEH

e 2R RIREA

Name of Directors f RICLL* FTElz

Executive Directors HITES

Kingston Chu Chun Ho  &R1&% 150 1,200 60 1,410
Mandy Hui Suk Mant R 150 2,374 84 2,608
Independent BIEHITES
Non-executive
Directors
Ronald Lau Man Tak B>cf= 240 - - 240
Eric Lee Hon Man B85 240 - - 240
Edward Wong Yun Kuen? &= B3 235 - - 235
1,015 3,574 144 4,733
@ Except for the independent non-executive directors, the amounts * BRIBYIEAITERIN  RESHER
represented emoluments in respect of services provided in REBHEEARBKEMBR R
connection with the management of the affairs of the Company or T2 B2 RIBEENZ B2 o

its subsidiaries undertaking.

1 Resigned as an Executive Director with effect from 9 January B 202261 A9 BEBIHITES -
2022.

3 Resigned as an Independent Non-Executive Director with effect S F 20204 12 A 23 B BB Ik
from 23 December 2020. TE= -

SHERAR LR §8 —T - —FFR




NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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(b)

(c)

Interest of Directors

(i)

(i)

(iii)

During the year, no retirement benefits, payments
or benefits in respect of termination of directors’
services were paid or made, directly or indirectly, to
the directors; nor are any payable (2020: Nil). No
consideration was provided to or receivable by third
parties for making available directors' services
(2020: Nil).

There are no loans, quasi-loans or other dealings in
favour of directors, their controlled bodies
corporate and connected entities (2020: Nil).

No significant transactions, arrangements and
contracts in relation to the Company's business to
which the Company was a party and in which a
director of the Company had a material interest,
whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end
of the year or at any time during the year (2020:
Nil).

Five highest paid individuals

During the year, the five individuals whose emoluments
were the highest in the Group include two directors
(2020: two) whose emoluments are included in note
12(a). The emoluments payable to the other three (2020:
three) highest paid individuals during the year are as
follows:

(b)

(c)

ExER

(i)

(iif)

RERN TEOEFHER
GEESENE (b7 SRR

BRRLILEERBZARK
BA - TR A
IR (20204 « &) - W EHE
ESEEREMBHELE=

T R 2 {8 (2020 %F -
&) -

WEER  EEREE M
B HEIEERERELE
FEABERASEAZRS
(20204 : &) o

AN [E R 8 A F E E [l
BT EFEARAGYZ
EBARAEBZEAR
P RTHREH MARR
EEEENHERETTE
BAREZR (2020F : £) o

EUBEHEAL

RERN AEBRUSSHEALE
& (2020F : MB)EF - &
EzHMEC BRME120) ZIK¢
W ERFHEM=4(2020%F : =

B) &

%%ﬁ}\izwﬁﬁ’%ﬁu? :

2021 2020

HK$’000 HK$'000

BET T BT

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind #& * ZBE R EWFZ 4,950 4716
Pension — defined contribution scheme Rk& — FE kst 2l 134 126
5,084 4842

[SPAHOLDINGS LIMITED ®m 2021 ANNUAL REPORT



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The emoluments of the above individuals fell within the
following band:

Emolument band B & &5 &
HK$1,000,001 to HK$2,000,000 B 1,000,001 TE
7B 2,000,000 7T

B 75 S R BT =

ERALHBEN FATEHE :

Number of individuals

AB

2021 2020

During the Reporting Year, no emoluments were paid by
the Group to any of the five highest paid individuals as an
inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as
compensation for loss of office.

13. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

Pursuant to the announcement of the Company dated 1
December 2021, the seller, being the Company, and purchaser
entered into the sale and purchase agreement on 26 November
2021, pursuant to which to the seller conditionally agreed to
sell, and the purchaser conditionally agreed to acquire, the
share capital, representing 100% of the equity interest in the
target company, which in turns hold the equity interests of the
Disposal Group, at a cash consideration of HK$539.0 million.
The Disposal Group is principally engaged in the provision of
property and facility management services in Hong Kong
business. Upon completion, members of the Disposal Group
will cease to be subsidiaries of the Company. The transaction
was approved conditionally by the equity holders on 23
December 2021 and subsequently completed on 10 January
2022.

There are 2 operations discontinued along with the completion
of the Disposal Group as set out below:

i) PFM HK Business; and
i) Ancillary Business including integrate procurement,

laundry, cleaning, security, maintenance and technical
support services.

The comparative figures in the consolidated statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income have been restated to
re-present the discontinued operations. The respective profit
for the year ended 31 December 2021 and 2020 from the
Disposal Group is set out below.

13.

RBEFE - ARELEATA D
UERERFALTINEAME - FR
& B H0A B DN A AN 62 B B O B <2 3
TERBERIFEIE -

BRIEEH

BIEBARARBEA2021F12 A1BZA
4 R2021F 11 826H » BH(BIAR
ARNBE I BEE R B B
BRHGERELHE  REABKHERER
B A (5 BIZ QR 100% 8 #) - B
ZRAIAIREEESRBE 2 230RE - R
% R B A7 539,000,000 ° &%
EXrEREREFTEMERLEEER
BRI - TE - DEEBZKER
AIBTBALARAGZHEBAR - XHE
R2021% 12 A23 HEREE B AGIE
R H A 20225 1 A 10 B5ERX o

SERCHERER T XAAEMIEERE
RRIEEE -

) BEMERREEERST R

i) WHEH BEEE AK-B
B RE MBS R BT SR IRT

BEBRkEMEABSIRAOLEHRT
EEINEFHINRERILEE - BE
2021 K% 20205 12 A31 BILEExRH
HESENERRFMIIIN T -

AMERBRAR » —TZ -—FFRK
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13A.RESULTS OF THE DISCONTINUED
OPERATIONS INCLUDED IN THE
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR

BAGFAGEEE R Et2EK S
RNEKRILRBRE

LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE

INCOME

For the year ended 31 December 2021

BZE2021F512R831HLEE

PFM HK Ancillary
Business Business Total
REEEEK L eSS et
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
BET T BET T BET T
Revenue Wz 614,878 160,486 775,364
Cost of sales and service SHE R ARTEA A (547,774) (132,724) (680,498)
Gross profit EH 67,104 27,762 94,866
Other income E A 2,872 85 2,957
General and administrative —RITHAX
expenses (41,663) (10,129) (51,792)
Interest expenses FEMRAXZ (185) (108) (293)
Net allowances for impairment JEWERA N EBHEEZ
losses on receivables and B R IB R R
contract assets 43 194 237
Profit before taxation Rt A& A 28,171 17,804 45,975
Taxation 1A (3,310) (2,430) (5,740)
Profit for the year F N 24,861 15,374 40,235
Intragroup elimination of SERNARIEEHEERN
revenue due to the Group AEE WS (5,177) - (5,177)
Profit for the vear attributable 7N B fE {5 4 ;)% A
to the Group 19,684 15,374 35,058

ISPPHOLDINGS LIMITED =
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For the year ended 31 December 2020

1 75 R T &

Bi£2020F12A31HLLFE

PEM HK Ancillary
Business Business Total
BEMEK
B EIREER EHENESS 4t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BT T BT
Revenue U #5 626,225 120,168 746,393
Cost of sales and service SHE MRS A AR (559,283) (97.879) (657,162)
Gross profit EF 66,942 22,289 89,231
Other income E A 72,127 9,839 81,966
General and administrative —RITHAX
expenses (33,614) (12,170) (45,784)
Interest expenses k=N (149) (90) (239)
Net allowances for impairment BRI R ENEE L
losses on receivables and BB EFE
contract assets (29) 54 25
Profit before taxation MR FR AR A 105,277 19,922 125,199
Taxation I8 (4,869) (1,991) (6,860)
Profit for the year FREF 100,408 17,931 118,339
Intragroup elimination of S E AR R E R
revenue due to the Group AEE WS (4,855) - (4,855)
Profit for the year attributable  ZN5 B FE{5 F A% 7
to the Group 95,553 17,93 113,484

SHERAR LR §8 —T - —FFR




NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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Profit for the year from Discontinued Operations includes the REBRIEEBZ2FRNRABENATS
following: 15 :

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$'000

BMFT BT

BB A& N 2 FNER TS IR

Profit before tax has been arrived at

after charging:
Staff costs, including directors’ BTN (BIEESHE)
emoluments 581,458 578,033
Depreciation of property, W - B NGRIEITE
plant and equipment 2,355 2,867
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEETE 5,502 6,504
(a) An analysis of the cash flows of the Discontinued @ B % IERF 2 ReHED M
Operations is as follows: L
2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$'000
BET T BT T
Net cash (outflows)/inflows from ez /e (Rt),/
operating activities MAFEE (87,251) 265,804
Net cash outflows from WEERZRER T F5E
investing activities (696) (1,856)
Net cash outflows from BB ER 2R FEE
financing activities (52,575) (169,576)
Net cash (outflows)/inflows Be (Rl),/ RAFHE (140,522) 94372
(b) Related party transactions (b) BEALRS

The Discontinued Operations has the following related FR - DRIFEREATEEALT
party transactions during the year. X5 o

2020
HK$’'000 HK$'000

BT BT IT

Service charges paid to
— Company with common
controlling shareholder
Service income from
— Company with common
controlling shareholder

Maintenance and technical support

service income from
— Company with common
controlling shareholder

— Company controlled by a director

R I ARIEZ ARG E
— B —EHERERARE
A/NE 5,176
RE THIARZBRFEUA
— B —EHERERARE

/NG 1,485
RETHRRZHE R
ol 7 1% RS A
— B —EERERARE
A/NE 2
- EEEFEH AR 80

ISPEHOLDINGS LIMITED ® 2021 ANNUAL REPORT
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13B. ASSET CLASSIFIED AS HELD FOR SALE AND
LIABILITIES ASSOCIATED WITH ASSETS

CLASSIFIED AS HELD FOR SALE

Total assets classified as held for sale

DRARKEHEEERR

1B 2 EAFFHEEERES R
REFLEEERENER

2021
HK$'000

bk

Plant and equipment e es K & 10,169
Investment properties wEYZE 18 6,800
Deferred tax assets ELEFIBEE 860
Contract assets BREE 328
Receivables FE U AR X 137,754
Prepayments and deposits T FRERILZS 18,797
Amount due from Continuing Operations JE U 5 4B A e S TS 3R 333
Taxation recoverable Al Y B 7 I8 1,912
Cash and cash equivalents RekReEE 9,803
Pledged bank deposits/time deposits with BEBRITER R A E BB
original maturities over three months =18 Rz EBfFH 1,261
Total assets classified as held for sale PHEARBELEESERT 188,017
Total liabilities classified as held for sale NEAFELEB BT
Payables and accruals FERTBR R R FE T B R 64,106
Contract liabilities BHEE 12,684
Lease liabilities HEBE 7,304
Taxation payable FE R IR 1,383
Long services payment liabilities EHR%<aE 1,903
Deferred tax liabilities BERIEAE 77
Total liabilities classified as held for sale PEARFLEEEHERE 87,457




Sa—

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B %5 R R P o

14. TAXATION 14. B

Hong Kong profits tax has been provided at the rate of 16.5%
(2020: 16.5%) on the estimated assessable profit/(loss) for the
year after application of available tax losses brought forward
for both years. Taxation on overseas profits has been calculated
on the estimated assessable profits for the year at the rates of
taxation prevailing in the countries in which the Group
operates.

The amount of tax charged/(credited) to the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income

MEFENTENSHIIZERFE
fhatERBUE R, (BR) N B £ 54
82 W B A B8 & PABE %K 16.5% (2020
F 0 16.5%) B - REE ZBINEFIB
BIYRAF R AT RRPUE A AR EE
PAEBR 2 RITHEAE -

BARBREMRARRERNG /G
A)ZBOESEMT

represents:
2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T ST IT
(ESEEe)
(FeE=751)
Continuing Operations BELSEER
Current taxation EHATIE
Hong Kong profits tax BBEFEH
— provision for the year — FAEHE 1,432 1,438
— over provision in prior years — BAFEEERE (162) (65)
Deferred taxation (Note 28) IRFERLIR (K77 28) 69 5,109
1,339 6,482
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The taxation on the Group's profit before taxation differs from
the theoretical amount that would arise using the taxation rate
of the home country of the Company as follows:

1 75 R T &

765 [ R AR A B 2 IR B4R AR A R AT
EERMERELZERBRIER
(N

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$'000
BEET T BT IT
(Restated)
(F&&E75)
Continuing Operations FHB B TS
Loss before taxation BR 7% Bl 518 (14,107) (92,789)
Calculated at a taxation rate of BIER 16.5% 15
16.5% (2020: 16.5%) (20204 : 16.5%) (2,328) (15,310)
Effect of different taxation rates in E b RS a) A R R R R
other tax jurisdictions 2R 41 253
Over provision in prior years BEFEHERE (162) (65)
Income not subject to taxation BARTUA (493) (871)
Expenses not deductible for NAMHIF A 2
taxation purposes 953 2,280
Unrecognised tax losses REER 2 RIEEE 3,328 20,195
1,339 6,482

DIVIDEND

15.

Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, with the
completion of the disposal of PFM HK Business and the
Ancillary Business having taken place on 10 January 2022, the
Board resolved at Board meeting held on 20 January 2022 to
declare the payment of special dividend of HK$0.59 per share/

per Convertible Preference Share.

At a meeting held on 29 March 2022, the Board resolved not
to declare final dividend for year ended 31 December 2021

(2020: Nil).

35\

RBEERE  BEERBMERZEE
BEBREHERLESHEN2022F1
A10B K - E=gR2022541H20
HETZESS SR LHATRERR
BERRG, A s E I ER0.597T -

MR2022F 329 B BTz EF L BF
SHORTHEE2021F 12 A31 B I
SEIRAREALE (20204F : £E) ©
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16. EARNINGS/(LOSSES) PER SHARE

(@)

PSS REESRED N GS=L-| MG TED:: =

Basic earnings/(losses) per share is calculated by dividing
the Group's profit attributable to the equity holders less
dividends (if any) to convertible preference shareholders
by the weighted average number of ordinary shares in
issue during the year.

16. BREF(BE)

(a)

BREARMN,(ER) TR ERAE
Fr A ARE(G AN SR B MR m] @
FERRBAER A A Z S (10E ) BRIA
AEANBHITEBBNEFIEGE
=

2021 2020

Profit/(loss) for the vear attributable to A& #E#RA A E AT

equity holders (HK$'000) (BB (BT
— Continuing Operations and - BELEEBRERLE
Discontinued Operations Egi 19,612 14,213
— Continuing Operations — BHELEE (15,446) (99.271)
Weighted-average ordinary B BT E BRI 5
shares issued ('000) (FR%) 424,850 424,850
Basic earnings/(losses) per share SRELRZF(FE)
(HK cents) OBEAL)
— Continuing Operations and — BEKEEFRBKIE
Discontinued Operations B9 4.6 3.3
— Continuing Operations — BB EER (3.6) (23.4)

Diluted earnings/(losses) per share for the Reporting Year
is calculated by dividing the Group's profit/loss
attributable to the equity holders by the weighted-
average ordinary shares outstanding after adjusting for
the potential ordinary shares to be issued on convertible
preference shares and convertible bonds. The calculation
of the diluted earnings/(losses) per share attributable to
the ordinary equity holders of the Company is based on
the following data:

2021 ANNUAL REPORT
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2021 2020

Earnings/(losses)

Earnings/(losses) for the purposes of
basic earnings/(loss) per share
(HK$’000)

— Continuing Operations and

B (BHE)
SEREARRF,(EE) &
a#,/ (BR) (BETT)

~ RBEEEEBRERLE

Discontinued Operations E9i 19,612 14,213
— Continuing Operations — BB ST (15,446) (99.271)
Effect of dilutive potential BEBrTTBER o e
ordinary shares:
— Interest on convertible bonds — ARRES 2 F A
(net of tax) (HK$'000) (BEHIBRF{IH)
(BEFIT) - =
Earnings/(losses) for the purposes of — FtEMEEE R T,/ (EE)
diluted earnings/(losses) per share 2 &R/ (EE)
(HK$'000) (BT
— Continuing Operations and — REREERRBKIE
Discontinued Operations Egi 19,612 14,213
— Continuing Operations — BEREEK (15,446) (99.271)
Number of share BaoEAE
Weighted-average number of BTN T EREE
ordinary shares issued ('000) (FRR) 424,850 424,850
Effect of dilutive potential HEET TRk TE
ordinary shares:
— Convertible preference shares (000) — RJEE3R 8 4 1% (F %) 80,000 80,000
— Convertible bonds ('000) — AR ES (%) -
80,000 80,000
Weighted-average ordinary shares for st ESREERF(Ei8)
calculating diluted earnings/(losses) Z N E B (FR)
per share ('000) 504,850 504,850
Diluted earnings/(losses) per share BREERF(EE)
(HK cents) (BB
— Continuing Operations and - RBELEEBRERLE
Discontinued Operations Egi 3.9 2.8
— Continuing Operations — BB EET (3.1) (19.7)

Note: The effect of any potential exercise of convertible bonds is
excluded from the calculation of diluted earnings/(loss) per share
for the year ended 31 December 2021 and 2020 when the effect

would be anti-dilutive.

Brat - IR BEITE AT BRESNTEN
N B EE £ 2021 F %2020 12
A3l BItFEEREERT(EE)
WEHES - A ERRESER -

AMERBRAR » —TZ -—FFRK
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B IEER

HE2021F 128318 IEEE  E&IE
EBHBREARREERF D R A&
8.3l K B #& 6.9 (2020 : H Rl B
fE ' 26,70 R A 22.51) + THRIE
KATHEA AEEERIEEBHFN G
A 78 #35058,0007T (20204 : & #&
113,484,0007T ) K £ 3 FFal 2 B AN K 48
SEERAN 2 HE -

17. M5 - HERRE

Furniture
Right-of-use Leasehold Motor and
assets improvements vehicles equipment Total

BERRE At

Discontinued Operations

For the year ended 31 December 2021, basic and diluted
earnings per share for the discontinued operations was 8.3 HK
cents and 6.9 HK cents respectively (2020: 26.7 HK cents and
22.5 HK cents per share, respectively), based on the profit for
the year from discontinued operations attributable to owners
of the Company of HK$35,058,000 (2020: HK$113,484,000)
and the denominators detailed above for both basic and diluted
earnings per share.

17. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

EREAE HENRKE nE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000
AT AT ARTL BRI ARTL

Cost B
At 1 January 2020 202061 A 1R 40,039 14,181 5,101 62,092 121413
Exchange differences R =% 246 2 92 165 505
Additions HE 12,539 170 27 3,309 16,045
Disposals/written-off HE ik (29,127) (3,403) (573) (4,247) (37,350)
At 31 December 2020 2020612 A 31H 23,697 10,950 4647 61,319 100,613
Exchange differences EHESE - - 45 79 124
Additions AE 8,119 188 352 663 9,322
Disposals/written-off e/ Wk (14,261) (3) (209) (9.998) (24.471)
Transfer to Disposal Group BENEEEZHEA

classified as held-for-sale RiFLE (11,072) (9.193) (1879) (42414) (64,558)
At 31 December 2021 R2021%512831R _6,483 _________ 1 ,942_2,9_569,64921,030
Accumulated depreciation 2itiE
At 1 January 2020 202061 A 11 (28,703) (12,510 (3,691) (56,122) (101,026)
Exchange differences ERESR (281) ) (88) (161) (533)
Depreciation for the year FRIE (11,653) (779) (508) (3,178) (16,118)
Disposals/written-off L& /i 29127 2,560 270 3,527 35484
At 31 December 2020 2020612 A 31H (11,510) (10,732) (4.017) (55,934) (82,193)
Exchange differences ERER - - (45) (77) (122)
Depreciation for the year FRHE (9.141) 91) (350) (2,635) (12,217)
Disposals/written-off HE /M 12,956 3 209 9,984 23,152
Transfer to Disposal Group ERNESEELEA

classified as held-for-sale BELE 3,876 8,974 1,778 39,761 54,389
At 31 December 2021 R2021%512831R (3,819) (1,846) (2,425) (8,901) (16,991)
Closing net book value EREERE
At 31 December 2021 R2021512A31R 2,664 96 531 748 4,039
At 31 December 2020 2020612 A 31H 12,187 218 630 5,385 18,420

ISPEHOLDINGS LIMITED ® 2021 ANNUAL REPORT
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e
g R M T
Right-of-use assets FREEE
For both years, the Group leases office premises and furniture RREFEE - K& Iﬁ’j EEREMHRA
and equipment for its operations. Y EFERE K&

Furniture and

Leasehold Land

and buildings equipment
HEL
REF ERERRE st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT BT T
At 1 January 2020 R2020F1H1H 10,447 889 11,336
Additions NE 12,539 - 12,539
Depreciation e (11,269) (384) (11,653)
Exchange differences E H Z=%E (35) = (35)

Balance as at 31 December 2020 7220204 12 A 31 H K&

and 1 January 2021 20214 1 A1 BR & 11,682 505 12,187
Additions NS 7,635 484 8,119
Termination el (1,231) (74) (1,305)
Depreciation e (8,844) (297) (9,141)
Exchange differences FEH =% - - -
Transfer to Disposal Group ERNEEBENEA

classified as held-for-sale BEHE (6,828) (368) (7,196)
At 31 December 2021 MR20214 12 A31H 2,414 250 2,664

SHERERAR 8« —EBE=- —FER
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18. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

. REWE

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$'000

BE T BT IT

At 1 January R1A1AR 6,800 7,200
Unrealised loss arising from change in NEEEBEEZ

fair value REIREIE - (400)
Transfer to Disposal Group ERHEER TS

classified as held-for-sale BRFENE (6,800) =
At 31 December MW12A318 - 6,800

Note:

The investment properties were valued as of year-end date on the basis of their
open market value by an independent professional property valuer, Savills
Valuation and Professional Services Limited.

(a) Valuation processes of the Group

The Group measures its investment properties at fair
value. The fair value of the Group’s investment properties
at 31 December 2021 has been determined on the basis
of valuations carried out by independent valuers.
Discussion of valuation processes and results are held
between the Group'’s senior management and valuers at
least once every six months, in line with the Group’s
interim and annual reporting dates. At each reporting
date the Group’s senior management:

= verifies all major inputs to the independent
valuation report;

[SPAHOLDINGS LIMITED ®m 2021 ANNUAL REPORT
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—  assess property valuations movement when — HE—HENhERSET

compared to the prior period valuation report; and LR EGHEE
*

—  holds discussions with the independent valuers. — HEBT(HEENEITHR o

Change in Levels 2 and 3 fair values are also analysed at REBSEBEEEBAEBNEE LK

each reporting date during the semi-annual valuations FE=MATEZEHRSHREBH

discussions date between the Group’s senior ETEFEZHENRFETD

management. #T o

(b) Fair value hierarchy (b) AFEER

The following tables analyses the fair value of investment TREINTRER 2 IZEDELTF

properties at different levels defined as follows: Bt BRABRIZERNAT :

—  quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for - REEEXAERNEZRTS
identical assets or liabilities (Level 1). L2 EBE(REHAE) (F—

) o

—  inputs other than quoted prices included within - FHAEF—HFAZIHREUINZ
Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, BENABGEZAEHRH A
either directly (that is, as prices) or indirectly (that is, B TwEZ(BMER)xKHE
derived from prices) (Level 2). 2TEBER)(BEZR) -

—  inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on - WHERABEMSEEZ
observable market data (that is, unobservable BES A EHABECR#
inputs) (Level 3). R ASUR) (E=4) o

FHERERAR =

A

Tt R
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Quoted prices Significant
in active other Significant
market for observable  unobservable
identical assets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
EEEE BX BX

REETSLE EfTER  FUBK
2HE  BARE  WARR
(E—%) (E=%) (E=H)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT  OBETRE BETR

As at 31 December 2021 M2021%12A31H

Recurring fair value BREMAFETE
measurements
Investment properties REYE - 6,800 -
As at 31 December 2020 R2020%F 12 A31H
Recurring fair value LEENFEFE
measurements
Investment properties wEMHE = 6,800 -

i
I
|
m
fom—t as - J

There were no transfers between Levels 1, 2 and 3
during the year.

Fair vale measurements using significant other
observable inputs (Level 2)

Fair value of the investment properties are derived using
the direct comparison method. This valuation method is
based on comparing the property to be valued directly
with other comparable properties, which have recently
transacted. However, given the heterogeneous nature of
the properties, appropriate adjustments are usually
required to allow for any qualitative differences that may
affect the price likely to be achieved by the property
under consideration.
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19. CONTRACT ASSETS AND LIABILITIES 19. AHEBEEREARE
2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T BETIT
Contract assets BREE
— contract work of ISP Business — B RFRIAR
EBHMEHNTIE (i) 140,601 89,949
— property and facility service — W KR EIRTS - 1,161
Less: impairment B RE (ii) (973) (773)
Total contract assets BHEERETE 139,628 90,337
Contract liabilities SHEE
— contract work of ISP Business — EREMLEKRIER
EBHanIRg (iii) (497) (894)
— property and facility service — W KRR (iii) - (12,689)
Total contract liabilities BHEEERE (497) (13,583)
Notes: Mt
(i) Significant changes in contract assets (i) BREENEREE
Contract assets have increased as the Group has more contract work in AHEEEN RAAEER2021F12 A
progress as at 31 December 2021. 31ARETHFIRENBRZAE °
(ii) Movements in the provision for impairment of contract assets that are (i) EHEE(SENHRE) ZREREZSN
assessed for impairment collectively are as follows: S ¢

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$'000
BETT BT
Contract Assets EHEE
At 1 January Rn1A1A8 773 53,273
Written-off s - (53,273)
Provision for impairment recognised BRI B B 200 773
At 31 December W12 A31H 973 773
For contract assets, the Group has applied the simplified approach MENEEMNS  AEECHKABRBUBR
permitted by HKFRS 9 to measure the allowance for credit losses at SEAFEIFAETNBC T At =2 8HE
lifetime ECL. The contract assets are assessed for ECL by using the HEEBBREAT ZEEBERE - 504
provision matrix similar with the approach of trade receivables. After the ENBHEEREERE S ERKFIAR S
assessment by the directors of the Company, the allowance for ECL on PR B EEEAEH A - KRR BIEEFT
contract assets are HK$973,000 as at 31 December 2021 (2020: f5 - 20215128318 - G EENTEH
HK$773,000). EE BB EE R B 973,0007T (20204 :

FB#7730007T) °

SHERAR LR §8 —T - —FFR
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(iii) Revenue recognised in relation to contract liabilities (iii)

The following table shows how much of the revenue recognised in the
current reporting period relates to carried-forward contract liabilities.

REIFIGE AR KB EAERRE
ERER s

Revenue recognised that was included in
the contract liability balance at
the beginning of the period

MENR ERERR UK

TRIFELAE GRS NAEFBONAR
FHRARDEAREANBEFERTHELD
BEARHEHE -

2021
HK$'000

2020
HK$'000

BT T BT T

Contract work of ISP Business ERRHRFRIE R XBNEOIRE 894 11,230
Property and facility services LIEYSE T 12,689 4,662
(iv) Unsatisfied long-term contract work of ISP business (iv) ERRMHESHREEEBHNRTRRAEH

The following table shows unsatisfied performance obligations resulting
from long-term contract work of ISP Business.

DEER12 A31 AR D HEER
ARTERERRMRIHRER X5
MRASHNR S ERE

Aggregate amount of the transaction price
allocated to long-term contract work of ISP
Business that are partially or fully unsatisfied
as at 31 December

IR

TRIBRRZEANEMRFRIEAR BN R
HENTERTERENRE -

2021
HK$'000

2020
HK$'000
BT T

BETT

328,800 355,700

Management expects approximately that HK$289,700,000
(2020:HK$350,300,000) to the unsatisfied contracts as of 31 December
2021 will be recognised as revenue during the next reporting period. The
remaining HK$39,100,000 (2020: HK$5,400,000) will be recognised in
the 2023 (2020: 2022) financial year. The amount disclosed above does
not include variable consideration which is constrained.
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20. RECEIVABLES

The credit period of the Group’s accounts receivable generally
ranges from 30 to 60 days (2020: 30 to 60 days) and the
majority of the Group'’s accounts receivable are denominated in

Hong Kong dollars. The ageing analysis of accounts receivable
by invoice date is as follows:

B 75 S R BT =

0. BUWERR

REBERBERZEEH RN TI0E
60 B (20204 : 30E60H) - K&EE 2
RE D BURBR R T IR BB HE - REE
BB EBRERZEROITOT

2021
HK$’000
BT T
Accounts receivable FE U BR X
0 to 30 days 0= 30H 64,690 60,967
31 to 60 days 312 60H 30,861 41,734
61 to 90 days 61E90H 10,993 11,104
Over 90 days 90 B LA E 35,934 40,043
142,478 153,848
Retention receivables and FEWRE & & H fh FE U TR IE
other receivables (Note |) (KreE1) 105,480 122,485
Receivables FE U BR X 247,958 276,333
Impairment of accounts receivable, EWRE S & H e WK E
retention receivables and ZBAE (FaE )
other receivables (Note [/I) (5,856) (6,074)
242,102 270,259
Transfer to Disposal Group HERHEEEE S EAEFEHE
classified as held-for-sale (137,754) -
104,348 270,259

Note I:

Retention receivables in respect of the contracting business are settled in
accordance with the terms of the respective contracts. At 31 December 2021,
retention receivables held by customers for contract works amounting to
approximately HK$4,378,000 (2020: HK$9,398,000) are expected to be
recovered or settled in more than 12 months from the end of the reporting
period, all of the remaining balances are expected to be recovered or settled
within one year. Retention receivables are included in current assets as the Group
expects to realise these within its normal operating cycle.

The retention receivables are classified as contract assets until the end of the
retention period as the Group's entitlement to this final payment is conditional on
the Group’s work satisfactorily passing inspection.

1
i
s
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a
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HiaFI:

AGEE 2 EWRE & TR BARRE & Q&R &1 -
2021612 A31H + 4974%4,378,0007T (20204 :
755 9,398,0007T) 2 & P RLE] A TI2F5 A K FE MR
B S FEHRFE AL 12@ A BB SRR « BT
EHEEHRIFAKE RGN - BRRESFTA
RBEE RAASEEHNESCE AR
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For retention receivables, the Group has applied the simplified approach
permitted by HKFRS 9 to measure the allowance for credit losses at lifetime ECL.
The retention receivables are assessed for ECL by using the provision matrix
similar with the approach of trade receivables. After the assessment by the
directors of the Company, the allowance for ECL on retention receivables are
insignificant to the Group as at 31 December 2020 and 2021.

Note II:

As of 31 December 2021, accounts receivable of HK$64,786,000 (2020:
HK$63,281,000) were past due but not impaired. These related to a number of
independent customers for whom there is no recent history of default. Accounts
receivable of HK$2,895,000 (2020: HK$3,007,000) were past due and impaired.

Note Il

The other classes within trade and other receivables do not contain impaired

assets. The Group does not hold any collateral as security.

HERRESHE  ASEEEABBHBREE
B OSRATERT ML HAsI 22 B HEEER
AT EEBEREE BRRRESZEHEEE
B ERRE 5 EIGRIE EEUR B E R o
KARNREETE - R2020F K% 2021412 H318 -
ERRE<BHEESERESAESEMsLTE
j( °

B Il:

M2021F 12 A31 8 + ## 64,786,0007T(20204F :
7 63,281,0007T ) 2 FEUR R 5K E 38 BB R ORE ©
ZEFIERS I AR NCSNE LR AR -
75 2,895,000 7T (2020 4F : % #3,007,0007T ) 2
FEMBR R B H R RE ©

BtaE:

B REMEUFIANEMBH LT BEEREE
E o AREWMEFA ERER R EREKR -

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$'000
BET T BT T

Impairment of receivables ERRERE
At 1 January R1A1H8 6,074 94,302
Provision for impairment recognised BERRMERE 43 8,044
Written-off W (24) (95,635)
Doubtful debts recovery =45 (237) (677)
Exchange differences PEH Z58 - 40
At 31 December K12 A31H 5,856 6,074

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date is the carrying value of
the accounts receivable mentioned above. The Group does not hold any collateral
as security.
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21. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND 21, RERBESEEREEARTE
PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS/TIME DEPOSITS ;EBER
2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T BT
Cash and bank balance Be RIBITE 76,174 87,349
Time deposits with original maturities REIBAE &= 1Iﬂ VN
less than three months H)5E BRTF X 6,487 117,733
Cash and cash equivalents BeMRE&EE 82,661 205,082
Pledged bank deposits/time deposits with &R 1TIE=REIHAH
original maturities over three months 818 = & A &9 7E BT 3K - 10,755
82,661 215,837
The majority of the Group’s deposit, cash and cash equivalents NEBZ2ZH RELRBEEEANILEHD
is denominated in Hong Kong dollars. LAVEHE B BT o
The deposits, cash and cash equivalents disclosed above and in EXBENGER  ReRBESEEMG
the consolidated statement of cash flows include HK$20,926,000 AFZEER SR ERAB20926,0007T
(2020: HK$20,347,000) which are held in the PRC. These deposits (20204 : ¥ 20,347,000 7T ) 9 4E + E
are subject to regulatory restrictions and are therefore not FE ZEFATESHRS  AEER
available for general use by the other entities within the Group. NEMERTASEBIES—MRBE -
During the year ended 31 December 2021, there is no bank HE2021F12A31HIEFE - $EELR
deposit (2020: HK$10,000,000) pledged as security for the 711730 (2020 4F : ¥ 10,000,0007T) A
Group’s bank loan (2020: HK$35,000,000) as the bank loans EREERITER 2T (20204 : B
were fully settled. e 35,ooo,ooom A RRITEREBE
FEA NI
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22. PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS 22.

The credit period of the Group’s accounts payable generally
ranges from 30 to 60 days (2020: 30 to 60 days). The ageing
analysis of accounts payable by invoice date is as follows:

BANRRKETER

AEEEMNERZEEH RN T30E
60 B (20204 : 30E60H ) - LB EH
DA EANBRRZEREDITAT

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T BT
Accounts payable FE{FBR X
0 to 30 days 0% 30H 171,859 152,828
31 to 60 days 31&60H 6,214 14,235
61 to 90 days 61%90H 6,098 8,116
Over 90 days 90H M E 27,370 23,595
211,541 198,774
Retention payables, other payables EMREL - HtESERR
and accruals FETER 118,238 146,856
329,779 345,630
Transfer to Disposal Group ERHEEEZsEARELE
classified as held-for-sale (64,106) -
265,673 345,630

Retention payables in respect of the contracting business are
settled in accordance with the terms of the respective
contracts. At 31 December 2021, retention payables held by
the Group amounting to approximately HK$2,832,000 (2020:
HK$6,302,000) are expected to be settled in more than 12
months from the end of the Reporting Year.

23. BANK LOANS 23.

Bank loans contains a clause of
repayment on demand:

REEB2EMNRES IBERBELD
1GFR&ERT - 2021512 A31H » K&
55 4751 2,832,000 7T (2020 4F : i
¥ 6,302,0007T) Z FEHRE & FBEIR 7R
HERE 12MEBBLEN -

BITER

2021
HK$'000

2020
HK$'000

BEFT  BETR

- 64,000

- 64,000

(a) During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group’s bank loans were
fully settled.

(b) As at 31 December 2020, the Group had bank loans of HK$64.0 million
denominated in Hong Kong dollars and carried weighted average interest
rates of 2.7% per annum.

(c) As at 31 December 2020, the Group'’s term loan of HK$29.0 million is
subject to a floating charge over the assets of the Company and its
subsidiaries and personally guaranteed by an indirect controlling
shareholder.

(d) The carrying amounts of loans approximate their fair values.
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24. LEASE LIABILITIES
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24, HEEE

Leasehold land  Furniture and

and buildings equipment
e+
REgF RERRE
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT IT ST I
As at 1 January 2020 R2020F1 A1 H 9,144 961 10,105
Additions NE 12,339 = 12,339
Termination 1k - - -
Interest expenses FEFX 447 36 483
Lease payments HERR (10,424) (442) (10,866)
Exchange differences EHEE (33) = (33)
As at 31 December 2020 and  A2020% 12831 H K
1 January 2021 20211 H1H 11,473 555 12,028
Additions NE 7,635 484 8,119
Termination Sl (1,158) (89) (1,247)
Interest expenses A BFX 491 22 513
Lease payments HEM (9,016) (333) (9,349)
Exchange differences fEH =R (5) - (5)
As at 31 December 2021 7R2021%F 12 A31H 9,420 639 10,059
Transfer to Disposal Group ERNEEEESEA
classified as liabilities BHEHEAE
held for sale (6,828) (476) (7,304)
2,592 163 2,755
Represented by: IRA
Current R 1,738 163 1,901
Non-current JERED 854 - 854
2,592 163 2,755

SHERAR LR §8 —T - —FFR
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Future lease payments are due as follows: RIS HKBNHOT -

Minimum lease Present
payments Interest value

RERAEMN FE BE

HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
BT BT BT T

Not later than one year 1FRA 7,270 (310) 6,960
Later than one year and 1FZE2FNR
not later than two years 2,939 (58) 2,881
Later than two years and 2FBESFER
not later than five years 222 (4) 218
At 31 December 2021 M2021F12H31H 10,431 (372) 10,059
Transfer to Disposal Group HERHEEEEDEA
classified as liabilities BELENEE
held for sale (7,576) 272 (7,304)
2,855 (100) 2,755
Minimum lease Present
payments Interest value
=IEEERRK A B RE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETIT BT BEETIT
Not later than one year 1FR 8,002 (350) 7,652
Later than one year and 1F&B2FNK
not later than two years 3,536 (116) 3,420
Later than two years and 2FRBSEA
not later than five years 973 (17) 956
At 31 December 2020 M2020F 12 B31H 12514 (483) 12,028
25. AMOUNT DUE TO THE DISPOSAL GROUP 25. EHHEEERE
The amount due to the Disposal Group is unsecured, interest- ENEESEFEAEERE 28 KA
free and repayable on demand. HEREE -
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26. LONG SERVICE PAYMENT LIABILITIES

Under the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance, the Group is
obliged to make lump sum payments on cessation of
employment in certain circumstances to certain employees who
have completed at least five years of service with the Group.
The amount payable is dependent on the employee’s final
salary and years of service, and is reduced by entitlements
accrued under the Group’s defined contribution retirement
scheme that is attributable to contributions made by the Group.
The Group does not set aside any assets to fund any remaining
obligations.

The liability recognised in the consolidated statement of
financial position is present value of unfunded obligation and
its movements are as follows:

B 75 S R BT =

26. RERKESEE

REZE(RRBGHN) AEEAEELTH
RAKBRBFEEDFRNLMES
TERATELEZENEE N —FBH

- XN EBDREREEHORK
FekREEHRMETE  AMFKEER
AEE R ERFORAGE T R ST
AEBAH 2 TR - ARBEYL EE DT
MEENREMRSOETREES -

=N

REZBMBMARAERZBE /R
?%HEEZER{E&H’G‘ LI

TN

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
At 1 January MH1A1H 1,516 1,576
Net charge to profit or loss B N
Current service cost BIVHA AR 755 A AR 420 123
Interest cost B 3 25
423 148
Net credit to other comprehensive income RE M2 E Uz ASERE
Remeasurements: EHETE
Actuarial loss arising from: BEATNREELZREEAE :
Liability experience KEER TR 687 990
Financial assumptions I BRE% 312 196
999 1,186
Other HAth
Benefits paid B (902) (1,394)
Transfer to Disposal Group ERNESRESEARELE
classified as held-for-sale (1,903) -
At 31 December R12A831H 133 1,516
ARERERAR » —F—
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The principal actuarial assumptions used for accounting MEeTENRAZTIERE/RERNOT
purposes are as follows:

2021 2020

% %

Discount rate AR35 =& 0.9 0.25

Long-term salary increase rate REFSER= 2.5 2.5
Long term average expected return on BHEAEEFTEEEZ

mandatory provident fund scheme assets & HiF #5978 Hi (a1 2R 4.0 3.0

REBNBETHEATZBRREFNK
REEHFIT

The sensitivity of the defined benefit obligation to changes in
the significant principal assumptions are as follows.

Impact on defined benefit obligation

AERAEEZE
Change in Increase in Decrease in
assumption assumption assumption
G840 BREZ I BB
Discount rate BhIR & 0.25% Decrease by Increase by
A 0.5% #H10.5%
Long-term salary increase rate ~ REIF SRR 0.25% Increase by Decrease by
#hn2.8% B 2.7%
Long-term average expected BHEAESIEEEZ 0.25% Decrease by Increase by
return on mandatory RHIF15 78 BR[O 3R A 3.0% #HN13.1%

provident fund scheme assets

The above sensitivity analyses are based on a change in an U EERBRESTEENRN DA —ARSEH

assumption while holding all other assumptions constant. In W MEMBREREEESEH - B

practice, this is unlikely to occur, and changes in some of the
assumptions may be correlated. When calculating the sensitivity
of the defined benefit obligation to significant actuarial
assumptions, the same method (present value of the defined
benefit obligation calculated with the projected unit credit
method at the end of the reporting period) has been applied.

The weighted average duration of the defined benefit
obligation is 2.0 years as at 31 December 2021 (2020: 2.4
years).

ISPEHOLDINGS LIMITED ® 2021 ANNUAL REPORT
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27. CONVERTIBLE BONDS

The Company issued 84.0 million, 7% convertible bonds with a
principal amount of HK$42.0 million on 18 November 2019.
The convertible bonds are denominated in Hong Kong dollars.
The bonds will mature by two years from the issue date with
repayment of principal amount or can be converted into
ordinary shares of the Company at the holder’s option at the
fixed rate of one share per HK$0.5 of the outstanding principal.

The fair values of the liability component and the equity
conversion component were valued by independent
professional valuer, Pretium Advisory Services Limited, at the
issuance of the convertible bonds and not subject to annual
revaluation. The fair value of the liability component, included
in non-current financial liabilities, was calculated using a market
interest rate for an equivalent non-convertible bonds. The
residual amount, representing the value of the equity
conversion component, is included in shareholders’ equity net
of deferred income taxes.

The Convertible Bonds were redeemed in full during the year
ended 31 December 2021. Following the redemption, there
was no principal amount outstanding under the Convertible
Bonds and no Convertible Bonds have been or will be
converted into ordinary shares of the Company.

75 R R P =

27. TRRES

AR 20194 11 A 18 H 2717 84,000000
BR7%AT B ES A BBEHBE
42,000,000 7T ° A] #2 f% 1& F 32 7% & 5
B - BHFEHRETHA2EREE &
EATEREEEASHENIEAEERE
FEEOS TR —RBRHBZEERBER,
BMAKRNE LB -

BEBMEZERLD 2 AAETIH
B 3 H E G E AT(Pretium Advisory
Services Limited) A 54T A #2 A% (& 5 FF
BEREFTSFEG ABESD2ARE
(GtASEREBISRBE) HFERAEREIER
MR ESH 2 TISFEGTE - #E (FEE=
s IS 7 BE) it AR RS IR IRE
FriS#i o

AR E AN E E 2021612 A31 B 1k
FEDEEED - BE% @ fJREES
TS AEEZASRE  BfER
IEfEH L SR AR A R T @A o

AMRERABRIAF = e

[
A
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28.

The convertible bonds recognised in the statement of financial
position is calculated as follows:

R B RERZ THRRESFER
T

2021 2020

HK$’000 HK$'000

BT T BT TT

Equity component at 31 December MR12A31 B 2R - 5,180

Liability component at 1 January R1IA1IBZBE#S 38,912 35,882

Interest expenses (Note 9) FERZ (AaE2) 2,042 5,970

Interest paid BHE (959) (2,940

Repayment of Convertible Bonds EETRRES (42,000) -
Loss on early redemption of 1R A BB O] A AR E 5 2 518

Convertible Bonds 2,005 -

Liability component at 31 December R12A31B2aEHS - 38,912

Interest expenses on the convertible bonds are calculated using
the effective interest method by applying the effective interest
rate of 17.1% to the liability component. None of the convertible
bonds were redeemed or converted during the Reporting Year.

DEFERRED TAXATION

Deferred taxation is calculated in full on temporary differences
under the liability method using tax rates substantively enacted
as at the date of statement of financial position. The movement
on the net deferred tax (assets)/liabilities account is as follows:

AR E S 2 N BT E A BRI X
HEABER D 2 ERAE17.1%1H -
RBEFE - E A RARE S E DX
it o

28. B

ST BIER AR BN E 2 AR E
95 s 2 B o 4 B O B B S TR B
o BEBE(AE), BERDSEL
BT -

2021 2020

HK$’000 HK$'000

BT T ST IT

Beginning of the year F 4] (782) (5,894)
Deferred taxation recognised in RIBR R IEERE (FaE 14)

profit or loss (Note 14) (140) 5112
Transfer to Disposal Group classified ERNEEEESEARBIERE

as held-for-sale 783 -

End of the year FR (139) (782)
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The movement on the deferred tax assets and liabilities (prior
to offsetting of balances within the same taxation jurisdiction)

during the year is as follows:

Deferred tax

1 75 R T &

ERERIRE E M AE (R EREHRDAE
B HA A RAFE 2 ST

liabilities Deferred tax assets
EEHESE EEHBEE
Accelerated  Accounting
tax tax
depreciation depreciation Tax loss Total
INEBIERE SHBERE HEEE #st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BT BT T BEETIT
At 1 January 2020 R2020F1A1A8 400 (940) (5,354) (6,294)
Charged/(credited) to KBz GTA)
profit or loss (§I5) (227) 5,354 5,127
At 31 December 2020 J‘E"202O #12H31H 385 (1,167) - (1,167)
Charged/(credited) to iSEEECYAGUN)
profit or loss (179) 39 - 39
Transfer to Disposal Group ERNESEESEA
classified as held-for-sale BELE (77) 860 - 860
At 31 December 2021 R2021F12A31H 129 (268) - (268)

Deferred tax assets are recognised for tax losses carried
forward to the extent that recognised of the related tax benefit
through future taxable profits is probable. The Group has
unrecognised tax losses of HK$178,508,000 (2020:
HK$162,980,000) to carry forward against future taxable
income. The remaining tax loss do not have expiry dates.

PLAAE AR EE M ERAIRER AL
EERRNBBEIHENmRE AR
RIRFERB R FERNI D - NEBZ
RERBIEEE - AEUE 178,508,000
JC (20204 : B #162,980,0007T) * A
AR 2R 2 JERRTAULA o 8RR AL
TEESIE I M fEm B HA o

SHERERAR 8« —EBE=- —FER
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Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a
legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against
current tax liabilities and when the deferred taxes relate to the
same fiscal authority. The following amounts, determined after
appropriate offsetting, are shown in the consolidated statement
of financial position.

EREAEARNITENATBERRAEE
HEMBHEAEEE  METHBELS R
R —RI R RS - R EEE TR IR A A
BELERARBEREE - AFFAEE K
Mg - TISBERE MBI KAT
BE o

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$'000
BMET T BT T
Deferred tax assets RETRIEE = (268) (1,167)
Deferred tax liabilities FEIERIEEE 129 385
(139) (782)

29. SHARE CAPITAL 29. BRAR

Number of
shares Amount

R E =8

‘000 HK$'000
FK BT

At 31 December 2020, 1 January 2021 742020512 H31H

and 31 December 2021 20211 818K
2021512 A 31H
Authorised: VERE ¢
— Ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each - BRTERBEO0LT 9,000,000 900,000
— Convertible preference shares (‘CPSs”) — &M% A] EH4(8 %A%
of HK$0.1 each (note) ([rATEE B SRR )
7B 0.1 7T (FsE) 1,000,000 100,000
10,000,000 1,000,000
At 31 December 2020, 1 January 2021 20205128318 -
and 31 December 2021 20211 818K
2021512 A 31H
Issued and fully paid: BEITRER
— Ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each — BRERREY 01T 424,850 42,486
— Convertible preference shares (‘CPSs”) — &% A] E14(8 %A%
of HK$0.1 each (Note) (TR B SRR )
7B 0.1 70 (FisE) 80,000 8,000
504,850 50,486
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80,000,000 CPSs of HK$0.75 each were issued as part of the
consideration paid for the acquisition of ISP business in late 2012. The

rights, privileges and restrictions of the CPS are set out below:

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

Dividend

Holder of each CPS shall have the same entitlement to dividend
and other income distribution as the holder of each ordinary share
of the Company and shall rank pari passu with ordinary shares of
the Company as to dividend payments.

Return on capital

On winding up of the Company, the holder of the CPSs shall be
entitled to the return of capital on the basis of the issue price of
the CPSs and in priority to ordinary shares of the Company.

Conversion rights

The CPSs is convertible at the option of the holder at any time
after the issue date. Conversion of the CPSs shall be subject to,
among others, the minimum public float requirements stipulated
under the Listing Rules or as required by the Stock Exchange being
satisfied.

Conversion price

The conversion price is HK$0.75, subject to adjustment in
accordance with the terms of the CPSs. The adjustment event
includes consolidation, sub-division, right issue, issue of the
Company'’s shares for cash and grant of options or warrants to
subscribe for new shares of the Company at a discount of more
than 20% of the market price.

Redemption
The Company shall have the sole right to redeem the CPSs at any

time after the issue at the issue price of the CPSs, i.e. HK$0.75
per share.

B 75 S R BT =

Bt : 72012 F K E1T80,000,000 B &R B 0.75
TR AR B ERIEREE =R REFREH
¥BHREN—H9 c ATRRELKRZE
R BEARH T

(i)

(ii)

(iiif)

(iv)

BB

SRR ERRZ A ARSRA
RAIE B2 FA ARBE REAUK
ADEAEZEREERN - BRIKS
FEERRBEBRER RS

]

ARIR

AR ELERZFEABEIRER
AR BEEENARAEBRIZ AR
RELBRZBTEEERENRE -

g

A AREER T B R TR
HEIR AR B - BIARRRES
BARED (B efF) EhRAIMR
ERBRXABERZHZERRFRE
& AT

HBE

HEBE 0757 AIRBATRRE
TR ZGERT AFE - ZEHEEM
BEAG A HERETARF
RYAERR S - AR BB
RS R LA R T (B 78 20% 2 T w2
AR ©

&
ARRHEEBEEN - AIRETHS

BRI R TE (B S RE#0.75
T) BE B AT AR B S A o
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30. RESERVES 30. f#fE
Details of movement in the reserves of the Group are set out NEFHFENESFEEHNEISH °
on page 98.
The following describes the nature and purpose of each reserve TXHEES AREANSHENEE &
within owners’ equity HAY :
Reserve Description and purpose
fE iRy SA=: )
Share premium Prior to 3 March 2018, the application of the share premium account was governed

by s.48B of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, Cap. 32. In accordance with the
transitional provisions set out in 5.37 of Schedule 11 to the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, Cap. 622 (the Ordinance) any amount standing to the credit of the share
premium account at the beginning of 3 March 2018 became part of the Company'’s
share capital. The use of this share premium balance is governed by s.38 of
Schedule 11 to the Ordinance.

&Pk 720183 A3 BRI - RiNHBEERZEBAXEERAEDI(FE32F)F48BIKEHRE -
RREB RGN (B 622F) (FZIGEHI) MR 11 28 37 1RFTHE 2 BIE 53 - 72018
FIAARBERMDEER CEMEREEKN AR ARA—E 5 - BALEFR
N BAEER X IRBIMT R 11 5 38 IRMAE

Merger reserve Amount of proceeds on merger accounting relating to the difference between the
cost of investment and the nominal value of the share capital acquired.

B OHERE HERERNARERBRARTFEZEEZRERNAHETREELCAENES
B o

Exchange reserve Gains/losses arising on retranslating the net assets of foreign operations into
presentation currency.

bE 3 ENREGINEEEAEFEAESRELEENKE IS -

Equity component of Equity component was equal to the difference between the net proceeds received

convertible bonds and the fair value of the liability component on issue of convertible bonds (i.e.

option to convert the debt into share capital).
ARG R E D BRI FRBITAIRRESF 2 EWAERIEFHEEREHRS A TFECENERE
(BN EH BRI A H) BAfE) o

Retained earnings/ Cumulative net gains and losses recognised in profit or loss.
(accumulated losses)

RE &N, (RFHER) Rt MR FEN B R o
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31. NOTES TO STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 31. BEREXRKTE
(@) Reconciliation of profit before taxation to cash (a) BRBARFNEKEERELEZ
generated from operations: REHERER:
2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T S FIT
Profit before taxation B B AT 4 ) 26,691 27,555
Depreciation e 12,217 16,118
(Reversal)/impairment of receivables FEUER 2 (B [E),RiE (194) 7,228
Impairment of contract assets BHEEZRE 200 773
Loss on early redemption of RRIE [ AR ES 2 B8
convertible bonds 2,005 =
Interest income FEA (229) (751)
Interest expenses FMERX 3,171 10,514
Fair value loss on investment properties 1% & ¥ A7 EEE - 400
(Gain)/loss on disposal of property, HEYE HEREREZ
plant and equipment (Wzs),/ B8 (12) 1,564
Operating profit before working BEECEBF 2L E R
capital changes 43,849 63,401
(Increase)/decrease in contract assets & #4)& & (320) (49,822) 221,753
Decrease in receivables JE UG BR TR 28,353 59,007
Decrease/(increase) in deposits and B& NI RER D, ()
prepayments 3,335 (2,256)
Decrease in payables and accruals and ~ JEBRZR - FESHE R &
long service payment liabilities RHRE28ERD (16,664) (164,399)
Cash generated from operations WEEREEZIRS 9,051 177,506
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BMEXBEL 2EEHERR

(b) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing (b)
activities

i
I
|
m
fom—t as - J

Interest Lease Convertible
Bank loans payable liabilities bonds
RITER FERTFI S HEAE TBRRES
(hote 23) (hote 24) (hote 27)
(Kfat23) (KiaE24) (Kiat27)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
ST IT ST BT BT T
At 1 January 2020 7202041 A8 18 131,000 84 10,105 35,882
Drawdown of bank loans BB R1TE R 105,000 = = =
Repayment of bank loans {E&R1TE X (172,000) = = =
New lease entered during RIS
the year - - 12,339 -
Bank loans interest paid 2 AHERITE ZFIE = (4,113) = =
Interest paid on AR ES
convertible bonds [EENEES) = = = (2,940)
Lease payments HENRK = = (10,866) =
Total changes from BMEREREZ
financing cash flow EE)REE (67,000) (4,113) 1473 (2,940)
Foreign exchange HNGE R
adjustments - - (33) -
Interest expenses B R - 4061 483 5,970
Total other changes Hib A #8E - 4,061 450 5,970
At 31 December 2020 R2020%12A318 64,000 32 12028 38912

ISPPHOLDINGS LIMITED =

2021 ANNUAL REPORT



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 2
g R M T
Interest Lease Convertible
Bank loans payable liabilities bonds
RITER EARS HEAE [BRERES
(note 23) (note 24) (note 27)
(Kt 23) (Ktzt24) (Ktzt27)
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T BT T BET T BT T
At 1 January 2021 M2021F1A1H 64,000 32 12,028 38,912
Drawdown of bank loans  B)AR1TE R 85,000 - - -
Repayment of bank loans {Ei&RITE K (149,000) - - -
New lease entered during RIS
the year - - 8,120 -
Bank loans interest paid 2 ERITERFIE - (648) -
Repayment of EErRRES
convertible bonds - - - (42,000)
Interest paid on AR ES
convertible bonds EfFA - - - (959)
Lease payments HAENK - - (9,349) -
Total changes from MEREREZ
financing cash flow Fo)eza (64,000) (648) (1,229) (42,959)
Foreign exchange SN S
adjustments - - (6) -
Loss on early redemption 42 Al & [a] A] 2 A% (&
of convertible bonds 28 - - - 2,005
Lease termination BmIFE - - (1,247) -
Interest expenses B - 616 513 2,042
Total other changes HitF S 458 - 616 (740) 4,047
At 31 December 2021 202112 A31H - - 10,059 -
HERAER AR §8 —F - —FFf
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32.

33.

PSS REESRED N GS=L-| MG TED:: =

LITIGATION

Reference was made to the interim report of the Company for
the six months ended 30 June 2021 and the announcement of
the Company dated 18 January 2021. The employer of the
factory development of Yuen Long as a plaintiff, against Falcon
Insurance Company (Hong Kong) Limited, as the 1st defendant
and ISP Construction (Engineering) Limited (“ISPCE”), an indirect
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, as the 2nd
defendant (collectively, the “Defendants”) for the sum of
approximately HK$54.4 million regarding the Defendants’
breaches of the surety bond executed by the Defendants to
guarantee due performance and observance by ISPCE for
construction of main contract works for the factory
development of Yuen Long given the ISPCE breaches of the
contract and/or its negligence in carrying out the works. A stay
of proceedings in favour of arbitration has been granted to
ISPCE by the Court on 21 September 2021. As of the end of
the reporting date, the arbitration is still ongoing and no arbitral
award has been made. In the opinion of the directors of the
Company, it is premature to predict the outcome of the claim
against the Company. There is no provision recognised or
contingent liabilities disclosed as at 31 December 2021 as the
directors of the company consider the possibility of an outflow
of resources embodying economic benefit is remote.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2021, no other
litigation or claims of material importance is known to the
directors to be pending against the Company.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(a)

Key management personnel compensation

32.

33.

HIEN
RMANATEZ 20214 6 A 30 B k7N
8 Az BsRE A AR B A 2021 F
1A18AZAE  tHREERNET
EBREAN  MEHRER(BB)ERD
AEAE—HEARFAEER(TE)
BRAR([FAMEER] AR RIMEE
2EAWBRARDIEREZWEA(GREZ
EWEADRE BZEHREAERT
HZEWEARENRES  HRES
MEERFEZLERYNMETHE BITAK
EERMNEEIZEBRETRZAN(F
MEEMERZADRHEEETT
BREKIKZ) REAEHBE
54400,0007T © R 20219 A21H -
FERmAREERFLAE  ETHE
EEBFUEMRE - HEREHER
READEHETE - WAREDPEER -
ANRAREBEEZERE  BAEEIHARFH
REZRBEHT - ARARRESR
A BEIE A F 35 A B R A A BE M AR
W R 2021412 A31 B EHER
EREERRAE -

Br EXXATHEEEE SN 0 FRA2021F 12 A 31
B BEEFRMN TEEMHEHARAF
I EAFRFARHEHR °

BEALRS
(a) FEEBASHMH

2021 2020

HK$’000 HK$'000

BETT BET T

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind ~ ¥t& - 2B R EWFIZE 15,474 18,473
Pension — defined contribution scheme  Ek& — REMHE2| 450 634
15,924 19,107

2021 ANNUAL REPORT



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(b) Significant related party transactions (b)

Summary of the significant related party transactions
carried out by the Group during the year are follows:

B 75 S R BT =

EXREALXRS

RAFERARBET ERBEA
IRZMEMT :

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$'000

BB T BT IT

Service charges paid to M RH AR R &
— Company with common — B —HHEERRR
controlling shareholder Z AT (i) (2,005) -
— Company controlled by —HB—RESEY
a director /NG (ii) (277) (184)
Services income from KB TF AR ZRIEBEA
— Company with common — B TEEREERIE
controlling shareholder /NG (iif) 1,738 2465
Maintenance and technical RETHRARZHEBE R
support service income from Rl 2 4% AR AU A
— A director - —RE=E (iv) 2 9
— Company with common — B — A RZERAR R
controlling shareholder ZINE (iv) 80 479
Contracting work’s income from B8 1% 2Aa]Z
BHTRREA
— Company with common — B EERR
controlling shareholder prde AN (v) 13,406 27,464
Notes: Kz
0) Service charges paid in respect of advisory for disposal of PFM HK 0) MEBYERREE B G
Business and Ancillary Business were mutually agreed by both BHOLESHE  BERERGE ik
parties. 75 3 RE M HCER ©

(ii) Service charges paid in respect of typesetting, translation and
printing services were mutually agreed by both parties.

(iii) Services income earned on services including property
management, agency services, consultancy fee, security, laundry,
cleaning, etc. rendered was mutually agreed by both parties.

(iv) Maintenance and technical support service income represents fees
earned on repair and maintenance works. The prices and terms
were mutually agreed by both parties.

(v) Contracting work’s earned from construction and fitting-out
projects, were mutually agreed by both parties.

(i) BRHEAR - BBRE R EDRIBRS S 69 AR TS
RXEBEHREHEAGE

(i)  HMEHBRB(BEDEEE K2R
% BERE - R EXFERER
%) MR Z RIS - THIRE T 1 5E
4B ©

(iv) HEREMXERBRAEREER
RETIZRMZEM - B RIERH
ETTHIE ©

V)  HERERKERARMZIAHIREER
THIZEE T3 19p TE M 4RER



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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34. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND 34. AREARBRRRRERBBR

CHANGE IN EQUITY OF THE COMPANY

Statement of Financial Position of the Company

As at 31 December 2021

R RHBMRE
R2021512 8318

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Non-current assets ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment Wi - MR KR EE - 1,498
Deferred tax assets FREFIRE = 1 1
Subsidiaries {apEENG] 89,204 89,204
Totalnon-currentassets ¥ *B&EER® 89,205 90,703
Current assets REBEE
Other receivables H e U ROR 1 1
Deposits and prepayments Be LFEfRFIE 389 336
Amount due from subsidiaries A RIEPNGIE R 33,710 191,535
Deposit, cash and cash equivalents e  RERREEE 46,629 16,198
Totalcurrentassets  *BEER#®E 0 80729 ! 208,070
Current liabilities REBEE
Payables and accruals JER BRI ESTE 4,957 1,883
Lease liabilities HEAE - 1,031
Total current liabilites  #n#afes 0 4957 2914
Net current assets REBEEFE 75,772 205,156
Total assets less current liabilities EEHAERABER 164,977 295,859
Non-current liabilities kRBERE
Convertible bonds AR ES - 38,912
Lease liabilities HEaRE - 355
Total non-current liabilites ¥ #iBffFERe® 000000000000 - N 39.267
Net assets EEFE 164,977 256,592
Equity attributable to equity holders of ~ Z<A Bl BR A1 A FE(LAEZ
the Company
Share capital &N 50,486 50,486
Reserves G 114,491 206,106
Total equity A 164,977 256,592

ARNBFERARECEESN2022F 3
B2oB#tE  WHIATATRRER -

The statement of financial position of the Company was
approved by the Board of Directors on 29 March 2022 and
was signed on its behalf.

Kingston Chu Chun Ho Lam Chun Kit

REE g

Chairman Non-executive Director
FE HMITEE

[SPAHOLDINGS LIMITED ®m 2021 ANNUAL REPORT




NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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Change in equity of the Company

RAREZBER

Equity
component
of
Share Share Contributed  convertible Accumulated Total
capital premium surplus bonds losses equity
TRRES
R BRipiE BARR 2EZHD ZiEE  ERAH
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT  BETI BT BRTT A%t
At 1 January 2020 R20205151A 50,486 185420 82,601 5,180 (230,359) 93,328
Profit attributable to equity RRARESE AELEE
holders of the Company = = = = 163,264 163,264
At 31 December 2020 R2020%12F31A 50,486 185,420 82,601 5,180 (67,095) 256,592
Profit attributable to equity RRRIRERSE AEEET
holders of the Company - - - - (91,615) (91,615)
Early redemption of RAEE AR ES
convertible bonds - - - (5,180) 5,180 -
At 31 December 2021 12021612 A31 8 50,486 185,420 82,601 - (153,530) 164,977

. HOLDING COMPANY

The directors regarded Champ Key Holding Limited, a company
incorporated in British Virgin Islands, as its ultimate holding

company.

35. ZRATA

# £ 18 Champ Key Holdings Limited ( 7
RBEZESHMAZHAR]) BERK

PERAA -

—F R
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36. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 36. TEREME AT
Place of
incorporation Principal Issued and paid up/ Effective
and operation activities registered capital percentage of
HEMALK BRTRHR/ interest held
Ty TEEH R A ERGENERLH
2021 2020
Interest held directly:
HERAER
ISP Holdings (BVI) Limited * British Virgin Investment holding 100,000 ordinary shares of 100% 100%
Islands HK$0.1 each
RBRAHE REHER 100,000 R B AR EE
0172 EER
Driven Power Management British Virgin Investment holding 100 ordinary shares of 100% 100%
Limited * Islands US$1 each
EERTHS REER 100 BREE 1ET
LiEmk
Interest held indirectly:
BEsEER
Continuing operations
FESEER
ISP Interiors Limited Hong Kong Provision of fitting-out, 5,000,000 ordinary 100% 100%
renovation and addition share of HK$1 each
and alteration works
BREARMERAR 0 REZTNEE  BHE 5000000k EREE
MERARETR BT EBR
ISP Construction Hong Kong Provision of demolition 22,000,000 ordinary 100% 100%
(Engineering) Limited work, addition and share of HK$1 each
alteration works and
special construction
projects
AMBER(IR)ERRR  BF REUFBIRAMER 22000000 RERER
WETRER BT BBk
RIS B

i

m ISPEHOLDINGS LIMITED ® 2021 ANNUAL REPORT
\
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ISP Curtain Wall and
Aluminum Products
Limited
ARERREENRERAR

ISP Sourcing Services Limited

ARREREERLA

FRERRE (ORI

BRARF

ARAREERE (LR
BRARF

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Place of
incorporation
and operation

AR L
ey

Hong Kong

7l

&R

Hong Kong

&R

PRC
(wholly owned
foreign enterprise)

HE
(OMEBELF)

PRC (wholly owned
foreign enterprise)

!
(OIEBELF)

bR e

it

Principal Issued and paid up/ Effective
activities registered capital percentage of
BRTRERE/ interest held
TEEK R A ERSENERLH
2021 2020
Provision of curtain 100,000 ordinary 100% 100%
walling, cladding & shares of HK$1
related products
R ERR 100,000 R RRE B
1EHEmR B 1T ERR
Provision of procurement 2 ordinary shares of 100% 100%
and supply chain services  HK$1
and trading business
REFEREEERE 2REREESS LT
REHEB 2B
Provision of property RMB31,000,000 100% 100%
management, repair
and maintenance of
sophisticated equipment
and indoor cleaning
services, and property
management consultancy
services
REMERER  #ER  AR%31,0000007T
BERTREREA
ERIRT - A RE
EEE MRS
Provision of property and  RMB32,000,000 100% 100%
facility management
services, property agent
and property consultancy
services
REMRRRIEER AR¥32,0000007T
R MEREK
SR
SHEBRAERAG 8 —T - —FFR




Place of
incorporation
and operation
ML R
L

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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Principal
activities

TEER

Discontinued Operations
BRILER
Synergis Management Hong Kong Provision of property
Services Limited management services
and investment holding
AEERRBERAA BB REDREBRBER
REHER
Synergis Facility Management ~ Hong Kong Provision of facility
Limited management services
AERMERERAA 00 TRt R E 2 IR
Service Pro Limited Hong Kong Provision of maintenance
and technical support
services
HARBERR A 00 AR RS 3R AR
SecurExpert Solutions Limited ~ Hong Kong Provision of security and
consultancy services
HRERZRBERDA Bk RARE KB R
Laundrimate Service Limited Hong Kong Provision of laundry
services
KRERBERDA 0 RALE KRS
Master Clean Service Limited Hong Kong Provision of cleaning
services
LRRBERAA 0 RAE 2 IRTE
SynWave Services Limited Hong Kong Provision of procurement
and trading business
FORBRBER LA BB RERBRESER
. This is an investment holding company with no specific place of operation.

ISPPHOLDINGS LIMITED

m 2021 ANNUAL REPORT

Issued and paid up/
registered capital
BRTREZ/
R A

206,837 ordinary shares of
HK$1 each

206,837 B AX B 75 ¥
1L TRk

2 ordinary shares of
HK$1 each
2REREESS 1T
bl

2 ordinary shares of
HK$1 each

DBEREEEE 1T
i

2 ordinary shares of
HK$1 each

2REREERS 1T
ZEBR

2 ordinary shares of
HK$1 each

2RBREEES 1T
BB

200,000 ordinary
shares of HK$1 each

200,000 R G R EE
BRI EBR

1 ordinary share of
HK$1
IREESS 1T TRk

Effective
percentage of
interest held
ERRENERLA
2021 2020

100% 100%

100% 100%

100% 100%

100% 100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100% 100%

Z FZARR—AREZERAR  UEARLE

o



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

37. EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING YEAR

Disposal Transaction

Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, the disposal
transaction detailed in Note 13 was completed on 10 January
2022. The outstanding cash consideration of HK$539.0 million
and the amount due to the Disposal Group of HK$333,000
was settled in January 2022 in accordance with the sale and
purchase agreement.

Writ of Summons

Reference was made to the announcement of the Company
dated 1 March 2022. The Company, as the 1st defendant and
ISPCE, as the 2nd defendant (collectively, the “Defendants”),
received a writ of summons on 25 February 2022 under action
number HCA 245 of 2022 (the “Writ of Summons”) issued in
the Court of First Instance of the High Court of Hong Kong by
the solicitors acting for Falcon Insurance Company (Hong Kong)
Limited as a plaintiff (the “Plaintiff”), against the Defendants for
the deposit of a sum of HK$58.9 million to the Plaintiff until
such time as the Plaintiff’s liability under the surety bond is
released and/or other relief and costs on indemnity basis
regarding the surety bond executed by the Falcon Insurance
Company (Hong Kong) Limited and ISPCE to guarantee due
performance and observance by ISPCE for construction of main
contract works for the a factory development at Yuen Long.
The Writ of Summons was related to another writ of summons,
which reference is made to the announcement of the Company
dated 18 January 2021, under High Court action number
HCCT 6 of 2021, in which the plaintiff (under HCCT 6 of 2021)
brought claims against Falcon Insurance Company (Hong Kong)
Limited (as the first defendant under HCCT 6 of 2021) and
ISPCE (as the second defendant under HCCT 6 of 2021) for,
among other things, alleged breach of the surety bond.

37.

75 R R P =

BEFERESHE
HEXZ

RREHKRE  WEISHFENHEERS
BR2022%1 10 B - IRIRE &1
& AR & AR E B 539,000,000
N FE A B & B BB S ¥ 333,000 LB
20226 1 B#&EE »

ER S

ZIRMA AT BHA2022F3 418K
NE - R2022F2 A258 © NARIEAS
EFE—HEARAMEARERE RS
A (HB[ZEREADKEE SRR (B
BBARAMEEREATREAD 2K
KREMER BB E AR RAARETE D
HEZEREANSRREFR2022F
F24557E N2 E SR (T ESAK]) -
REHREB (BB ERAALIHEE
BARBAMNEEREZLERYREST
THRERERETEEZETREZALOM
BENRES  MZEHESABRRRR
HEATFEABE 589000007 HE RS
AERBES THETERG 2K
K/ S H A B IR R E E E AT E AR
BoFEaoRES—HEMSKERE -
RMAATIHEAR2021F1 1882
RE - REBE SRR =T EE &
HEFR2021 FFE 658 - BEARIES
PRt R A FRAR 2021 FE SR ME
HRB(FB)ERAR(FASMREER
ELFRFA2021 F BRI E — 1 E A)
MAMEER (EASTEERMPEFR
2021 FF6FEMEBE—wEAN) G (HFE
B EHERRESIREER -

AMRERABRIAF = e

[
A
[




NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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The Company considers that as the Writ of Summons is related
to HCCT 6 of 2021, it would not incur any liabilities in addition
to those under HCCT 6 of 2021. In any event, the Company
and the 2nd Defendant are seeking legal advice in respect of
the above proceeding in HCA 245 of 2022 and would defend
its position. The Company will make further announcement(s)
to update the shareholders of the Company and the potential
investors on any significant development regarding the above
claim as and when appropriate.

Acquisition of Listed Securities

On 15 March 2022, the Company acquired listed securities on
the open market at an aggregate consideration of
approximately HK$29,700,000 which will be classified as fair
value through profit or loss.

PoRSEESEEID |- N-G:S-=L | METED:: 2 20 2 1 A NIN'U-ALL RERORT

ARARBEMSARESPTEE R ME
FEA2021 FHE 6B - YT SHERPT
FREE R EL R FA 2021 FE 5B G SRV & (E LA
INEEEMEL - Emf - ARE K&
FoWEAEEZRNEAR L SHRERE
SRR 2022 FF 2455 AR FRARE
B YABINHE - ARABREE
M ESREALE  UEAAGRERE
FEREE T HRBERN Ll f RO &FH
BAER -

Wi EmESs
M2022F3 A 15H - KRBIRAHTIS

VA8 (B 4978 % 29,700,000 T Y 88 £
#E - HDBARF ARSI AFE-



AR FINANCIAL SUMMARY
HFE KT E

2021 2020 2019 AOKKS] 2017
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETr BETr ABEFr AB¥Fr  EETr
Operating Results R R
Continuing Operations BEREEK
Revenue Wz 430,651 385,597 852,945 873,038 1,458,626
(Loss)/ Profit before taxation PR AT (E51R)/ %= F (14,107) (92,789) 8,315 (190,802) (81,233)
Taxation Hi1A (1,339) (6,482) (760) 5956 2,448
(Loss)/ Profit for the year for FARERFELE
_Continuing Operations  XBM(EB)EF  (15446)  (99.271) 7555  (184.84¢)  (78789)
Discontinued Operations BARIFER
Profit for the year for Discontinued R B B4 IF 475
Operations pinkl 35,058 113,484 30,027 24,582 23,264
Profit for the year for the Company N2 &4 %4 7 19,612 14,213 37,582  (160,264) (55,521)
Non-controlling interests FEm i - = = 246 1,144
Profit/(loss) attributable to equity ~ ZXA BIA&#EHS A A RELS
holders of the Company FERER /(EE) 19,612 14,213 37,582  (160,018) (54,377)
Profit/(loss) attributable to equity AR BIARIERF G AFE(
holders of the Company FREF/(E1E)
— Continuing Operations — FECEER (15,446) (99,271) 7,555  (184,600) (77,641)
— Discontinued Operations — BERIEER 35,058 113,484 30,027 24,582 23,264
19,612 14,213 37,582 (160,018) (54,377)
Assets and Liabilities BEEREE
Total assets BEBT 521,963 628,198 836,365 838,874 1,120,897
Total liabilities BfELsE 356,986 482,716 705,705 749352 870,070
Non-controlling interests JEIE R - = = = (1,158)
Equity attributable to equity RARIRERB AES
holders of the Company s 164,977 145,482 130,660 89,522 251,985
SHERBRA m T - —F



MAJOR PROJECTS IN-PROGRESS — INTERIORS AND SPECIAL PROJECTS
BRETPCEEZTREEAR — EAXMHRGFKEHS

Commencement Anticipated

Description Date Completion Date Client

B I HHY BRI AEH 'F

Fitting-out Works for a Temple in Wan Chai September 2021 October 2022 Sunnic Engineering Limited

B — BT 2 T2 202149 A 202249 A ENIRAERRAA

Interior Fitting-out Works for a Proposed May 2021 October 2022 Chiu & Lee Partners
Composite Building at Yin Chong Street, 202145 A 2022 10 A Construction Company
Kowloon Limited

NBEERE — R ARG AME 2 ENEHH T SIEITEERAA

Interior Fitting-out Works for the Proposed June 2021 July 2022 Ever Success Holdings Limited
Wholesale Conversion of an Industrial 2021F 6 A 2022F 7 A KIEBEBEERAH
Building at Wong Chuk Hang Road,
Aberdeen

FEFEMNE RIZAEEEEREMHTIE

Residential Development Project at Peak Road December 2021  November 2022  Authentic Diamond Limited

IWTEERE=EIEE 178 2021412 A 2022411 A
Superstructure Work for Proposed February 2022 November 2023  Dragon Court Limited
Redevelopment at Bisney Road, Pofulam 2022F 2 A 20234 11 A

BEMER B ERHEMNLETRE

198 [SP HOLDINGS LIMITED ® 2021 ANNUAL REPORT
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MAJOR INVESTMENT PROPERTIES
ETRINEYE

Description Status Lease Term

3 3 R HEFH

Car Park Nos. P250, P251, P252, P253, P254, Carpark Rental Medium
P255, P256 and P257, Sun Hing Garden, No. 2 SAEEfIL egicl R HA

On Po Lane, Tai Po, New Territories. 24/64,

299th shares of and in Tai Po Town Lot No. 26
AR LIEER 25 BEE P250 » P251 * P252

P253 + P254 « P255 + P256 [ P257 SRE AL AT

HER 26 5% 5 64,299 3 2 2419

SHERAR LR §8 —T - —FFR




CORPORATE INFORMATION

nAlEM

Board of Directors

=g

Audit Committee

ENZEE

Nomination Committee

REZES

Remuneration
Committee

FHEES

Investment
Committee

REZES

Executive Committee
BTEEE

Financial Calendar

Announcement of interim results
Announcement of annual results
Annual General Meeting for 2022

PoRSEESREID |- N-G:S=L | M TED

Kingston Chu Chun Ho (Chairman) Company Secretary
R (EE) DNRME
Lam Chun Kit*
A Auditor
Lau Man Tak* R ERD
Bz
Eric Lee Hon Man* Principal Bankers
B0 FTEEREBIT
To Chun Wai*
T HR{E
*Independent Non-executive Director
BUIFNTEE

#  Non-executive Director
tOHTEE Registered Office

HMREE
Lau Man Tak (Chairman)
= (EE)
Eric Lee Hon Man
FE Principal Place of
To Chun Wai Business in
HiRIE Hong Kong

BERETEEE MY
Eric Lee Hon Man (Chairman)
FHN(EE)
Kingston Chu Chun Ho
KEE Principal Share Registrar
Lau Man Tak and Transfer Agent
2 TERGBFEELE
To Chun Wai
TiR{E

Hong Kong Branch
To Chun Wai (Chairman) Share Registrar
HIRE (EE) and Transfer Office
Kingston Chu Chun Ho EERNEBFBRTIE
R
Lau Man Tak
21
Eric Lee Hon Man
ZTHX
Kingston Chu Chun Ho (Chairman) Stock Code
KK (EE) 431855
Lam Chun Kit
R Board Lot
Lau Man Tak BFEEEN
2

Website
Kingston Chu Chun Ho ik
PNy
Gary Tse Chi Chiu E-mail Address

MBI
25 August 2021 e
29 March 2022 DR FEEE
20 May 2022 2022 FRREF ARG

2021 ANNUAL REPORT

Eric Chan Kwong Leung
RER

BDO Limited
B EREEAMELEAERAR

The Hongkong and Shanghai
Banking Corporation Limited
BELBEERITERAA
Chong Hing Bank Limited
BIBIRITER A A

O-Bank Co., Ltd
TEBERITROBRAA

Clarendon House
2 Church Street
Hamilton, HM 11
Bermuda

3/F, Hay Nien Building,

No.1 Tai Yip Street,

Kwun Tong, Kowloon, Hong Kong
BBNE

BUEAEE 15

BERE=1

MUFG Fund Services (Bermuda) Limited
4th Floor North Cedar House

41 Cedar Avenue

Hamilton HM 12 Bermuda

Computershare Hong Kong Investor
Services Limited

Shops 1712-1716

17th Floor, Hopewell Centre

183 Queen’s Road East

Wan Chai, Hong Kong

BEBRREFBRERAA

BAEHTERRER 1835

BRF N7 1712-1716 5748

02340

4,000 shares
4,000 %

www.isp-hk.com.hk

investor@isp-hk.com.hk

202158 A25H
2022463 R 29H
202246 5H20H
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